
 

 
 
 
 
Summons to Meeting 
 
Monday 20 September 2021 
 

Development Panel 
 

Tuesday 28 September 2021, 1.00 pm 
 

SEN Centre, Lakes College, Workington CA14 4JN 
 

Membership: 
  
Councillor Tony Annison (Chair) Councillor Janet Farebrother (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Nicky Cockburn 
Councillor Allan Daniels Councillor Daniel Horsley 
Councillor George Kemp Councillor Elaine Lynch 
Councillor Antony McGuckin Councillor Ron Munby MBE 
Councillor Andrew Semple Councillor Alan Tyson 
 

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Lee Jardine on 01900 702502 or lee.jardine@allerdale.gov.uk. 

 

Agenda 
 
Site Visit   
 
 

The following site visits will take place: 
 
FUL/2020/0241 – Beech House, Hayton  
 
FUL/2021/0181 – Part Land at Rear of 51 High Street, Workington 
 
Members of the Development Panel will be making their own travel arrangements. 
 
Please wear suitable footwear. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 30) 
 

 To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 06 July 2021 
  

2. Apologies for Absence   
 

3. Declaration of Interests   
 

 Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct. 

  

4. Questions   
 

 To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm on a working day, allowing two 
clear working days before the day of the meeting. 

  

5. Development Panel - FUL/2020/0241 - Beech House, Hayton - Creation of 
Slurry Lagoon  (Pages 31 - 46) 

 

6. Development Panel - FUL/2020/0250 - Land East of Main Road, High 
Harrington - Construction of 123 residential dwellings with associated 
parking, access and landscaping  (Pages 47 - 86) 

 

7. Development Panel - FUL/2021/0161 - Siddick Ponds Nature Reserve, 
Workington - Wetland enhancements, existing brackish pond and 
improvement of path surface and installation of a length of boundary fence  
(Pages 87 - 98) 

 

8. Development Panel - FUL/2021/0181 - Part Land to Rear of 51 High Street, 
Workington - Change of use of part domestic garden to additional storage 
area for existing roofing company including the retrospective engineering 
works to lower the site by up to 600mm  (Pages 99 - 114) 

 

9. Development Panel - VAR/2021/0001 - Plot 1, Land Adjacent to Northscape, 
Eaglesfield - Variation of condition 2 for a new design and condition 3 
relating to surface water discharge into the sewer on application 
2/2018/0164  (Pages 115 - 128) 

 

 
 

 
 
Chief Executive 
 

 
Date of Next Meeting: 

 
Tuesday 26 October 2021, 1.00 pm 

To be confirmed 



At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Wigton Market Hall, CA7 9AA on 
Tuesday 6 July 2021 at 10.00 am 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Tony Annison (Chair)  
Councillor Allan Daniels Councillor George Kemp 
Councillor Peter Kendall Councillor Adrian Kirkbride 
Councillor Elaine Lynch Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes 
Councillor Antony McGuckin Councillor Ron Munby MBE 
Councillor Alan Tyson  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor 
Carole Armstrong, Councillor Nicky Cockburn, Councillor Daniel Horsley and Councillor 
Andrew Semple 
 
Staff Present 
 
S Brook, C Fearon, J Irving, K Magnay, Y Martin, G Roach, S Sewell, S Sharp and 
S Tranter 
 
 
86. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 13 April 2021 were signed as a correct 
record. 
 

87. Declaration of Interests  
 
None declared. 
 

88. Questions  
 
None received. 
 

89. Development Panel - FUL/2019/0251 - Langrigg Hall, Langrigg - 
Retrospective application for change of use of farm buildings to house 1x 
CHP and 1x RHI unit and erection of associated chimneys (increase in 
height of 2no chimneys) Heat 2x properties not in association with the 
farm and heat used to dry paper for animals.  
 
Representations  
 
Richard Davidson and Rae McGrath spoke against the application. 
 
Councillor Holland-Reid on behalf of Bromfield Parish Council, spoke against 
the application 
 
Councillor Johnson on behalf of Allhallows and Waverton Ward spoke against 
the application. 
 
The agent, Rachel Lightfoot spoke in support of the application. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 
Application 
 
The report recommended to grant permission subject to conditions. 
 
The Planning and Building Control Manager went through the main issues as 
detailed in the report. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
Policy S19 of the Local Plan (Part 1) seeks to promote and encourage the 
development of renewable and low carbon energy resources given the 
significant wider environmental, community and economic benefits. The 
proposal accords with these objectives. 
 
Design/Visual Impact 
 
The flues (described as chimneys in the application) will be viewed in the 
context of large farm buildings and against the backdrop of the lines of pylons. 
They will assimilate into the environment of existing buildings, and will not exert 
a harmful impact on the character and appearance of the locality, in accordance 
with policies S4 and S33. 
 
Amenity 
 
The applicant has proposed several mitigation measures that will address the 
ongoing noise issues experienced from the boilers. These include wood 
chipping being undertaken off-site and the CHP plant only operating between 
day-time hours. With regards to air quality the applicant has been able to 
demonstrate that the proposal is acceptable in accordance with policies S2, S4 
and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014. The proposal is acceptable but 
only with conditions in place to mitigate the impacts of the development to an 
acceptable level. 
 
Heritage Impact 
 
The flues will be viewed in the context of the farm buildings with the existing 
planting and that approved under an earlier application on the site offering a 
degree of screening from the Listed Building. It is considered that the 
significantly less than substantial harm to the setting of the listed building would 
be outweighed by the public benefits of the low carbon heat and power 
produced. In terms of impact on the heritage asset, officers consider the 
proposal to be acceptable and in accordance with Policy S27 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan Part 1 2014. 
 
Highway Issues 
 
It is considered the proposal will be unlikely to have a material effect on 
highway conditions 
 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 

Page 4



 
Members were also shown plans and images of the site including the location 
within the Hamlet of Langrigg. 
 
The Councils appointed Noise Consultant also provided clarity to members in 
relation to sound and tonality. 
 
Questions were asked of the speakers in relation to noise, smoke, materials, 
smells, economic development and business use. 
 
Questions were asked of the officers in relation to smoke, sound levels 
including monitoring and compliance. 
 
Councillor Kendall moved the motion to grant permission subject to conditions 
as set out in the officer’s report. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Lynch. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 3 voted in favour, 5 against and 0 
abstentions. The motion was lost. 
 
The Monitoring Officer advised the Panel that in the absence of a positive 
approval decision in line with the officer recommendation then a motion for 
refusal with clear planning grounds for the reason for refusal was required. 
 
The Chair called a break to seek legal advice at 12.05pm. 
 
The meeting resumed at 12.15pm. 
 
Further debate then ensued. 
 
Councillor Kendall moved the motion to grant permission subject to conditions 
as set out in the officer’s report. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Lynch. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 3 voted in favour, 4 against and 1 
abstention. The motion was lost. 
 
Councillor McCarron-Holmes moved the motion to refuse permission due to its 
conflict with policy S32 safeguarding amenity, criterion C) where proposals 
would not be supported where they would generate severe highway 
infrastructure or network problems in relation to access, road safety, traffic flow 
or car parking. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Daniels. 
 
A vote was taken, 3 voted in favour, 3 against and 2 abstentions.  
The vote was tied, the Chair had the casting vote. 
 
The Chair called a break to seek legal advice at 12.46pm. 
 

Page 5



The meeting resumed at 12.48pm. 
 
As the vote was tied, the Chair had the casting vote and voted against the 
motion; 3 voted in favour, 4 against and 2 abstentions. The motion was lost. 
 
The application was opened back up for debate. 
 
Councillor Annison moved the motion for deferral to enable ABC planners to 
liaise with County Highways to explore a number of options in relation to a 
Transport Management Plan that could respond to members’ concerns about 
highway impact (resulting from the comings of goings of HGVs associated with 
the proposal along the Langrigg lanes. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Daniels. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion, 7 voted in favour, 1 against and 0 abstentions. 
The motion was Carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
Application deferred to enable Allerdale planning officers to liaise with County 
Highways to explore a number of options in relation to a Transport Management 
Plan that could respond to members’ concerns about highway impact (resulting 
from the comings of goings of HGVs associated with the proposal along the 
Langrigg lanes). 
 

90. Development Panel - FUL/2020/0022 - Langrigg Hall, Langrigg - Change of 
use of building for storage of woodchip fuel for boilers associated with 
farm  
 
As members resolved to defer the previous application (FUL/2019/0251) 
Councillor Kendall moved the motion to defer the application. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor McGuckin 
 
A vote was taken on the motion for deferral, 8 voted in favour, 0 against and 0 
abstentions.  
 
The motion was carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
Application deferred 
 

 The meeting broke for lunch at 1pm   
  
 The meeting resumed at 1.30pm   
  
 Councillors A Kirkbride and G Kemp joined the meeting   
  

Page 6



91. Development Panel - FUL/2020/0223 - Land opposite the Willows, Flimby - 
Erection of agricultural store building for the housing of animals and 
horses  
 
Application withdrawn. 
 

92. Development Panel - VAR/2020/0507 - Dovenby Hall Estate, Dovenby - 
Removal of highways condition  
 
Representations 
 
A letter of objection was read out on behalf of Ian Chambers. 
 
Application 
 
The report recommended delegating to the Planning and Building Control 
Manager the granting of permission subject to conditions upon the signing of a 
Deed of Variation to tie the existing s106 legal agreement to this permission 
 
The Senior Planning Officer went through the main issues as detailed in the 
report. 
 
Highway Works 
 
The Highways Authority has advised that the highways works secured by 
condition 16 are not necessary for that part of the development secured by the 
extant full planning permission for the test track and evaluation centre and 
associated works. 
 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 
 
Councillor Kendall moved the motion to delegate to the Planning and Building 
Control Manager the granting of permission subject to conditions upon the 
signing of a Deed of Variation to tie the existing s106 legal agreement to this 
permission, as per the report. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Lynch. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion, 8 voted in favour, 0 against and 2 abstentions. 
The Motion was carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
Delegate to the Planning and Building Control Manager, the granting of 
permission subject to conditions upon the signing of a Deed of Variation to tie 
the existing s106 legal agreement to this permission. 
 
Conditions 
 
Full permission - Demolition of up to seven buildings including School  
House, Hodgson House and Howard House. Evaluation Centre (B1)  

Page 7



including testing and evaluation facility (2.5km in length), car parking (242 
spaces), earthworks including sound attenuation bunds, surface water 
attenuation ponds, grounds maintenance shed incorporating fuel store 
(B1 & B8) and separate underground fuel tank. Temporary widening of 
eastern access from A594 for construction vehicles.  
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 16th 
January 2015.  
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning & Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.  
 
2. Unless otherwise specified by separate condition, the development  
hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance with the  
following plans:  
081010-004A Demolition Plan  
081010-005A Detailed Planning dwg  
081010-007 Mitigation Plan amended 29th August 2014  
081010-100A Site Boundary Plan  
081010-102E Masterplan  
081010-103G MEC - Level 0  
081010-104D MEC - Level 1  
081010-105A MEC - Roof Plan  
081010-106B MEC - Sections  
081010-107C MEC - Elevations  
081010-150A Sound Attenuation Bunds  
081010-151C Planting Plan  
081010-152A Underground Fuel Store  
081010-153A Photovoltaic Panels to MEC  
081010-154B Eastern Access  
081010-500D Grounds Maintenance Shed & Fuel Store  
099-02-T-PL-001B Track Plan Layout - FIA Fills  
099-02-T-PL-001B Track Plan Layout - Apex Fills  
099-02-3DCL-001A Track Centreline Geometry Plan  
099-02-T-3DLS-001B Track Profile Chainage (8 Dwgs)  
099-02-T-3DXS-001B Track Cross Sections (7 Dwgs)  
099-02-T-3DCT-001B Track Contours  
099-02-T-3DEW-001B Track Cut and Fill  
099-02-G-PL-001B Track Conduit Plan  
099-02-G-PL-002A Drainage Plan  
48609-DR-S-S2-0010E Drainage strategy plan  
M-Sport Environmental Statement and Environmental Statement and 
Addendum  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of Development and for the  
avoidance of doubt.  
 
3. A lighting scheme shall be installed only in accordance with the  
following approved details:  
081010 1210 External lighting and bollard plan  
External Lighting Types  

Page 8



External lighting design and Lighting Impact Assessment. The approved 
details shall be fully operational before the use  commences. The 
measures shall be retained as approved and maintained operational for 
the lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity and protecting  
species/habitats, in compliance with the National Planning Policy  
Framework and Policies S32 and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1),  
Adopted July 2014.  
 
4. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved 
Demolition and Construction Method Statement Rev A. The approved 
statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of  any demolition 
or construction for the development.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring  
properties, to prevent pollution of the environment and to protect important 
habitats/species in compliance with the National Planning Policy. 
 
5. At all times the test track facility shall operate in accordance with the  
most recently approved Noise Management Plan. The test track shall 
operate at all times in accordance with the Community Levels as set out in 
the Noise Management Plan. The Noise Management Plan Issue 3b shall 
be taken as the approved Noise Management Plan unless and until it is 
replaced by a review thereof. Any Noise Management Plan shall be based 
on the principles and community noise levels set out in the Noise 
Management Plan Issue 3b and must include maximum noise levels as 
provided for below and demonstrate compliance with the Community 
Levels. Any Noise Management Plan shall include the following: 
 
a) LAeq1 hour noise levels 
b) Maximum noise levels measured in LAeq5minutes and LAmax 
c) details of M Sport operational and management structure 
d) details of how the Council will access a noise monitoring system at  
all times 
e) details of the sound control and monitoring scheme and  
methodology used to demonstrate compliance with the community  
levels 
f) details of the measures proposed to ensure compliance with the  
community levels including reference to hours of operation, number of 
days and sound levels and the type of vehicles and activity that will be 
permitted at the track  
g) a detailed complaints procedure 
A review of the Noise Management Plan Issue 3b shall take place  
within the first six months of the operational use of the test track  
facility commencing and then annually thereafter.  
 
Reason: In the interests of amenity and to minimise disturbance to wildlife, in 
accordance with Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014. 
 
6. There shall be no use of the track for racing of vehicles or  

Page 9



competition. There shall be no spectators, other than for M Sports  
corporate activities.  
Reason: In the interests of amenity, in accordance with Policy S32 of the  
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 
7. No use of the test track shall commence until the mitigation bunding  
has been constructed as approved on drawings: 
081010-1105 - Sound Attenuation Bunding Positioning 
081010-1106 - Sound Attenuation Bunding Sections 
 
Reason: In the interests of preserving amenity, in compliance with the  
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local  
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.  
 
8. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning  
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 or any order revoking or 
re-enacting that order relating to permitted development, no use of  
the land falling within Part 4 Temporary Buildings and Uses, Class B,  
of the said Order shall be carried out without the prior written  
approval of the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In the interests of preserving amenity, in compliance with the  
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local  
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.  
 
9. The approved materials and external finish for the MEC building are  
as shown in document ‘External finishes detail’. Only the materials so  
approved shall be used in the development as approved.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is  
compatible with the character of the surrounding area, in compliance with  
the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale  
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 
10. The laying of external floor surfaces shall be completed in  
accordance with the following approved details: 
033076-CUR-94-506-C01- External Works and Hardstanding Details  
081010-1200 - Landscape plan  
External Ground Finishes 
The details so approved shall be completed prior to the use of the  
development commencing and shall be retained at all times  
thereafter.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is  
compatible with the character of the surrounding area, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy DM14 ofthe Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.  
 
11. The means of enclosure shall be constructed only in accordance with  
the following approved details: 
081010-1200 - Landscape plan  
081010-1201 - Screening of Waste Storage 

Page 10



 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is  
compatible with the character of the surrounding area. 
 
12. The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved 
detailed plans for hard and soft landscaping:  
Planting Plan Drawing 081010 PL/01B  
Planting Plan Drawing 081010 PL/02B;  
Tree/Planting Plan 081010/1104 Rev A; 
All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the scheme shall be  
carried out in the first planting season following completion of the  
development and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years  
from the completion of the development die, are removed or become  
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting  
season with other similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed  
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development, mitigate for 
removal trees/woodland and to minimise the impact of the development in the 
locality.  
 
13. The access road, parking and hardstanding areas serving the  
evaluation centre and testing facility shall be retained as approved,  
and shall be capable of use for the lifetime of the development and  
shall not be removed or altered thereafter, without the prior consent  
of the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access and parking when the  
development is brought into use. 
 
14. The detailed drainage design/scheme as set out in the approved  
document ‘Curtins Surface water drainage design report 48609-R1’,  
shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in  
accordance with the timing/phasing arrangements embodied within  
the scheme or within any other period as may subsequently be  
agreed in writing, by the local planning authority.  
 
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage  
of/disposal of surface water from the site. 
 
15. The installation of underground tanks shall be completed only in  
accordance with the following approved details: 
Drawing 081010-152A – Underground fuel store  
Curtins Surface water drainage design report 48609-R1  
Klargester fuel/oil separator and alarm data sheet  
The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained,  
in accordance with the approved details, or any changes as may  
subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority.  
 
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and the underlying  
aquifer.  
 

Page 11



16. The development shall be undertaken only in accordance with the  
approved Openspace Ecological Method Statement dated February  
2015. 
 
Reason: In order to secure appropriate mitigation and monitoring of  
ecology interests on and adjacent to the site, in accordance with Policy S35  
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) adopted July 2014 
 
Outline permission - For future expansion space of 5000sqm (use class  
B1), Offices 2450sqm (B1), 60 bed Hotel 6000sqm (C1) all to include  
associated parking and external works.  
 
17. Before any works commence details of the layout, scale and  
appearance, and landscaping, of the site (hereinafter called the  
'reserved matters') shall be submitted to and approved in writing by  
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out as  
approved.  
 
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to assess all the details of  
the development. 
 
18. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no 
later than 16th January 2020 and the development shall begin no later 
than whichever is the later of the following dates: (a) The 16th January 
2020 or (b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the 
reserved matters or, in the case of approval on  difference dates, the final 
approval of the last such matter to be approved.  
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country  
Planning Act 1990. 
 
19. The details submitted under the reserved matters application shall  
include a programme showing the phasing of the development to be  
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and the  
development shall not proceed other than in accordance with the  
approved programme.  
 
Reason: To serve in the public and visual interests a satisfactory correlated  
order of development in accordance with the National Planning Policy  
Framework and Policies S5 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1),  
Adopted July 2014. 
 
20. Unless otherwise specified by separation condition, the development  
hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance with the  
following plans:  
081010-004A Demolition Plan  
081010-006A Outline Planning dwg  
081010-007 Mitigation Plan amended 29th August 2014  
081010-100A Site Boundary Plan  
081010 - 102E Masterplan  
081010-151C Planting Plan  
081010-154B Eastern Access  

Page 12



081010-500D Grounds Maintenance Shed & Fuel Store  
48609-DR-S-S2-0010E Drainage strategy plan  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development and for the  
avoidable of doubt.  
 
21. Prior to the first use of any part of the approved development full  
details of a lighting scheme (including details of all lamps plus levels  
and hours of illumination) for that phase has been submitted to and  
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall  
be accompanied by a lighting impact assessment by a suitably  
qualified engineer. Any lighting scheme shall be installed in  
accordance with the approved details and shall be fully operational  
before the use of that phase of development commences. The  
measures shall be retained as approved and maintained operational  
for the lifetime of the development.  
 
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity and protecting  
species/habitats, in compliance with the National Planning Policy  
Framework and Policies S32 and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1),  
Adopted July 2014. 
 
22. No development of any phase shall take place until a Demolition and  
Construction Method Statement for that phase has been submitted to  
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The  
statement shall include the following:  
a Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the  
development, including site and staff traffic, off site parking,  
turning and compound areas;  
b Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the  
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk  
of damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise  
from vehicles, deliveries. All measurements should make  
reference to BS7445.  
c Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential  
properties from construction compounds including visual impact,  
noise, and light pollution. 
d A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the  
construction or demolition;  
e Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during  
construction and demolition;  
f Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;  
g Hours of working and deliveries shall be limited to 8am until 6pm  
Monday to Friday; 8am until 1pm Saturday and no working on  
Sunday or Bank Holidays  
h Details of construction lighting on site  
i Environmental monitoring plan  
j Plant usage  
k Measures to prevent pollution to the water environment 
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring  

Page 13



properties, to prevent pollution of the environment and to protect important 
habitats/species in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policies S32 and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014. 
 
23. Before the use commences, all details of odour abatement measures  
to be installed at the hotel shall be submitted to and approved in  
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to development. The  
details shall be implemented as approved and retained for the lifetime  
of the use of the development and shall be operated and maintained  
in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring  
properties, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and  
Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.  
 
24. Before the use commences a scheme showing details of sound level  
data and noise control measures of all fixed plant and equipment to  
be installed on site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by  
the local planning authority. The approved scheme shall be  
implemented before the commencement of the permitted use and  
shall thereafter be operated and retained as approved.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 
25. No part of the external finish of any building hereby permitted shall be 
constructed until details and representative samples of all external  
and roofing materials (including colour finish) for that particular  
building have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local  
Planning Authority. Only the materials so approved shall be used in  
the development as approved.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is  
compatible with the character of the surrounding area, in compliance with  
the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale  
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 
26. The laying of surfaces for access roads, car parks and hard 
landscaping for any phase shall not commence until details of the 
treatment and finishes of all surfaces for that phase of development have 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Only the 
treatment and finishes so approved shall be used in the development as 
approved.  
 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory standard of development in  
relation to its surroundings, in compliance with the National Planning Policy  
Framework and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted  
July 2014.  
 

Page 14



27. Details of the siting, height and type of any means of enclosure 
(screen walls/fences/other means of enclosure) for each phase of the 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to being erected. The means of enclosure shall 
be constructed only in accordance with the approved details before use of 
that phase commences.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible 
with the character of the surrounding area.  
 
28. Full engineering details showing the access, parking, turning and 
loading/unloading facilities for vehicles entering/exiting the site, including 
the provision of parking spaces in accordance with the Cumbria Parking 
Standards, shall be submitted with any Reserved Matters application. 
Where Reserved Matters are sought only in relation to part of the scheme, 
the level of detail required shall be commensurate with that part of the 
development. No development shall be brought into use until the facilities 
have been constructed and are available for use as approved. Such 
facilities shall be kept available for the approved purpose at all times 
thereafter.  
 
Reason: To ensure appropriate standards of construction.  
 
29. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until such 
times as a scheme to install underground tanks has been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme shall 
include the full structural details of the installation, including details of: 
excavation, the tanks, tank surround, associated pipe work and 
monitoring system. The scheme shall be fully implemented and 
subsequently maintained, in accordance with the scheme, or any changes 
as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning 
authority.  
 
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and the underlying  
aquifer. 
 
30. No development approved by this planning permission shall take 
place until such time as a detailed drainage design which demonstrates 
how rainfall events up to 1 in 100 plus Climate Change are dealt with via 
on site storage. The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently 
maintained, in accordance with the timing/phasing arrangements 
embodied within the scheme or within any other period as may 
subsequently be agreed in writing, by the local planning authority.  
 
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage  
of/disposal of surface water from the site.  
 
31. The minimum finished floor level for the hotel hereby approved shall 
be set at least 300mm above the predicted 1 in 1000 year fluvial flood 
levels in the Dovenby Beck for the reach of the watercourse (i.e. between 
64.32mAOD and 72.15mAOD).  
 

Page 15



Reason: To ensure that the proposed development is resilient to fluvial  
flooding. 
 
32. No development of any phase shall commence until a scheme that  
includes the following components to deal with the risks associated with 
contamination of that phase has been submitted to and approved, in 
writing, by the local planning authority:  
a) A site investigation scheme, based on the findings of the submitted 
document 'M Sport Mixed Use Development at Dovenby - Phase 1' to 
provide information for a detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors 
that may be affected, including those off site.  
b) The results of the site investigation and detailed risk assessment 
referred to in (2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and 
remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures 
required and how they are to be undertaken.  
c) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in 
order to demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in 
(3) are complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term 
monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for 
contingency action. Application of this condition shall not be general but 
shall be specific to areas where pollution by fuel tanks or other 
contaminative storage areas has been identified. The scheme shall be 
implemented as approved.  
 
Reason: To protect the water environment. 
 
33. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out 
the approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the 
part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out 
and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the development (or 
relevant phase of development) being brought into use. All works shall be 
undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.  
 
Reason: To protect the water environment and human health. 
 
34. No development shall commence until protective fencing has been 
erected, in a manner to be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, around the two earthwork sites and the well 
shown in drawing numbers MMD-299469-EVT-DR-XX-001 and MMD-
299469-EVT DR-XX-002 in appendix C of the Environmental Statement 
Historic Environment Technical Appendix Volume III, and the listed 
medieval cross base. Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area fenced 
in accordance with this condition and the ground levels within those 
areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation be made. The 
protective fencing shall be retained as approved throughout the 
construction period of the development.  
 

Page 16



Reason: To protect the listed medieval cross and remains of archaeological 
interest in accordance with Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1.  
 
35. No development within the area of the hotel shall commence until 
detailed plans for permanent protective measures to the listed medieval 
cross base have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved permanent protection measures shall 
be implemented following removal of the temporary protection measures 
required during the construction phase and shall be completed before the 
hotel is brought into use. The approved permanent protection measures 
shall thereafter be retained for the lifetime of the development.  
 
Reason: To protect the listed medieval cross in accordance with Policy S27  
of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1. 
 
36. No development within the area of the hotel or future expansion space 
shall commence until the applicant has secured the implementation of a 
programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme 
of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This written scheme will 
include the following components:  
i) An archaeological evaluation;  
ii) An archaeological recording programme the scope of which will be  
dependant upon the results of the evaluation;  
iii) Where appropriate, a post-excavation assessment and analysis, 
preparation of a site archive ready for deposition at a store approved by 
the Local Planning Authority, completion of an archive report, and 
submission of the results for publication in a suitable journal.  
 
Reason: To afford reasonable opportunity for an examination to be made to 
determine the existence of any remains of archaeological interest within the site 
and for the preservation, examination or recording of such remains)in 
accordance with Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1. 
 
37 . No phase of the development shall commence until a detailed method 
statement for that phase, which includes the timing of works, proposed 
mitigation measures (including details and location of replacement bat 
roosts or bat/bird boxes), and a monitoring strategy during and post 
construction, that comprehensively addresses all habitat and species 
(particularly bats) and which draws on and incorporates the mitigation 
measures and recommendations of the Environmental Statement Ecology 
Technical Appendix, the Environmental Statement Landscape and Visual 
Technical Appendix, the Woodland Management Plan, Arboricultural 
Report, and Botanical Assessment, has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. That phase of development 
shall be undertaken only in accordance with the approved method 
statement.  
 
Reason: In order to secure appropriate mitigation and monitoring of ecology 
interests on and adjacent to the site, in accordance with policy S35 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan.  
 

Page 17



38. Any reserved matters application seeking approval of the details of  
landscaping shall include:  
(1) details of any individual trees to be retained, together with  
measures for their protection during construction  
(2) measures for the protection of areas of woodland during  
construction (3) details of a replacement planting scheme at a ratio  
of 1:1 for all other trees/woodland   
All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the landscaping details 
shall be carried out in the first planting season following completion of 
the development and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years 
from the completion of the development die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with other similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development, mitigate  for 
removed trees/woodland and to minimise the impact of the development in the 
locality. 
 

 Councillor P Kendall left the meeting   
  
93. Development Panel - FUL/2019/0160 - Land Opposite, Verona, Blitterlees, 

Silloth, Wigton, Cumbria, CA7 4JJ - 5 detached bungalows  
 
Representations 
 
Jeff and Lynn Downham spoke against the application. 
 
Councillor John Graham, on behalf of Holme Low Parish Council spoke against 
the application. 
 
Application 
 
The report recommended to grant permission subject to conditions. 
 
Members were advised that this application was originally considered by 
Members on the 1st October 2019. A decision on the application was deferred 
pending further information in relation to flooding and surface water.  
 
The Senior Planning Officer then went through the main issues as detailed in 
the report. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
Planning permission has been granted for the site for five dwellings (ref. 
2/2016/0727) during the current plan period, but this has now expired. 
Therefore, the principle of the development has already been accepted under 
the current Development Plan. 
 
Visual Impact 
 

Page 18



The visual impacts of the development are considered to be acceptable. 
Blitterlees consists of a mix of house types and styles and the design of the 
single storey dwellings proposed is considered to be acceptable. 
 
Landscape Impact 
 
Given the large scale and wide open nature of this landscape subtype (Coastal 
Plain), this small scale encroachment is considered to be acceptable. 
 
Residential Amenity 
 
An acceptable relationship with neighbouring properties is considered to be 
achieved. 
 
Ecology 
 
A survey has been provided which demonstrates that Great Crested Newts are 
unlikely to be affected by the proposal. 
 
Drainage 
 
Localised flooding issues with the beck along the site frontage and standing 
water have been highlighted by representations received from the public. 
Subject to conditions, no concerns have been raised by the Environment 
Agency or United Utilities. The County Council as Local Lead Flood Authority 
has sought further information to substantiate local concerns. This additional 
information has now been provided to the satisfaction of the Local Lead Flood 
Authority and they raise no objection to the proposal subject to conditions to 
include securing of the flood risk and drainage details provided on the 23rd April 
2021. 
 
Trees/Hedgerows 
 
Following amended plans, no significant removal is required. A new hedgerow 
is proposed to the rear of the site that would compensate for any limited 
hedgerow removal to the site frontage. 
 
Affordable Housing 
 
No provision has been sought on the basis that the proposal is for less than 10 
dwellings and the gross floor space for the five dwellings combined does not 
exceed 1000sqm. 
 
Members were also shown plans and images of the site including the location 
within the village of Bliterlees. 
 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 
 
Questions were asked of the officers in relation to drainage, the maintenance of 
the watercourses and the Local Plan Part 2, (Adopted July 2020). 
 

Page 19



Councillor Daniels moved the motion for approval subject to conditions as per 
the report. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor McGuckin. 
 
Debate then ensued in relation to flooding and the suitability of the site for the 
development of 5 dwellings. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion, 7 voted in favour, 2 against and  abstentions. 
The Motion was carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
Grant permission, subject to conditions as per officer’s recommendations. 
 
Conditions 
 
Time Limit: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 
 
In Accordance: 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following plans: 
19.1952.2C Proposed Site Plan received 23rd April 2021.  
C-0748-02 rev B Surface Water Catchments Layout received 23rd April 
2021.  
C-0748-01 rev C Outline Drainage Layout received 23rd April 2021. 
C-0748-03 rev A FW Outfall Section, Road Construction Details, SW Outfall  
Section received 23rd April 2021. 
C-0748-04 Proposed Site Layout 
Site Location Plan 
19.1952.14 Plot 5, Proposed elevations, Type 2 Version 3 
19.1952.12 Plot 3, Proposed elevations, Type 2 Version 2 
19.1952.11 Plot 2, Proposed elevations, Type 1 Version 1 
19.1952.10 Plot 1, Proposed elevations, Type 2 Version 1 
19.1952.13 Plot 4, Proposed elevations, Type 1 Version 2 
19.1952.7B Existing & Proposed Street Scene 
19.1952.8 Proposed Ground Floor Plan V2 
19.1952.3 Proposed Ground Floor Plan 
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy Report Issue 4, Hamilton 
Technical Services, dated 29th March 2021. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 
 

Page 20



3. The development hereby approved shall be implemented solely in 
accordance with the approved foul and surface water drainage details as 
shown on drawings  
19.1952.2C Proposed Site Plan,  
C-0748-02 rev B Surface Water Catchments Layout,  
C-0748-01 rev C Outline Drainage Layout,  
C-0748-03 rev A FW Outfall Section,  
Road Construction Details,  
SW Outfall Section and C-0748-04 Proposed Site Layout, and the 
principles and mitigation measures set out within Flood Risk Assessment 
and Drainage Strategy Report Issue 4, Hamilton Technical Services, dated 
29th March, prior to the development being completed and before 
occupation of any dwelling. The approved measures shall be maintained 
operational at all times thereafter. 
 
Reason: To minimise flood risk and pollution and in the interests of securing 
appropriate drainage measures for the site in accordance with policy S29 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 
Pre-commencement conditions: 
 
4. Construction Management Plan: 
No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The statement shall include the following: 
a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic, off site parking, turning and 
compound areas; 
b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of 
damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, 
deliveries. All measurements should make reference to BS7445. 
c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, 
and light pollution. 
d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition; 
e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction 
and demolition (including any wheel washing facilities); 
f) Programme of work for Construction phase; 
g) Hours of working and deliveries; 
h) Details of lighting to be used on site; 
i) Highway signage/ Haulage routes.  
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of 
the development. 
 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the development 
hereby approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in 
the interests of highway safety. 
 

Page 21



5. The carriageway, footways, footpaths, ramps etc shall be designed, 
constructed, drained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority 
and in this respect further details, including longitudinal/cross sections, 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval before 
work commences on site. The highway design details shall be informed 
by Road Safety Audits Stages 1 & 2 and ramps shall be provided on each 
side of every road junction to enable wheelchairs, prams and invalid 
carriages to be safely manoeuvred at kerb lines. No work shall be 
commenced until a full specification has been approved and any works so 
approved shall be constructed before the development is complete. 
 
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of 
highway safety 
 
6. The development shall not be brought into use until visibility splays 
providing clear visibility of 2.4 metres x 60 metres measured down the 
centre of the access road and the nearside channel line of the major road 
have been provided at the junction of the access road with the county 
highway. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, 
no structure, or object of any kind shall be erected or placed and no trees, 
bushes or other plants which exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be 
permitted to grow within the visibility splay which obstruct the visibility 
splays. 
 
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014. 
 
7. Prior to the commencement of the development a sustainable drainage 
management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development 
shall be submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The 
sustainable drainage management and maintenance plan shall include as 
a minimum:  
a. The arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or 
statutory undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a Resident's 
Management Company; and 
b. Arrangements concerning appropriate funding mechanisms for its 
ongoing maintenance of all elements of the sustainable drainage system 
(including mechanical components) and will include elements such as 
ongoing inspections relating to performance and asset condition 
assessments, operation costs, regular maintenance, remedial woks and 
irregular maintenance caused by less sustainable limited life assets or 
any other arrangements to secure the operation of the surface water 
drainage scheme throughout its lifetime. The development shall 
subsequently be completed, maintained and managed in accordance with 
the approved plan. 
 
Reason: To manage flooding and pollution and to ensure that a managing body 
is in place for the sustainable drainage system and there is funding and 

Page 22



maintenance mechanism for the lifetime of the development, in accordance with 
policies S21, S29, S32 and S36 of the Allerdale Local Plan 2014. 
 
Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions:  
 
8. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed 
above ground floor level until details of all external and roofing materials 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Only the materials so approved shall be used in the 
development as approved. The mix of render and brick materials shall be 
completed in accordance with the details provided on amended drawing 
19.1952B Existing and Proposed Street Scene, 13-9-19.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external 
appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with the character of 
the surrounding area, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014. 
 
9. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be built above 
ground floor level until there has been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority a full scheme of hard and soft landscaping 
which shall include indications of all existing trees, hedges and shrubs on 
the site, and details of those to be retained, together with measures for 
the protection in the course of development. The submitted landscaping 
plan shall accord with Amended Dwg 19.1952.2B Proposed Site Plan, 1-8-
19 insofar as it specifies trees and hedgerow to be retained and a new 
native hedge to the eastern boundary of the site. All planting, seeding or 
turfing comprised within the approved scheme shall be carried out in the 
first planting season following completion of the development and any 
trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with other similar size and 
species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise 
the impact of the development in the locality. 
 
10. The means of enclosure for the site shall be erected in accordance 
with Amended Dwg 19.1952.2C Proposed Site Plan, received 23rd April 
2021, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The means of enclosure shall be constructed prior to the approved 
dwellings being brought into use/occupied. All means of enclosure so 
constructed shall be retained and no part thereof shall be removed 
without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible 
with the character of the surrounding area and protect the privacy of occupiers. 
 

Page 23



11. No dwellings or buildings or structures shall be commenced until the 
access roads, as approved, are defined by kerbs and sub-base 
construction. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the access roads are defined and laid out at an early 
stage. To support Local Transport Plan Policies: LD5, LD7, LD8 
 
12. No dwellings shall be occupied until the estate road including 
footways to serve such dwellings has been constructed in all respects to 
base course level and street lighting where it is to form part of the estate 
road has been provided and brought into full operational use. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.  
 
13. Details of all measures to be taken by the applicant/developer to 
prevent surface water discharging onto or off the highway shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval prior to the 
development being constructed above plinth level. Any approved works 
shall be implemented prior to the development being completed and shall 
be maintained operational at all times thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental management. 
 
Other:  
 
14. Foul drainage shall be disposed of to the adopted Public Sewerage 
system.  
 
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of pollution in accordance with policies S32 and S36 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan 2014.  
 
Advisory Notes  
 
Protected species – Great Crested Newt.  
 
Send applicant full responses from Environment Agency 6th July 2020, United 
Utilities 16th October 2020 and Cumbria County Council June 2021. 
 

94. Development Panel - FUL/2021/0006 - Dearham Road, Maryport - Two 
Dwellings  
 
Application 
 
The report recommended to grant permission subject to conditions. 
 
The Planning and Building Control Manager advised that the application was 
before the panel as it was the subject of a ‘call in’. Members were advised that 
the application is however within the settlement limits of the Allerdale Local 
Plan, Part 2 (2020). 
 

Page 24



The Planning and Building Control Manager then went through the main issues 
as detailed in the report. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The application is acceptable at the sustainable location, within the Key Service 
Centre of Maryport as defined in the settlement hierarchy of the Allerdale Local 
Plan 2014. The site is within the settlement boundary for Maryport as defined in 
Part 2 of the Allerdale Local Plan 2020. 
 
Impact of Character on the Area 
 
The proposed two dwellings would be in keeping with the mixed character of the 
area and would be in accordance with Policy S4. 
 
Site Layout 
 
The proposed site layout accords with the relevant criteria set out in Policy 
DM14. 
 
Highway Issues 
 
The proposed access would not cause harm to highway safety. 
 
Members were also shown plans and images of the site including the location 
within the Eastern edge of Maryport. 
 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. 
 
Councillor McGuckin moved the motion for approval subject to conditions as per 
the report. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Lynch. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion, 9 voted unanimously in favour. The Motion was 
carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
Grant permission, subject to conditions as per officer’s recommendations. 
 
CONDITIONS  
 
Time Limit:  
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission.  

 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 
 

Page 25



In accordance:  
 
2. Unless specified by separate condition, the development hereby 
permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance with the following 
plans:  
 
Location plan DWG05,  
Amended 21st April 2021 Proposed Elevations (Plot 1) DWG02 Rev B, 
Amended 21st April 2021 Proposed Floor plans (Plot 1) DWG01 Rev C, 
Amended 21st April 2021 Proposed Elevations (Plot 2) DWG04 Rev B, 
Amended 21st April 2021 Proposed Floor plans (Plot 2) DWG03 Rev B, 
Amended 21st April 2021 Proposed Block Plan and Sections DWG06 
Received 21st June 2021  
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 
 
Pre-commencement conditions:  
 
3. Notwithstanding the proposed submitted levels, prior to development 
commencing on site details of all proposed ground levels including 
finished floor levels of the building, levels of any paths, drives, garages, 
terraces and parking areas (and materials of any retaining walls) shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for written approval. The 
development shall be carried out only in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out to a suitable level in 
relation to the adjoining properties and highways and in the interest of visual 
amenity and to accord with policies S4 and S33 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 
1 2014.  
 
4. The access and footways shall be designed, constructed, drained and 
lit to a standard suitable for adoption and in this respect further details, 
including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval before development commences on site. 
No development shall be commenced until a full specification has been 
approved. These details shall be in accordance with the standards laid 
down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. Any works so approved shall 
be constructed prior to occupation of any of the dwellings hereby 
approved. 
 
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of 
highway safety and to accord with policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 
2014. 
 
5. No development shall commence until there has been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of hard and soft 
landscaping that includes the hedge retention and planting depicted on 
Proposed Block Plan and Sections DWG06 Received 21st June 2021. The 
scheme shall include details of a replacement hedge to be planted behind 
the visibility splays required for the proposal. All planting, seeding or 

Page 26



turfing comprised within the scheme shall be carried out in the first 
planting season following completion of the development and any trees or 
plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with other similar size and 
species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise 
the impact of the development in the locality and to accord with policies S4, S33 
and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014. 
 
Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions:  
 
6. Prior to the occupation of each dwellings, a surface water drainage 
scheme that dwelling, based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the 
National Planning Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of 
the site conditions (inclusive of how the scheme shall be managed after 
completion), shall have been completed in accordance with details 
previously submitted for approval by the Local Planning Authority. Unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no surface 
water shall discharge to the public sewerage system either directly or 
indirectly. The development shall be completed, maintained and managed 
in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution and to accord with policy S29 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014. 
 
7. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed 
above ground floor level until details of all external walling and roofing 
materials have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Only the materials so approved shall be used in the 
development as approved.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external 
appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with the character of 
the surrounding area, in accordance with policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) 2014. 
 
8. Details of the siting, height and type of all means of enclosure/screen 
walls/fences/other means of enclosure shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of the 
dwelling that they serve. Any such walls/fences etc. shall be constructed 
prior to the approved building being brought into use/occupied. All means 
of enclosure so constructed shall be retained and no part thereof shall be 
removed without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible 
with the character of the surrounding area and safeguard the amenity of 
neighbouring properties in accordance with policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) 2014.  

Page 27



 
9. The development shall not be brought into use until visibility splays 
providing clear visibility of 2.4 metres x 60 metres measured down the 
centre of the access road and the nearside channel line of the major road 
have been provided at the junction of the access road with the county 
highway. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, 
no structure, or object of any kind shall be erected or placed and no trees, 
bushes or other plants which exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be 
permitted to grow within the visibility splay which obstruct the visibility 
splays.  
 
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in accordance with policy S2 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 
10. The access drive shall be surfaced in bituminous or cement bound 
materials, or otherwise bound and shall be constructed and completed 
before the development is brought into use. This surfacing shall extend 
for a distance of at least 5.metres inside the site, as measured from the 
carriageway edge of the adjacent highway.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policy S22 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.  
 
11. Access gates, if provided, shall be hung to open inwards only away 
from the highway.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policy S22 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014 
 

95. Development Panel - CLDP/2021/0002 - 3 Honister Drive, Cockermouth - 
New Porch  
 
Application 
 
The report recommended that the development is Permitted Development as 
defined by the Town & Country Planning General Permitted Development Order 
2015 (as amended) and a Certificate of Lawful Development can be issued. 
 
The Planning and Building Control Manager advised members that this matter 
was brought before members as the applicant is an employee of the Council. 
 
Councillor Annison moved the motion as per the recommendation as per the 
report. 
 
The motion was seconded by Councillor McGuckin. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion, 9 voted unanimously in favour.  
 
The Motion was carried. 

Page 28



 
Resolution 
 
The development is Permitted Development as defined by the Town & Country 
Planning General Permitted Development Order 2015 (as amended) and a 
Certificate of Lawful Development can be issued. 
 

The meeting closed at 2.50 pm 
 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 30



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application FUL/2020/0241 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: FUL/2020/0241 

Valid Date: 17/11/2020 

Location: Beech House 
Hayton 
Aspatria 
Wigton 

Applicant: M Dixon 

Proposal: Creation of slurry lagoon 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Grant permission subject to conditions 

1. Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of Development In principle, the proposed slurry lagoon is 
an appropriate development supporting an 
existing farming business, and is 
appropriately designed and related to the 
existing farm buildings.    

Scale and Design Officers consider the proposed 
development is acceptable and assimilates 
into the local landscape.   

Flood Risk & Drainage The site is entirely in flood zone 1. There 
will be no increase in surface water run off 
as the site. The surface water will go to the 
existing drainage system. 

Highway Safety The existing access to the farm will be 
unchanged and there will be no increase in 
traffic as a result of the proposal.   

Residential Amenity A number of representations were 
received in relation to the proposal raising 
concerns relating to the impact the 
proposal would have upon residential 
amenity, particularly by way of odour and 
gases. During the course of the 
application, an odour assessment was 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



provided and the Council has 
commissioned a peer review of this 
assessment. Additional information was 
subsequently provided and the peer 
review concluded that the proposed slurry 
lagoon with cover, was unlikely to be more 
odorous than the existing slurry tower on 
site.  

Heritage Given the location of the slurry lagoon to 
the rear of the existing farmstead, officers 
consider the proposal will not have an 
adverse impact on the adjacent heritage 
assets or their setting.  

 

2. Introduction 
 

2.1. This application had been referred to the Development Panel given the level of 
responses received as a result of the public consultation. 

 
3. Proposal 

 
3.1. Full planning approval is sought for the creation of a slurry lagoon to the north 

west of the existing farm buildings. The lagoon has a proposed footprint of 38m x 
35m giving a surface area of 1,330 m2, with a 5m depth. 
 

3.2. The proposal is to be sited to the northwest and to the rear of the existing 
farmstead. The proposal is sited at ground level and below, protected by a 
proposed 1.8m fence. Additional information provided indicates a hedgerow is 
proposed to the perimeter of the fencing, which is to be a mix of hawthorn and 
blackthorn to protect visual amenity. The lagoon is to be covered with a floating 
cover, and supporting information indicates that the spreading from the slurry 
lagoon would be via an umbilical system.  

 
3.3. The plans for consideration are:- 

 

 Design and access statement & ecological statement – Amended 
Document Received 11/01/21 

 D.01 – A1 – Lagoon Details  

 D.02 a – Site Plan  

 D.03a – Site Location Plan  

 D.01 A1 – Lagoon Details – Additional Plans Received 11/01/21 

 Odour report – 22/02/2021 

 Odour Response Note dated 18 August 2021 
 

 
The particulars can be viewed at;- 
 

Page 32



https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-
application/a3X3X000004DNsgUAG/ful20200241 
 

3.4. It is understood that the provision of the slurry lagoon is the subject of a grant  
from the Environment Agency and the Rivers Trust.  

 
4. Site description 

 
4.1. The site is located within the existing farm complex of Beech House, Hayton 

which is located in a central position within the village, off the main thoroughfare. 
Residential dwellings face onto this main road also, with Hayton forming a 
relatively linear village.  The application site itself is located to the north of the 
existing farmstead, to the rear, directly adjacent to agricultural buildings on the 
site. Land levels fall away to the rear of the site, towards the coast.  

 
4.2.     Hayton village is a designated Conservation Area. The site of the proposed slurry 

lagoon itself does not fall within the Conservation Area, the boundary of the 
Conservation Area lies to the south and cuts across existing farm buildings within 
Beech House Farm.  

 
4.3      The application site is located outside the Solway Coast’s designated AONB. 
 
 

5. Relevant Planning History 
 

5.1. There have been a number of applications in recent years in order to upgrade the 
farm and make it fit for purpose. Prior notification for works was submitted as 
recently as August 2020 for a roof over the farmyard area, the proposal was 
determined under planning reference AGR/2020/0035, prior approval was not 
required. 
 

 
6. Representations 

 
Hayton and Mealo Parish Council 

 
6.1. Objection – Concerns are in relation to proximity to residential dwellings,  
 lack of odour controls, the use of the umbilical system over land not in the 
  ownership of the applicant, request for a condition to prevent deteriation of local 

roads, suggested the floating cover will not prevent overtopping and pollution of 
land, lack of a ‘method statement’, the scale of the lagoon is too large and too 
close to the village. A further letter of objection was received following re-
consultation raising similar concerns including – location within village and within 
100m of a dwelling house, concerns with regards to the use of the cover and that 
this would not prevent overtopping/pollution, suggested it should be closer to the 
fields it is intended to serve.  

 
County Highways Authority/Lead Local Flood Authority 

 

Page 33

https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000004DNsgUAG/ful20200241
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000004DNsgUAG/ful20200241


6.2. No reply to date. 
 

 
Environmental Health 

 
6.3. Initial consultation responses raised no objections, but subsequent consultation 

requested an odour assessment. Revised comments are pending with regards to 
the additional information supplied as part of the peer review.  

 
West Cumbria Rivers Trust 

 
6.4. Supports the applicant in constructing a new slurry store that meets the 

standards set out in the Silage, Slurry and Agricultural Fuel Oils Regulations 
(SSAFO).  Providing the applicant takes precautions when spreading the slurry in 
line with the Farming Rules for Water (Reduction and Prevention of Agricultural 
Diffuse Pollution (England) Regulations 2018) it is anticipated that the Crookhurst 
Beck and Allonby Bathing Water will benefit as a result of the new facility. 
 
Environment Agency 
 

6.5. No objections to the proposed development but provide guidance to the applicant 
to ensure the development complies with SSAFO regulations. 
 
Historic England  

 
6.6. No objections on heritage grounds. Given the nature and location of the 

proposed development, it is unlikely to be visible from the Hadrian’s Wall World 
Heritage Site  itself, and would not affect people’s ability to appreciate Roman 
Military strategy and planning. The development should have no impact upon the 
Outstanding Universal Value of the WHS.  
 
Other representations 
 

6.7. The application has been advertised by site notice and neighbour letter. This has 
included re-consultation where amended plans/information has been provided.   
 

6.8. 50 letters of representation have been received to date, the concerns are 
summarised as follows:  

 
 a) Adverse impact upon conservation area and heritage assets, including listed 

buildings in the village and the Hadrian’s Wall World Heritage Site  
 b) Adverse impact upon residential amenity, by way of odours.  
 c) Scale of slurry lagoon too large 
 d) Issues in relation to emissions, gasses and air pollution and the potential to 

harm human health.  
 e) Unsuitable location, less harmful locations have not been considered.  
 f) Run off and flood risk/water pollution from overflow during prolonged rain.  
 g) Reliance on umbilical cord over land which is not the applicant’s ownership. 
 h) Adverse impacts upon the highway and issues in relation to traffic congestion, 

including damage to village roads. 

Page 34



 i) Construction issues. 
 j) Impact upon market value of properties.  
 k) Infestation of rodents. 
 l) Infestation of insects.  
 m) Lack of odour management plan. 
 n) Would the slurry lagoon be located on an aquifer? 
 o) Adverse impact upon wildlife, including Great Crested Newts 
 p) Adverse impact upon the Solway Coast AONB 
 q) Access to lagoon 
 r) Noise issues 
 s) Request for conditions to be added if approval is granted  
 t) The use of slurry bugs  
 u) Concerns with regards to the quality and accuracy of supporting information, 

including the Odour Assessment.  
 
7. Environmental Impact Assessment 

7.1. With reference to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017 the development falls within neither Schedule 1 
nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA development. 

 
8. Duties 
 
8.1. For Listed Buildings: 
 

Section 66(1) of the Listed Buildings Act 1990 states that, in considering whether 
to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its 
setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses. 
 

8.2. For conservation areas:  
 

Section 72(1) of the Listed Buildings Act 1990 states that, with respect to any 
buildings or other land in a conservation area, special attention shall be paid to 
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that 
area. 

 
 

9. Development Plan Policies 
 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014  
 

 
9.1. The following policies are considered to be relevant:- 

 
Policy S1 Presumption in Favour of Development 
Policy S2 Sustainable Development 
Policy S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth 

Page 35



Policy S4 Design Principles 
Policy S14 Rural Economy 
Policy S27 Heritage Assets 
Policy S28 Hadrian’s Wall World Heritage Site 
Policy S29 Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
Policy S32 Safeguarding Amenity 
Policy S33 Landscape 
Policy S34 Development within the Solway Coast Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty 
Policy DM6 Equestrian and Agricultural Buildings 
 

These policies can be viewed at:- 
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-
plan-part-1/ 
 
 

10. Other material considerations 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
 
Council Strategy 2020-2030 

 
11. Policy weighting 

 
11.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, 

if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan Parts 1 and 2 have primacy. 
 

11.2. However, paragraph 218 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
2021 advises that policies in that Framework are material consideration which 
should be taken into account in dealing with the applications from the day of its 
publication. In this context it is noted that paragraph 219 of the NPPF 2021 
advises that due weight should be given to development plan policies according 
to their degree of consistency with the NPPF (the closer the policies in the plan to 
the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given). 
 

10.3 The policies relevant to the determination of this application are considered to be 
consistent with the NPPF and as such, the policies are afforded full weight.  

 
 

12. Assessment: 
 

Principle of development 
 
12.1. Policy S14 of the Local Plan Part 1 states that the Council is committed to 

supporting the economic prosperity and sustainability of rural communities by 
enabling appropriately scaled economic development.  In order to support the 

Page 36

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/


continued economic viability of farming the Council will support proposals for 
appropriately designed and related agricultural development and buildings.   

 
12.2. Paragraph 84 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should 

enable the development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based 
rural businesses. 

 
12.3. The proposal seeks alternative arrangements for the storage of slurry at an 

existing dairy farm. The proposal is well related to the existing farmstead. In 
principle, the provision of additional facilities for the operational use of the 
established farm accords with policy S3, which allows for development requiring 
a countryside location for operational reasons.    
 
 
Design/Siting 

 
12.4.  Policy DM6 is the principle policy for the consideration of agricultural 

development and criteria (a) requires that such development is closely related to 
the existing farm buildings, and where this is not possible, development is 
designed and sited to minimise the impact on the landscape setting.  Criteria (b) 
requires that the design, scale, siting, external materials and appearance of the 
proposed agricultural development, respect and enhance the rural character of 
the local area.  The proposal is well related to the existing farmstead. The 
physical scale of the proposed lagoon is considered to be acceptable when 
considered against the scale of existing farm buildings.  
 

12.5.  The design of the proposed lagoon is relatively typical of such structures, which 
are designed to serve a functional purpose and as such is considered to be 
acceptable. Following the consultation process, additional information was 
submitted which included a proposed hedgerow to the perimeter of the slurry 
lagoon, which is to be a mix of hawthorn and blackthorn. As the slurry lagoon 
will be predominantly at ground level or below, and noting the backdrop of 
agricultural buildings already present on the farm, it is considered that the 
proposal would not have significant landscape or visual effects.  For the same 
reasons, the proposal is not considered to harm the Solway Coast AONB, the 
boundary of this designation being over 1km from the site.    

 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage 

 
12.6.   The site is within flood zone 1, the preferred location for the more vulnerable 

use proposed here. There are no known critical drainage problems or surface 
water flooding records for the site.   
 
A number of public representations relate to the ingress of rainwater into the 
slurry lagoon, increasing the overall quantity of slurry. It is understood from the 
applicant that the cover will direct rainwater to a collection point at one corner of 
the structure, that will then discharge rainwater to the existing field drains, 
without mixing with the lagoon.  
 

Page 37



Heritage 
 

12.7.   Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
states “In considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as 
the case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.” The council therefore has a 
duty to have a special regard to developments which may affect the setting of 
listed buildings and it is noted that there are a number of listed buildings within 
the village. The site, whilst not falling within the Conservation Area, lies close to 
the Hayton conservation area boundary, and therefore has the potential to 
affect the setting of this heritage asset and such, the duty under s72 of the Act 
is engaged, ‘special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of that area’. Additionally, it is noted the 
site lies at the edge of the buffer zone of the Hadrian’s Wall World Heritage Site 
(WHS). 
 

12.8.   Criteria c) of policy DM6 permits new agricultural development, provided there 
is no significant adverse effect on historic assets, whilst policy S27 seeks to 
ensure heritage assets are conserved and enhanced in a manner appropriate to 
their significance.   

 
12.9.   Taking the WHS first, Historic England has no objections to the proposal. They 

state that given the nature and the location of the proposed development, it is 
unlikely to be visible from the WHS itself and would not affect people’s ability to 
appreciate Roman Military strategy and planning. They state that the 
development should have no impact upon the Outstanding Universal Value of 
the WHS. Based on this advice, the impact of the proposal on the WHS is 
considered to be acceptable.  

 
12.10. The vehicular accesses to the farmstead are to the south of the holding from the 

main thoroughfare through Hayton, with existing agricultural buildings located 
directly off the highway. Given the location of the slurry lagoon to the north of 
the existing farmstead, with large intervening agricultural buildings between the 
proposed lagoon and the village, it is considered that there will be limited 
intervisibility between the new structure and the built form of the village.  
 

12.11. The nearest listed buildings are approx 130m to the south -The Old Post Office 
and 133m to the south west, Former Congregation Chapel, with Blackburn 
House at a similar distance to the south east. The proposal would not impact on 
the immediate setting of any of these listed buildings, and the wider setting is 
presently formed by the buildings of the village themselves, the spaces between 
them and in some cases, the open fields beyond. Given the low level nature of 
the proposal, separation distances between the development and these listed 
buildings, and the intervening structures of the farmstead itself (which is an 
established part of the village setting), it is considered that the proposal will not 
have any impact on the setting of these listed buildings.   

 

Page 38



12.12. With regards to the setting of the Hayton Conservation Area, again, the existing 
large farmstead with modern agricultural buildings forms part of the character of 
the conservation area. The farm is a well-established with an existing slurry 
tower sited with the farmyard. When looking towards the site from within the 
conservation area, the lagoon will be largely screened by existing farm 
buildings. Views towards the conservation area may be possible from Public 
Right of Way 232001 to the west of the site, and potentially at a longer distance, 
from lower points to the north. From the PROW, it is most likely that the low 
level lagoon would be screened by hedgerow and it is clear that modern 
agricultural buildings form part of the conservation area and its setting. It is 
considered likely that should longer distance views of the lagoon be possible, 
this will be with the backdrop of the farm of rising land. As such, the proposal is 
not considered likely to adversely impact on the setting of the Conservation 
Area, preserving the character of the conservation area.   

 
 
Residential Amenity 

 
12.13. Policy S32 and DM6 Criteria c) i)  of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that 

environmentally sensitive development is located where it will not result in poor 
living condition for occupiers of existing residential units as a result of air 
pollution, noise, smell, dust, vibration, light or other pollution. The NPPF also 
requires that new development should seek to secure a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupiers of land and buildings. Paragraph 
174 requires “Planning policies and decision should contribute to and enhance 
the natural and local environment by: preventing new and existing development 
from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 
affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land 
instability. Development should, where possible, help to improve local 
environment conditions such as air and water quality”.   

 
12.14. Slurry from the existing farming operations is currently stored in an uncovered 

slurry tower located centrally within the farm steading. Due to its limited 
capacity, it is stated that slurry is taken from the tower and spread approx. every 
3-4 weeks throughout the year, using a tanker that exits the site via the village. 
It is estimated by the applicant that the existing slurry tower has an uncovered 
surface area of approx 150m2, which is stated to be ‘significantly larger than the 
potential uncovered area of the proposed lagoon’. This is on the basis of the 
proposed cover to the lagoon.   

 
12.15. The applicant states that the proposed slurry lagoon is required to improve 

capacity for slurry storage (allowing it to be stored for several months before 
needing to be emptied) and states that significantly increase capacity will make 
the process more efficient. It is understood that the regulatory authorities are 
seeking longer term storage solutions for slurry across all farming operations. It 
is proposed that the slurry will be collected at the farm within the current system 
then channelled down to the new lagoon using gravity as levels fall to the north. 
It is indicated that the majority of the slurry from the lagoon would be spread via 
an umbilical cord system that extends also to the north, to land either owned or 
rented by the applicant, reducing the requirement for tankers to remove and 

Page 39



disperse the slurry via the existing access through the village. It is understood 
that these alternative arrangements would require less spreading of slurry in the 
winter months, when ground conditions are less suitable, but this is likely to 
result in increased spreading in the summer months as the same quantity of 
slurry will require disposal. The applicant contends that the proposal will reduce 
traffic movements and improve any odour issues in the village by reducing the 
time period over which the slurry is spread, and the requirements for mixing the 
slurry, thus reducing the amount of odour emissions overall. Again, it is 
understood that with the present process, mixing is required as part of the 
emptying process of the tower, whilst as part of the lagoon process, ‘slurry 
bugs’ are proposed, which replaces any mixing requirements, as well as the 
reduction in odour provided by the cover.  
   

12.16. An odour assessment by Air Pollution Services has been submitted on behalf of 
the applicant and the Council has instructed an external peer review of this 
odour assessment. As part of this peer review, additional information has been 
provided.  

 
12.17. The nearest residential property is located approximately 65m from the existing 

uncovered slurry tower and the nearest residential property would be 
approximately 90m from the proposed covered slurry lagoon.  

 
12.18.  The additional information confirmed the definitive use of ‘slurry bugs’, they are 

to be used within the lagoon to negate the requirement for the mixing of the 
slurry, thus avoiding elevated odour releases. Furthermore, noting some 
grounds for objection, the ‘Odour Response Note’ clarified the use of St. Bees 
Head Meteorological Station to inform the assessment of the proposal (in terms 
of predominant wind direction), on the basis that there were no other 
observational meteorological stations that are considered appropriate to use,  
however they did also supply data from the NWP (Numerical Weather 
Prediction). The applicant stated that the likely odour effects remain the same 
as those presented in the Odour Assessment Report, and the conclusions 
remain unchanged.  

 
12.19. An updated response was received from the peer review, following the provision 

of this additional information. The peer reviewer has compared the covered 
slurry lagoon proposal and the likely operational changes to farm practices 
resulting from the introduction of that lagoon, to the existing situation, i.e. the 
use of the existing uncovered slurry tower and the operational practices 
stemming from that. They noted that the existing slurry tower is likely to be more 
odorous than the proposed slurry lagoon based on the information provided 
(including the extent of uncovered areas). The response also concluded that the 
‘Source Odour Potential’ is likely to be low and they concur with the statement 
‘there is likely to be a reduction in odour impacts at nearby residential 
properties. As stated in the OAR, the odour impacts are therefore judged to be 
not significant’.  

 
12.20. The peer review also states that whilst there remains a certain amount of 

differing professional opinion regarding the overall effect of the proposed slurry 

Page 40



spreading operations, it is acknowledged that these differences are likely to 
have little effect on the overall outcome of the assessment.  

 
12.21. On the basis of the advice that the proposed slurry storage measures would not 

have any greater adverse impact than the existing operations with regards to 
emissions to air, including odour, it is considered that the proposal would not 
adversely impact on residential amenity to any greater degree than existing. 
Should Members be minded to approve the application, certain conditions are 
recommended to ensure that this is the case, such as the implementation of the 
cover, before the proposed lagoon is brought into use, and the removal of the 
existing slurry tank within 2 months of the lagoon becoming operational.  

 
12.22. Final comments have not yet been received from colleagues in Environmental 

Health on the Peer Review conclusions and these will be reported via the late 
list.   

 
12.23. No significant adverse impacts are anticipated in relation to noise, and the 

proposed lagoon will be sited at a sufficient distance from residential properties 
to avoid any adverse impacts on outlook.  

 
 
Highway Safety 
 

12.24. The existing access to the farm will be unchanged and there will be no increase 
in traffic as a result of the proposal.  The Highways Authority have no 
objections.  
 

12.25. A concern was raised with regards to construction vehicles and movement. The 
applicant has confirmed that any soil to be removed as part of the proposal will 
remain on the site and will not need to be relocated off site. It was confirmed 
that the constructions vehicles will enter the site through the existing access, 
which is assessed as acceptable.  

 
Landscape and Visual Impact 

 
12.26. Policy S33 and DM6 Criteria c) ii) of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that new 

development does not have an adverse impact visually and on landscape 
character.  
 

12.27. The proposed lagoon would be to the rear of the farm, where land levels fall and 
then plateau across to the Solway coast. As such, there are panoramic views 
across to the coast from the rear of the site and therefore, there is the potential 
for the site to be visible from vantage points to the north, given its elevation. The 
Solway Coast AONB is located approximately 1km to the northwest. 

 
12.28. The proposal will require excavation and some level of re-grading given the 

sloping nature of the site. The full extent of the required earthworks is not 
considered to be sufficiently detailed on the submitted plans, but it is considered 
that this can be appropriately conditioned. Amended details includes the 
provision of hedgerow screening to the proposed lagoon, albeit this has only 

Page 41



been shown in section form, and therefore a condition to secure the full details 
of this is recommended also.  

 
12.29. Whilst the proposal would result in some earthworks to alter the landform at this 

location, given the nature of the development as a low level structure, it is not 
considered that the proposal would have a significant adverse impact on the 
visual qualities of this countryside location. Where views are possible, it would 
be seen with the backdrop of rising land and the village itself, including large 
agricultural buildings. The landscape character is formed in part by agricultural 
development and this structure would sit adjacent to the existing farmstead. It is 
not considered that views into or out of the Solway Coast AONB would be 
adversely affected in any significant manner.   

 
Biodiversity 

 
12.30. Policy S35 seeks to protect and enhance biodiversity appropriately and criteria 

c) iii) supports this. The site is presently used for the grazing of cattle and will 
not disturb any established hedgerow. Given the present use of the site, there is 
little evidence to suggest that the proposal would have any significant adverse 
impact on species or habitat. The proposed perimeter hedgerow would provide 
some habitat enhancement.  
 
Other Issues 
 

12.31. Criteria d) of policy DM6 requires that new agricultural development includes 
appropriate measures for the disposal of manure and waste. This criteria is not 
relevant given that the proposal itself is a slurry lagoon. Criteria e) relates to the 
provision of suitable access and is addressed above.  
 

12.32. It is considered that the majority of those grounds for objection have been 
addressed above. With regards to the chosen location of the slurry lagoon and 
suggestions that it would be located further away from the village, the applicant 
has confirmed that the location choice is to allow the slurry lagoon to be gravity 
fed. Further north, land levels plateau and so this would not be possible. The 
applicant has also confirmed that the use of the umbilical cord is not dependent 
on third party land. Whilst there is a field not within the applicant’s ownership 
that would essentially allow a ‘short cut’ to some land in the applicant’s control, 
use of the umbilical cord would still be possible without agreement to cross this 
single field.  

 
 Balance and Conclusions 

 
13.0 The proposal has been considered against the provisions of the development 

plan taken as a whole and the NPPF as a material consideration.  The principle 
of the development is acceptable in supporting the existing farm business.  The 
proposed slurry lagoon has been located appropriately in the context of the 
existing farmstead. Having regard in particular to the conclusions of the Peer 
Review relating to odour, any adverse impacts of the development have been 

Page 42



assessed as not significant. As such, the proposal is considered to be acceptable 
when assessed against the Development Plan as a whole.  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Grant permission subject to conditions. 

Page 43



Annex 1 

CONDITIONS 
 
Time Limit: 
 
1.  The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 
 

Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

 
In Accordance: 
  
2.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 

accordance with the following plans: 
 

 Design and access statement & ecological statement – Amended 
Document Received 11/01/21 

 D.01 – A1 – Lagoon Details  

 D.02 a – Site Plan  

 D.03a – Site Location Plan  

 D.01 A1 – Lagoon Details – Additional Plans Received 11/01/21 

 Odour report – 22/02/2021 

 Odour Response Note dated 18 August 2021 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 

 
Pre-commencement: 
 
3. No development shall commence until, detailed cross sectional drawings 

for the slurry lagoon showing the extent of earthworks and bunding, have 
been submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. The 
development shall be undertaken and completed only in accordance with 
the approved details. 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out to a satisfactory 
standard and to ensure that any material and non-material alterations to the 
scheme are properly considered.  

 
Prior to use commencing: 

 
4. The proposed cover shall be installed prior to the operational use of the 

development and shall be retained thereafter in good working order, for the 
lifetime of the development. 

 
         Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding residential amenity of other properties 

in the locality from the operational use of the application site, in compliance with 

Page 44



the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
5.  Prior to the slurry lagoon being brought into use, a landscaping plan 

detailing the full extent of the proposed hedgerow to the perimeter of the 
lagoon shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in 
writing. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the scheme shall 
be carried out in the first planting season following completion of the 
development and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from 
the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
other similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise 
the impact of the development in the locality in compliance with Policies S32 and 
S33 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
Other 
 

6. Within two months of the commencement of the use of the slurry lagoon 
hereby approved, use of the existing slurry tank for the purpose of 
storage/disposal of any slurry shall cease.   

         Reason: To ensure that any adverse odour impacts of the development are not 
greater than those assessed as acceptable within the submitted Odour 
Assessment, in the interests of residential amenity and in accordance with policy 
S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and advice contained 
within the NPPF.  

 
 
 

Advisory Note  
 
Attach Environment Agency Response  
 

Page 45



 

Page 46



Allerdale Borough Council  
 

Planning Application FUL/2020/0250 
 
Proposed  
Development: 

Construction of 123 residential dwellings with associated parking, 
access and landscaping 

Location: Land East of Main Road 
High Harrington 
Workington 

Applicant: Mr David Hayward 
Story Homes 

Recommendation: 
 

Grant, subject to conditions and the signing of a legal agreement 
to secure the affordable housing provision (8 units for social rent 
and 4 units for discounted sale) with re-appraisal mechanism, and 
a commuted sum for the ongoing monitoring of a Travel Plan 
(£6600.00). 
 
 

1.0 Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle High Harrington lies within the Principle Service Centre for the 
Borough within the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (ALPP1), to which 
the major new development is directed, including the largest 
proportion of new housing. The provision of an additional 123 
dwellings would contribute to and not exceed the requirement to 
be provided by the Principle Centre, and as an allocation with Part 
2 and with an extant planning permission for housing, the principle 
of housing at this site has already been accepted.   

Benefits The provision of 123 houses would contribute to strategic objective 
SO2c of the ALPP1, which seeks to ensure a deliverable supply of 
housing land that meets the needs of the community and local 
economy, as well as the Council Plan in terms of strengthening our 
economy and supporting the development of new homes where 
they are needed.  
The additional affordable houses to be provided by the proposal 
would increase access to affordable housing in the Borough, in 
accordance with strategic objective SO2d of the ALPP1.   

Sustainability, 
Access, Highway 
Network, Parking 

The site is considered to have good access to a regular bus and 
rail route and can connect to a national cycle route.  Lit pedestrian 
footpaths exist to the north and south of the site, albeit some 
walkers may be discouraged by distance and the busy A597. 
Overall, the site is considered to be sustainable, given the level of 
access for pedestrians, cyclists and the proximity of a regular bus 
and train route. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



The proposal is considered to provide adequate access 
arrangements and no concerns are raised by the Local Highways 
Authority in terms of impact on the adjacent road network. No 
concerns are raised by the Highways Agency with respect to the 
trunk road.  
The parking provision is considered to be acceptable having 
regard to the County Council’s Design Guide.  

Flood 
Risk/Drainage 

Subject to conditions to secure a detailed drainage scheme, then 
no concerns are raised by the Local Lead Flood Authority or 
United Utilities. Using attenuation measures including an on-site 
pond, run-off will be restricted to the greenfield run-off rate and the 
system is designed to accommodate a 1 in 100 year event plus an 
allowance for climate change.  

Landscape and 
Visual Impacts 

A development of this scale will undoubtedly have some landscape 
and visual impact. These impacts will be localised and contained 
to some extent by existing development to the north, west and 
east. The main changes of note will be the loss of farmland and a 
further encroachment into the open countryside, the presence of 
development over the crest of the hill when approaching High 
Harrington from the south and the change in outlook for nearby 
residents. The adverse effects in this respect are not considered to 
be significant, sufficient to warrant refusal of the development.  

Design/ 
Appearance 

The scheme is considered to provide a good quality scheme that 
responds appropriately to the surroundings.  

Residential 
Amenity 

Subject to a number of recommended conditions relating to the 
treatment of levels across the site, the scheme is considered to 
provide a high standard of housing environment without having a 
significant adverse effect on existing occupiers.  

Ecology/Trees A suitable Ecological Appraisal has been provided for the proposal 
along with soft landscaping plans, the recommendations/mitigation 
measures of which are proposed to be secured by condition.  
The proposal will retain boundary hedging and trees, with the 
exception of the hedge to the site frontage. Additional tree planting 
is proposed throughout the scheme and infill hedgerow is 
proposed to the southern boundary, which will be secured by 
condition. 

Amenity 
Greenspace/ 
Children’s Play 
Space 

Generally compliant with the Council’s adopted Supplementary 
Planning Document. A condition is proposed to secure the 
provision of at least four pieces of play equipment which should 
provide for an age range for toddlers and juniors. Delivery is 
stipulated before the 80th plot.  

Affordable 
Housing Provision  

10% affordable housing provision is offered in the amended 
scheme. The viability evidence provided by the applicant to justify 
this lower provision has been externally reviewed on behalf of the 
Council and is considered to be acceptable. A section 106 
agreement will be necessary to secure the works and the Peer 

Page 48



Review recommends a re-appraisal mechanism be included, 
should the development secure higher sales revenues than 
accounted for within the Viability Report.  

Education 
Services  

Cumbria County Council confirms that provision is available at 
both Primary and Secondary age and that no contributions are 
necessary.   

Other Matters No concerns relating to ground conditions or heritage impacts.   

 

 

2.0 Proposal 
 
2.1 The proposal seeks planning permission for the erection of 123 dwellings. 
 
2.2 The proposal would be accessed from Main Road, High Harrington (A597), 

opposite Whins Farm and approx 50m south of the existing Story’s housing 
estate adjacent Whins Farm. A second Emergency Vehicle Access route is also 
proposed off Main Road through an existing field to the south at a distance from 
the main entrance of approx. 70m.  This would connect to the first cul de sac 
within the proposed scheme and would not be for general use, but emergencies 
only.  

 
2.3 The proposal includes a looped road layout off the main access, with a number of 

private drives and shared surface roads transecting and spurring off from this 
loop. Given the sloping nature of the site, the proposal would include some 
earthworks and regrading of levels.  

 
2.4 The proposed housing consists of: 
  

6 x 2 beds – including 2 bungalows 
37 x 3 beds – including 2 bungalows 
65 x 4 beds 
15 x 5 beds 
 

The proposal includes an amended affordable housing scheme of 8 units for 
discounted rent (4 x 3 bed houses and 4 x 2 bed houses), and 4 units for 
discounted sale 2 x 2 bed bungalows and 3 x 3 bed houses).  

 
2.5 The density of the development, based on the gross site area, is indicated to be 

25.78 dwellings per hectare.  
 
2.6 Three areas of open space are proposed within the site; one greenspace with 

equipped play equipment positioned centrally to the site, one within the northwest 
corner of the site that includes a SUDS pond and a landscaped area to the 
western portion of the site close to the entrance. This pond would be battered 
down to a depth of 1.8m and would be fenced.  

 

Page 49



2.7 Materials proposed are predominantly brick, with some render and a limited 
amount of stonework.  

 
2.8 A total of 297 in curtilage parking spaces are proposed, and 40 visitors’ spaces 

the latter being a combination of layby and on street spaces.   
 
2.9 The submitted Flood Risk Assessment indicates that surface water would 

connect to an existing watercourse at the northwest corner of the site at an 
attenuated rate. For foul drainage it is proposed to connect to off-site foul sewers 
along Harringdale Road, making a connection to the existing 225mm dia. foul 
sewer just prior to the junction with Scaw Road. 

 
3.0 Amendments 
 
3.1 Amended plans/supporting information has been provided during the 

consideration of the application, summarised as: 
 

 Layout/relationship of some plots to streetscene and improvements to the 
public realm 

 Functional use of open space 

 Removal of three storey apartment block 

 Separation distances/levels/massing of plots to northern and eastern 
boundaries and off site existing housing  

 Extent of parking to frontages and impact on openness of the 
estate/spacing between units.  

 Accessibility of the equiped play space 

 Internal separation distances  

 Replacement of timber fencing to POS and pond with railings.  
 

4.0 Site 
 
4.1 The application site is comprised of a number of small fields separated by 

hedgerows and is currently used for grazing animals. The site extends to approx. 
4.7 ha. Land levels across the site slope from the south east down to the 
north/north west. Level differences on the site are significant with the south-east 
corner reaching 81.30m above ordnance datum (AOD) and falling away to 
66.50m at the watercourse in the north-west corner. Levels where the site access 
is proposed are approximately 74.95m. The site is somewhat elevated and 
provides views across Workington to the Solway to the north and approaches a 
crest to the south where levels plateau. It is situated to the east of Main Road 
(A597) and is located to the south of the built-up area of High Harrington. 

 
4.2 Access is directly from Main Road (A597) opposite Whins Farm. The site 

frontage onto Main Road is currently formed by hedgerow. The southern 
boundary is formed in part by existing hedges and wire fence. The eastern 
boundary is formed by the rear boundaries of properties on Seadown Drive. The 
northern boundary comprises of properties on Beaufort Avenue and Harringdale 
Road. Similarly, the western side of the site is bounded by properties on 
Crooklands and properties accessed directly from Main Road. Existing hedges 

Page 50



and trees predominantly separate the fields from all of these properties except for 
small sections of fencing. 

  
 
5.0 Relevant Planning History 
 
5.1 2/2017/0246 – Full planning permission granted for 115 dwellings. Granted 17 

July 2019. This permission remains extant.  
 
 

6.0 Representations 
 

Workington Town Council 
 
6.1 Object on the grounds of increased traffic, limited local resources including 

schools, and continual loss of green spaces. 
 

Cumbria County Council Highways Authority/Local /Lead Flood Authority 
 
6.2 For highways, CCC comment that the present application proposes an additional 

10 dwellings over the previous approved application, this will have an 
insignificant impact in highway terms and there are no additional highway asks in 
terms of conditions. The new pedestrian link between the development and 
Beaufort Avenue is a welcome addition to this application and we would suggest 
a condition is amended slightly to secure this. Conditions recommended relating 
to highway design and timing of construction, visibility splays, details and delivery 
of the emergency vehicle access, and an annual review of the effectiveness of 
the Travel Plan.  

 
6.3 Require a contribution from the developer for ongoing monitoring of the travel 

plan, contribution of £6600.00. 
  
6.4 For drainage, comment that the drainage plan is acceptable in principle and the 

additional measures proposed to treat water prior to discharge into the ordinary 
watercourse are welcomed. As previously agreed, the watercourse downstream 
of the site should be surveyed to attain its condition, particularly where it runs 
beneath Scaw Road. Raise no objection to the development subject to conditions 
for a detailed surface water drainage scheme, a surface water management plan 
during construction, and a condition and capacity survey of the culverted 
watercourse (or piped drainage system) downstream of the surface water 
discharge point.  

 
Highways England 

 
6.5 No objection. 
 

Cumbria County Council Education Services  
 
6.6 ‘This new proposal is estimated to yield 7 more pupils than that estimated for the 

extant permission (based on the originally proposed 125 houses).   

Page 51



 
6.7 Nearest Schools: 
 
6.8 Primary Schools - The catchment primary school for this development is 

Beckstone Primary School which lies approximately 1.2 miles from the 
development site. Two further primary schools are located within the 2 mile 
statutory walking distance threshold of the site - St Mary’s Catholic Primary 
School (1.2 miles) and Distington Primary School (1.9 miles). 

 
6.9 Secondary Schools - The catchment primary school for this development is 

Workington Academy which lies approximately 2.9miles from the site. The next 
nearest secondary schools are the Energy Coast University Technical College 
(UTC) (1.7 miles) and St. Joseph’s Catholic High School (2.7 miles). It is noted 
that intake at the Energy Coast UTC is from the age of 14.  

 
6.10 School Capacity:  
 
6.11 Primary School Capacity - There is no space in the catchment school of 

Beckstone Primary to accommodate the yield of 33 primary age pupils from this 
development. However, both St Mary’s Catholic Primary School and Distington 
Primary are within the statutory safe walking distance from the site and have 
sufficient capacity between them to accommodate the yield from this 
development. In light of this it is considered that no primary school capacity 
contribution is required.  

 
6.12 Secondary School Capacity - Taking into account existing committed 

developments within the catchment of Workington Academy, it is considered that 
there would be insufficient places to accommodate the estimated yield of 23 
secondary-age pupils from this development. However, two other schools 
catering for secondary-age pupils are present within the statutory walking 
distance threshold for secondary schools and have sufficient capacity to 
accommodate the secondary yield from this development. Therefore, no 
contribution toward secondary education contribution is required.  

 
6.13 Routes to School - There are no route safety issues between the site and the 

schools within the relevant prescribed statutory walking distances. Consequently, 
no school transport contribution is required’. 

 
Access Officer 

 
6.14 No comments received.  
 

ABC Housing Services 
 
6.15 Require 20% provision and tenure split in accordance with policy SA3. Provide 

advice on need based on 2015 Study and Choice Based Lettings data. Note the 
offer of only 5% provision and request an external peer review of the viability 
assessment submitted. Following notification of the peer review and revised  
offer, no further comments have been received to date.  

 

Page 52



 
County Archaeologist 

 
6.17 No objections or comments. 
 
6.18 *Officer’s note that the applicant has previously commissioned an archaeological 

desk-based assessment and geophysical survey of this site. The results 
indicated that there is a low potential for archaeological assets to be disturbed by 
the construction of the proposed development. 

 
Natural England 

 
6.19 Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed 

development will not have significant adverse impacts on statutorily protected 
nature conservation sites or landscapes. Standing advice provided. Advise that 
the biodiversity net gain metric is used to assess whether the proposed 
enhancements offer a 10% biodiversity net gain. This will indicate the habitat 
replacement that will be necessary, but not species provision. Therefore, species 
provision in terms of bat boxes and bird boxes and wildlife friendly planting for 
pollinators should also be incorporated into the design. 

 
Environment Agency 

 
6.20 No comments, not consulted on original scheme.  
 

Environmental Health 
 
6.21 No objection, confirm that contamination risks are satisfactorily addressed.  

Recommend conditions relating to noise mitigation and construction 
management.  

 
Cumbria Constabulary 

 
6.22 No comments received.  
 

Fire Service 
 
6.23 No objections. 
 

Electricity North West  
 
6.24 No comments received.  
 

ENW has previously advised that development of this site could impact on ENW 
apparatus. Confirm that there is an 11kV cable on the north side of the proposed 
development area. There is an overhead LV circuit on the southwest side of the 
proposed development area. Any structures and/or easements will need to be 
protected or diverted at the applicant’s extent.  

 
United Utilities 

Page 53



 
6.25 No objection, subject to surface water discharging into watercourse. Recommend 

conditions to secure drainage for the development in accordance with the 
submitted drainage drawings.  

 
Northern Gas Networks 

 
6.26 No objections. Plan provided for apparatus in the area, which is all off site within 

the surrounding road network.  
 
 Cumbria Wildlife Trust 
  
6.27 No comments received.  
 
6.28 The application has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour 

letter, including re-advertisement of amended plans. 
 
6.29 36 letters of representation have been received to date following the original 

advertisement of the application and re-consultation, raising objection to the 
proposal.  The representations are summarised as follows: 

  
1. The main roads through Harrington and Salterbeck cannot cope with this 

additional traffic.  
2. The proposal will add danger and further congestion to Church Road, 

which has the church, school and shops.  
3. The roads cannot support the traffic. 
4. Schools cannot support the children.  
5. Hedgerows are important for a number of wildlife species.  
6. Harrington has already had too much house building.  
7. The main sewer often becomes full and overflows down the Main Road. 

Video of the overflow outside the Brewery House.   
8. Wastewater culverts that run through private land already over loaded with 

surface water. 
9. This scheme introduces 3 story semi detached 4 bedroom house right 

behind property on Seadown Drive.  The width of these joined properties 
are the same width as  garden meaning that both these houses are going 
to look directly into my garden giving me absolutely ZERO privacy as they 
will tower over my garden and house. Also they will steal the light from my 
garden and property. 

10. Bypass and additional school infrastructure required before this goes 
ahead.  

11. The council refuses to put any safety measures in place to ensure children 
can cross safely to the school, despite having had the money from 
previous developments (and the s106 money that has disappeared for 
extension of the school). 

12. Access appears to be on a blind brow 
13. Roads flood and drains cannot cope.  
14. Noise pollution and stress during construction. 
15. Ruin countryside.  
16. This housing will alter village in a negative way. 

Page 54



17. If this reservoir bursts its banks, the water is going to come down the 
stream which flows right through private neighbouring property which has 
flooded twice in 7 years from excessive water from these fields behind 
Scaw road. The debris that flows down this stream blocks the culvert, 
which then floods private property. To put this reservoir where it is makes 
neighbouring property even more unsafe. The stream cannot cope with 
any more excess water. Require a better solution. If this goes ahead then 
legal action will be taken against the liable. 

18. Loss of view.  
19. Impact on house values. 
20. Development will impact on mental health. 
21. Impact on light/overshadowing, will create claustrophobia.  
22. Unfair that plans were not available on the website during the consultation. 

Extension of consult period not relayed to everyone. 
23. Plots 40, 41, 42 & 43 are 4 bedroom houses these back onto 4 bungalows 

on Seadown Drive all of which have their living room on the back. Impact 
on those dwellings views and privacy.  

24. Query as to why netting has been put up when permission not yet granted.  
25. Overlooking, including between existing and proposed private gardens.  
26. Increased noise and vehicle pollution. 
27. Already congested with the construction of the new college and Burger 

King/Starbucks and The Meadows development.  
28. The nearest school with capacity will be Distington, a very long and unsafe 

walk on a wet day, 1.5 miles. This necessitates the crossing of one major 
junction, Westlakes College, one major road near Myers and Bowman, 
and two B Roads in Distington itself. 

29. Why can developers not build bungalows behind existing bungalows? 
 
 
7.0 Environmental Impact Assessment 

7.1 With regards to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017 the development does not fall within Schedule 1 
nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA development. 

 
 
8.0 Duties 
 
8.1 Regulation 9 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

requires all public bodies to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats 
Directive in the exercise of their functions, particularly when determining a 
planning application for a development which may have an impact on European 
Protected Species ("EPS"), such as bats, great crested newts or otters. 

 

 

9.0 Development Plan Policies 
 
 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
 

Page 55



9.1 The following policies are considered to apply:- 
 

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
Policy S2 – Sustainable Development Principles 
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth 
Policy S4 - Design principles 
Policy S5 – Development Principles 
Policy S6 – Area Based 
Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market 
Policy S21 – Developer contributions 
Policy S22 - Transport principles 
Policy S24 – Green Infrastructure 
Policy S25 – Sports, Leisure and Open Space 
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
Policy S30 – Reuse of Land 
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity 
Policy S33 - Landscape 
Policy S35 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Policy S36 – Air, Water and Soil Quality 
Policy DM12 – Sustainable Construction 
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design 
Policy DM16 – Sequential Test for Previously Developed Land 
Policy DM17 – Trees, Hedgerow and Woodland 
 
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-
plan-part-1/ 

 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) 
 

9.2 The site falls within the defined settlement limit for Workington, which includes 
High Harrington. The site is an identified housing allocation.   

 
 Policy SA1 Identified Sites  
Policy SA2 Settlement Boundaries 
Policy SA3 Affordable Housing 
Policy SA5 Housing Standards 
Policy SA6 Housing Delivery 
Policy SA9 Main Road, Harrington, Workington 
Policy SA33 Broadband 

  
 https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/ 
 

10.0 Other material considerations 
 
 National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021)  
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--
2 

 
Allerdale Council Strategy 2020 – 2030 

Page 56

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


 

 Ensure there are suitable, affordable, decent homes for all. 
 
 The details of this document can be viewed here: 
 

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-council/council-strategy-2020-2030/ 
 
11.0 Policy weighting 
 
11.1 Notwithstanding any duties identified above, Section 38(6) of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to the 
development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the 
planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale 
Local Plan Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and Part 2 (2020) have 
primacy. 

 
12.0 Assessment  
 

Principle of Development 
 
12.1 (a) Location  
 
12.2 High Harrington, along with Harrington, Seaton and Stainburn fall within the 

defined settlement of Workington, which is the Principal Service Centre within the 
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (ALPP1) and to which 35% of overall housing growth 
is directed by the ALPP1, amounting to 106 dwellings per year over the Plan 
period.  

 
12.3 Policy S5 states that new development will be concentrated within the physical 

limits of the Principal Service Centre. The proposed development site lies within 
the settlement limit for Workington, as adopted within the Allerdale Local Plan 
Part 2. The site is also allocated specifically for housing purposes within Part 2 
(Policy SA9).  

 
12.4 (b) Scale of development  
 
12.5 Policy S5 of the ALPP1 requires that the scale of development proposed be 

commensurate to the size of the settlement and reflect its position in the 
hierarchy. The application site is relatively large in scale, but it does fall within the 
Principal Service Centre for the Borough. The site does not extend beyond the 
area allocated for housing by Part 2 and the density of the development falls 
within the parameters set by the allocation policy SA9.  As such the scale of the 
development is considered to be acceptable.  

 
12.6 Concerns of residents are noted relating to the scale of the proposal in relation to 

High Harrington itself, having regard to recently constructed and ongoing 
development of housing at Whins Farm (Storey Homes) and The Meadows 
(Thomas Armstrong) and the level of services and amenities unique to High 
Harrington itself. However, as an integral part of the Principal Centre, which 
benefits from a range of services and amenities, the scale of the proposal 

Page 57

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-council/council-strategy-2020-2030/


accords with the settlement hierarchy of the ALPP1 and the allocation within the 
ALPP2. Whilst the site is not previously developed land, the majority of 
allocations proposed within Part 2 are greenfield sites, acknowledging that there 
is insufficient previously developed land to meet the identified need.   

 
12.7 To conclude, the scale of the development is considered to be appropriate for the 

Principal Service Centre and 123 dwellings equates to a density of 25.78 
dwellings per hectare, which accords with parameters set down in policy SA9 of 
the ALPP2 and is consistent with the density of development to the north and 
east.  

 
12.8 (c) Housing supply  
 
12.9 Policy S3 of the ALPP1 identifies that Workington as the Principal Service 

Centre, will provide 35% of the housing growth over the Plan period, equating to 
1915 dwellings up to 2029. The provision of an additional 123 dwellings would 
contribute to and not exceed the requirement to be provided by the Principal 
Service Centre and as an allocation with Part 2, would not adversely impact on 
the housing balance.  

 
12.10 (d) Conclusion on the principle of development  
 
12.11 The principle of residential development at this location is considered to be 

acceptable, complying with Parts 1 and 2 of the Allerdale Local Plan as a 
housing allocation. A further material consideration is the extant planning 
permission for 115 dwellings at this location, demonstrating that the principle of 
housing at this location has already been accepted under the current Plan.  

 
12.13 Officers conclude that the proposed development is acceptable in principle. 
 
13.0 Benefits of the proposal 
 
13.1 The provision of 123 additional dwellings at High Harrington would provide for 

additional housing at a scale that the ALPP2 considers reasonable for 
Workington as the Principal Service Centre. The proposal would contribute 
particularly to one of the key objectives of the NPPF to support strong, vibrant 
and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range of 
homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations. 
Similarly, the proposal would contribute to strategic objective SO2c of the 
ALPP2, which seeks to ensure a deliverable supply of housing land that meets 
the needs of the community and local economy, as well as the Council Plan in 
terms of supporting the development of new homes where they are needed.  

 
13.2 The proposal would provide additional affordable housing as set out below in 

more detail,  increasing access to affordable housing in the Borough, in 
accordance with strategic objective SO2d of the ALPP1 and the Council Plan’s 
priority of tackling inequality through the provision of more affordable housing, 
albeit not delivering a policy compliant quota of affordable houses on viability 
grounds.     

 

Page 58



13.3 The provision of additional housing would have economic benefits arising from 
further investment in the construction industry and the associated retention of 
jobs directly and indirectly within the supply chain.   

 
 
14.0 Sustainability, Access and Parking 
 
14.1 (a) Sustainability: 
 
14.2 Policies S2 and S22 of the ALP (Part 1) seek to ensure that new development is 

located in areas that help to reduce journey times, have safe and convenient 
access to public transport, improve travel choice and reduce the need to travel by 
private motor vehicles. These policies accord with Paragraph 110 of the NPPF 
which seek to ensure sustainable transport modes are maximised and 
development is safe and accessible. Policy S5 requires that new development 
includes acceptable arrangements for car parking and access. 

 
14.3 The Institution of Highways and Transportation (IHT) document 'Providing for 

Journeys on Foot’ (2000) considers acceptable walking distances for planning 
and evaluation purposes and indicates that for commuting/school a distance of 
500m is desirable, 1000m is acceptable and 2000m is the preferred maximum. 
For other journeys (such as shops), 400m is desirable, 800m is acceptable and 
1200m is the preferred maximum.  

 
14.4 As stated above, High Harrington falls within the Principal Service Centre of 

Workington, to which large scale development is directed. As part of the largest 
town in the Borough, the site is considered to have reasonable access to the 
widest range of services and amenities.  

 
14.5 However, the site does lie to the edge of this settlement, and the respective 

distances to schools and employment opportunities are noted as follows: 
 

Lakes College – 1km 
Beckstones School/Shops and Services of Church Road, Harrington – 1.4km 
Distington School – 2.2km 
Lillyhall – approx. 2.0km 
Stainburn Academy – 5km 

 
14.6 As such, it is considered that there are some services, amenities and 

education/employment opportunities within the preferred maximum walking 
distances, whilst other facilities, supermarkets and employment opportunities lie 
beyond this.  

 
14.7 At present, a lit footpath extends from the site northwards into High Harrington to 

both the western and eastern sides of the A597.  The lit footpath to the east also 
extends south to the roundabout with the A595.  

 
14.8 The site is on regular bus routes (30) and the nearest bus stop is at The 

Crooklands entrance (approx. 200m).   These regular services, connect to 
Carlisle, Maryport, Workington and Whitehaven. Harrington railway station is 

Page 59



located 2km from the site, albeit at a much lower than the site and not offering a 
convenient alternative mode of transport.  

 
14.9 For cyclists, National Cycle Route 72 (Cumbrian Coast and Hadrian’s Cycleway) 

is in close proximity to the site (800m) and provides links to both Workington and 
Whitehaven.  

 
14.10 The site is therefore considered to have good access to a regular bus routes and 

can connect to a national cycle route.  Lit pedestrian footpaths exist to the north 
and south of the site, albeit some walkers may be discouraged by distance and 
the busy A597 and concerns of residents are noted that this main road can be 
difficult to cross. Overall, the site is considered to be sustainable, given the level 
of access for pedestrians, cyclists and the proximity of regular bus routes.  

 
14.11 The application has been supported by a Residential Travel Plan to encourage 

sustainable travel patterns to be both established from the outset and maintained over 
time. The Travel Plan provides the following measures: 

 

 Provision of a Travel Plan co-ordinator 

 Resident Engagement Strategy: Promotion of travel options, Provision of a bespoke 
travel information website, Provision of a travel information guide, Personal Journey 
Planner from the TP Co-ordinator, Preparation of an annual travel newsletter for 
residents. 

 Walking Strategy: Promote and encourage walking through the distribution or 
displaying of promotional material, Provide appropriate internal and external 
linkages for pedestrians. 

 Public Transport/Cycle Strategy: Promote and encourage cycling by distributing or 
displaying promotional material. 

 Sustainable Car Use Strategy: Promote Car Sharing, Promote Eco-Driving, Promote 
Electric Car Charging Points. 

  
14.12 Having regard to the relevant policies of the Plan and the NPPF, it is considered 

that the proposal is accessible by modes other than the car and that measures 
would be provided to reduce the reliance on the private car by future residents. 
The County Council seek a Travel Plan monitoring contribution which is standard 
and can be secured through a legal agreement.  

 
14.13 (b) Access provision/Impact on the highway network: 
 

A single access point is proposed off the A597 to serve the proposal, with a 
second access proposed for Emergency Vehicle Access only, also positioned off 
the A597, to the south. The main access would be a simple T-junction designed 
and lies within the existing 30mph speed limit. Footpaths are proposed to be 
designed to tie into the existing provision on Main Road to the north and south of 
the site frontage. The proposed access is situated c.50m south of the 
constructed residential access on the west side of Main Road at Whins Close. 
The submitted drawings indicate visibility splays of 43m each way, albeit the 
response from the Highways Authority requires splays of 58 and 54m and this is 
put forward as a condition. Long sections were provided as part of the previous 

Page 60



application to demonstrate that the crest of the hill going south would not impede 
visibility.  

 
14.14 The original application made in 2017 was supported by a Transport Assessment 

(TA) and Stage 1 Road Safety Audit. Further information was then subsequently 
provided at the request of the Local Highways Authority. The current submission 
is supported by correspondence from i-Transport LLP, which considers the 
highway related implications of an additional 10 dwellings over and above the 
115 dwellings already granted planning permission (now 7 dwellings as 
amended). The correspondence concludes that the increase in units would not 
affect the findings of the previous Transport Assessment in terms of the junction 
requirements at the site entrance and the capacity of the surrounding network 
and that further assessment is not required.  

 
14.15 The previous scheme was subject to considerable analysis in terms of its impact 

on the existing highway network in isolation and cumulatively with a number of 
over larger scale developments being brought forward. The Local Highways 
Authority has raised no objection to the current proposal in terms of its impact on 
the capacity of the road network, over and above the development already 
approved. A condition to secure a minimum visibility splay is sought, along with 
other conditions relating to construction standards. Similarly, Highways England 
has raised no objection to the proposal in relation to the operation of the A595 
trunk road.  

 
14.16 Based on the advice of these consultees, it is not considered that the proposal 

would have an unacceptable impact on highway safety, nor would the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network be severe. As such, having regard to 
Paragraph 111 of the NPPF, highways grounds are not considered to be a 
reason for refusal in this case.  

 
14.17 (c) Parking: 
 
14.18 CCC’s Design Guide requires a maximum of 312 spaces for the housing mix 

proposed and 25 visitor spaces. The revised scheme proposes 297 in curtilage 
parking spaces and 40 visitor spaces from a combination of layby’s and on street 
parking. An additional 13 spaces are proposed for garaging. As such, the parking 
requirements of the County Council’s Design Guide are met.   

 
14.19 To conclude on this topic, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in relation 

to policy S22 of the ALP and advice contained within the NPPF.  
 
15.0 Flooding and Drainage 
 
15.1 Policy S29 of the ALPP1 directs development away from areas at risk from 

flooding, and seeks to ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere, requiring full 
consideration of the surface water drainage hierarchy.  

 
15.2 The proposal site lies within Flood Zone 1, which is land at the lowest probability 

to flooding.  
 

Page 61



15.3 The application has been accompanied by an updated Flood Risk Assessment 
and Drainage Strategy. The submitted information confirms that, at the pre-
application stage, the LLFA requested surface water be restricted to 5 
litres/sec/ha to reflect current greenfield run-off rates. This equates to 23.8 l/s 
and flows from the development are proposed to be restricted to this rate.  

 
15.4 It is submitted that infiltration will not be suitable on the site following some initial 

tests. A connection to the ordinary watercourse in the north-west corner of the 
site is possible and a Sketch Drainage Layout has been provided to demonstrate 
the proposed details of the scheme.  

 
15.5 Attenuation will be included in the system in the form of a basin that will also 

provide treatment prior to discharge to the ordinary watercourse. Flow controls 
are proposed to limit the outfall at the basin outlet. The hydraulic calculations 
included indicate the flows from the development can be restricted to 23.8 l/s in 
all events up to the 100 year (including 40% climate change allowance). 

 
15.6 The proposed pond structure will be 1.8m maximum depth, battered to 1 in 3, 

with vegetation to the perimeter. The submission indicates that the pond 
structure will hold a small amount of water at all times, with levels fluctuating 
depending on rainfall. The submission confirms that the pond is in accordance 
with C753 SUDS manual. The submitted report suggests that a survey of the 
condition of the existing watercourse will be necessary before finalising details.  

 
15.7 The proposal indicates that foul drainage will connect to the main sewer and 

United Utilities has raised no objection to this. Off-site foul sewers are proposed 
along Harringdale Road to make a connection to the existing 225mm dia. foul 
sewer just prior to the junction with Scaw Road. The foul connection will involve 
crossing third party land and an easement will be required; if such an easement 
cannot be negotiated the sewer may have to be installed via a Sewer 
Requisition. 

 
15.8 United Utilities and the Lead Local Flood Authority have raised no objections to 

this aspect of the proposal subject to appropriate conditions to secure details of 
surface water drainage and its management/maintenance.  

 
15.9 In providing for attenuation of a 1 in 100 year event plus allowance for climate 

change, the proposal is considered to take an appropriate and reasonable 
approach to addressing flood risk and no concerns/objections have been raised 
by the Local Lead Flood Authority. As such, the proposal is considered to be 
acceptable in relation to policy S29 of the ALPP1, subject to conditions to secure 
a surface water drainage system that achieves the specification outlined above, 
as well as conditions to secure its management and maintenance.  A further 
condition is included to survey the receiving watercourse. Whilst the concerns of 
residents are noted relating to off site flooding issues, the advice of the technical 
drainage bodies is that the development is acceptable.  

 
16.0 Landscape and Visual Effects 
 

Page 62



16.1 Policy S33 of the ALPP1 seeks to protect, conserve and enhance the landscape 
character and local distinctiveness of the Plan Area and supports the NPPF aim 
to recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside (paragraph 
174). Policies S4 and DM14 of the ALPP1, seek to ensure amongst other things 
that new development responds positively to the character and distinctiveness of 
the location and integrates effectively and policy S24 seeks to ensure that regard 
is had to how the development retains green infrastructure.  

 
16.2 The applicant has provided an updated Landscape and Visual Assessment of the 

site.  
 
16.3 The site is not located within any nationally important landscape designations. 

The LVA confirms that the site lies in the West Cumbria Coastal Plain at the 
national level and within the landscape character type ‘5d - Urban Fringe’, as 
defined in the document ‘Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit’. 
Urban Fringe’ is described as areas which have experienced long term urban 
influences on agricultural land, with large scale buildings and industrial estates 
being common, and valleys, restored woodland and semi-urbanised woodland 
providing interest. The Toolkit indicates that intact field patterns of farmland 
reinforced by hedges and hedgerow trees are sensitive to changes in land 
management and settlement expansion. Open green spaces and fields close to 
settlement edges are sensitive to unsympathetic development. In terms of 
development, the Toolkit states: 

 

 The tendencies for urban development to further encroach on the countryside 
and for agriculture to suffer from vandalism and pressures for access. 

 Housing development on sensitive ridges can often lack the soft landscaping 
needed to help integrate it into the wider landscape. 

 Expansion of villages can lead to a lack of identity and poor definition 
between town and country. 

 Green infrastructure provides an opportunity to seek enhancements to the 
landscape, biodiversity and cultural heritages adjacent to urban areas and to 
create green corridors between settlements. 

 
16.4 The site does not adjoin any public right of way, the nearest being on the 

opposite site of the A597 adjacent to Whins Close. Views of the proposal will be 
visible from this footpath, as well as for pedestrians and drivers passing the site 
along Main Road and Charity Lane, and from resident’s private gardens and the 
residential streets immediately surrounding the site to the north and west.  

 
16.5 The application site is presently part of a network of fields comprising the open 

countryside that surrounds High Harrington. As it lies immediately adjacent to 
modern housing development to three boundaries and the A597, its urban fringe 
characteristics are notable. This urban fringe quality is emphasised by the 
presence of industrial and educational facilities further south at Lakes College 
and Lillyhall. Whilst the Landscape Character Toolkit notes the risk of 
development further eroding the countryside, which this development would do to 
its physical extent, it would do so in a relatively contained manner. The proposed 
boundary treatment would provide a definitive line to the edge of the built form to 
the south and an adequate physical separation of open land would remain 

Page 63



between the village and the industrial/educational facilities to the south at 
Lillyhall. As such, it is not considered that the proposal would result in sprawl.  

 
16.6 Whilst there would be an obvious change in the landscape character of the site 

itself, this impact would be localised within an area that is not highly sensitive to 
change. As such, the broader landscape character impacts of the proposal are 
not considered to be significant, noting that the site is allocated for housing and 
has an extant permission for housing on a not dissimilar scale.  

 
16.7 Land levels across the site slope upwards from the north west corner to the south 

east, (approx. 66.5 – 80.6m AOD). Beyond the southern boundary, levels fall and 
plateau to a degree before rising further south. As a result, when travelling south 
along Main Road, the proposal would be viewed as continuing housing 
development through High Harrington as the road rises up to the south.  When 
travelling from the south, the southern line of housing proposed will be visible 
over the crest of the hill, where housing to the east of the A597 is not particularly 
visible at present. This will be similar to the visibility of the farmhouse and farm 
buildings at Whins Farm on the opposite side of the road, but extending to the 
east.  

 
16.8 It is considered that this will be the most notable visual change resulting from the 

development from the surrounding area, experienced by pedestrians and drivers 
on the A597. This change is likely to be more noticeable as a result of the current 
scheme, because the density of the proposed housing to the southern boundary 
is increasing, so that there is a reduction to a degree in openness through the 
built form, along with an increase in finished floor levels and resulting increase in 
overall height of these units.    

 
16.9 Whilst this change will be notable and will bring the urban edge of High 

Harrington onto the crest of the hill, it is not considered that the resulting visual 
impact would be significant on the basis that the visual qualities of the immediate 
locality are not high, hedgerows and intervening trees along the A597 will 
partially restrict and soften views and where more open views are available, the 
development will sit within a relatively wide ranging open aspect, taking up only a 
portion of the view at a relatively low lying scale. Visual receptors will have a 
more obvious awareness of entering an urban environment, when approaching 
from the south, due to the presence of the housing stretching east from the A597.  

 
16.10 Having regard to the submitted LVA and the relevant policies of the Plan, whilst 

the impacts will be somewhat greater over and above the approved scheme, the 
landscape and visual impacts of the development are not considered to be 
significant.  

 
16.11 The visual impacts of the proposal on residential receptors, will be considered 

separately below.  
 
17.0 Design/Appearance 
 
17.1 Policies S4 and DM14 of the ALPP1 seek to ensure a high quality of design in 

new development and incorporate criteria addressing a number of design issues, 

Page 64



including responding positively to the character and distinctiveness of an area, 
integration, connectivity, appropriate scale, and so on. The NPPF has been 
updated in July 2021 and requires that the design of streets, parking areas, other 
transport elements reflects current national guidance, including the National 
Design Guide and the National Model Design Code. Further paragraph 126 of 
the NPPF states that, ‘The creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable 
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve’. Paragraph 134 states that, ‘Development that is not 
well designed should be refused, especially where it fails to reflect local design 
policies and government guidance on design’. The NPPF now requires Councils 
to produce local design guidance, but as this requirement has only just been 
introduced, no local design guidance is available at present. Finally, newly 
introduced paragraph 131 states, ‘Trees make an important contribution to the 
character and quality of urban environments, and can also help mitigate and 
adapt to climate change. Planning policies and decisions should ensure that new 
streets are tree-lined, that opportunities are taken to incorporate trees elsewhere 
in developments (such as parks and community orchards), that appropriate 
measures are in place to secure the long-term maintenance of newly-planted 
trees, and that existing trees are retained wherever possible’. 

 
17.2 The proposal provides for a relatively typical housing estate layout, the approach 

being dictated to some extent by the singular access point from Main Road and 
level changes across the site. The layout generally follows a looped road that 
extends from and returns to the one access point.  The proposal provides for a 
mix of standard house types and sizes, generally with in-curtilage parking to the 
front or side, some integral garaging, front or side driveways and private rear 
gardens. One area utilises a rear courtyard for parking. The proposal provides for 
two main areas of Public Open Space, one centrally positioned providing an 
equipped area of play and one to the western portion of the site, near the site 
entrance, as well as the area of the sustainable urban drainage pond.  The 
proposal incorporates new tree planting through the proposed estate and 
additional hedging to the southern boundary where the development adjoins the 
open countryside.     

 
17.3 New housing plots to Main Road will present positively onto this existing highway 

and on entering the site, the Public Open Space (POS) to the western side of the 
highway will form an attractive area. The plans indicate some low level toddler 
climbing equipment (low level climbing logs/stepping stones) and possibly a seat, 
the details of which can be secured by condition. Amendments to the scheme 
have been secured to ensure that internally, housing presents positively onto the 
highway (rather than blank gables), as well as a reduction in frontage parking 
that had the potential to dominate the street scene. Due to the increased density, 
there is still a reliance on frontage parking but this is now considered to be to an 
acceptable level, particularly as the plans indicate frontage tree planting to most 
plots, which will help to break up such car dominance as trees mature. The 
density and a change in house types (that generally introduces a more consistent 
and uniform roof design than previously approved house types) is also likely to 
reduce openness within the site/between the housing, however, amendments 
have been made in this area also, and comparison street elevations provided 
and the amended details now provided are considered to be acceptable.   

Page 65



 
17.4 The second POS is located centrally to the site and amendments have secured 

better permeability within the estate to this area. Nearby housing faces directly 
onto this area which is positive in terms of urban design and for reducing anti-
social behaviour.  

  
17.5 Internally to the site, the proposal is considered to provide for a good standard of 

housing environment overall for future residents, providing adequate separation 
distances, external amenity space, in curtilage parking and public open space for 
future residents. There are some plots where rear elevations facing side gables 
of other plots fall to around 10m, but the applicant is satisfied that these plots will 
remain attractive. Should members be minded to approve the proposal, a 
condition is recommended relating to the approval of groundworks/retaining 
structures to internal boundaries, to ensure that the standard of housing 
environment for future residents is not adversely impacted by overly high 
retaining and boundary walls where there are notable level changes. 

 
17.6 In design terms, the proposal is considered to respond appropriately to the 

character of High Harrington, which has some limited older development to its 
main through routes, but which has been extended by large scale housing 
estates dating back to the 1970’s. Materials are predominantly brick, with some 
use of render to gables and key plots. Again, given the locality, this is considered 
to be acceptable.  

 
17.7 There is limited permeability through the site to existing housing to the north and 

east, but attempts have been made to improve permeability over and above the 
approved scheme, by indicating a pedestrian only link to Beaufort Avenue to the 
north. However, it is understood that this link beyond the site will be reliant on 
land not within the applicant’s control and not part of the adopted highway and so 
its delivery cannot be guaranteed. Similar to the possible links provided from 
Phase 2 of Strawberry Grange, Cockermouth, through to the Slate Fell Estate, 
the Council can condition that the footpath is laid up to the site boundary, 
unrestricted by fencing within the site, to allow for this possibility, but it cannot 
insist on the delivery of the link given that it involves some land beyond the site, 
not within the applicant’s control.    

 
17.8 However, the scheme is not dependent on such a route, because connections to 

the north and east would not necessarily improve the connectivity of the site to 
existing services and amenities (which are mainly accessed along Main Road).  
As such, the lack of permeability in this instance does not raise any significant 
concerns.   

 
17.9 A noise report has been provided on the basis that future residents could 

potentially be impacted by existing noise, principally that arising from motorists 
on the A597. The report recommends mitigation measures, principally relating to 
acoustic fencing to plots within 180m of the main road. A condition requiring 
these measures to be incorporated into the scheme is recommended.  

 
17.10 Policy SA5 requires that for developments of 10 units or more, 20% of the 

dwellings must be designed and constructed to meet the requirements set out in 

Page 66



optional Building Requirement M4(2) (or any national equivalent standard should 
these regulations be subsequently reviewed). All residential developments over 
30 units must ensure that 5% of the total units (across both market and 
affordable dwellings) should be designed and constructed to meet optional 
Building Requirement M4(3) ensuring that the dwellings are wheelchair 
adaptable. The proposal is policy complaint in this respect.  

 
17.10 As such, the proposal is considered to have sufficient regard to its context and 

provide a good quality of housing environment for future residents in accordance 
with policies S4 and DM14 and advice contained within the NPPF.   

 
18.0 Residential Amenity 
 
18.1 A number of policies of the ALPP1 and principally Policy S32 seek to protect the 

amenity of existing residents to an acceptable standard.  
 
18.2 The proposal has the potential to impact principally on those residential 

properties to the western, northern and eastern boundaries of the site.   
 
18.3 To the eastern boundary of the site lies Seadown Drive, properties bordering the 

site are both single and two storey, some with rear additions that vary in size and 
scale.  Resident correspondence indicates that these rear rooms and associated 
windows and doors serve the main habitable living areas for these houses.  

 
18.4 Along the eastern boundary, the amended scheme proposes two storey units, 

mainly detached, but with two pairs of semi’s. Main back to back distances 
between existing and proposed housing would be a minimum of 20.2m (plot 39 – 
42 Seadown Drive), increasing up to approx. 26m, with the finished floor levels of 
the proposed housing following the contour of the land, as do the existing 
houses. The existing boundary hedge would be retained. Amendments to the 
scheme have removed units from this boundary that included a third floor and 
increased separation distances from a minimum of 18m back to back. The 
minimum separation distance for the amended scheme is slightly less than the 
previously approved scheme, where separation distances ranged from 21.5 to 
28m along this boundary.  

 
18.5 Sections F, G and H relate to this boundary and indicate that existing properties 

on Seadown Drive will be at a higher finished floor level than the proposed 
housing. Whilst Officers note the request that existing bungalows at the top of 
Seadown Drive should be faced with bungalows within the development, officers 
consider that given the land levels are somewhat lower on site, the proposed 
separation distances are acceptable, noting that 21m as a main to main distance 
is used as a general rule of thumb. The existing hedgerow and boundary 
treatment would ensure no significant level of overlooking at ground floor level 
and whilst there is the potential for these existing dwellings to be overlooked to a 
degree from first floor bedroom windows, this is not an uncommon situation and 
at the separation distances proposed, the level of overlooking is not considered 
to be significant.  

 

Page 67



18.6 The sectional drawings and proposed street scenes have been used in 
conjunction with the separation distances to assess the impact on outlook and 
over-dominance and overshadowing/loss of light. Clearly there will be a change 
for residents in terms of their outlook as an open view across fields will be 
replaced by housing.  However, loss of a private view is not the material test, it is 
whether the impact on outlook is so dominating and overbearing or overshadows 
to such a degree that it is deemed to be ‘significant’.  

 
18.7 As indicated above, the separation distances are generally considered to be 

acceptable and the levels on site are somewhat lower than on Seadown Drive. 
The plots along the eastern boundary are close together, usually with only a 
2.0m side to side separation distance, increasing to 4.5 at plots 38 and 40 where 
side garages have been introduced through amendment. Further amendment 
has been the introduction of a hip to the roof of the Milford House type. These 
small changes have either reduced the massing of the units or created an 
improved separation to some plots to allow views through. The comparison street 
scene drawings demonstrate that the physical massing and height of these units 
to the eastern boundary will not be significantly greater than the previously 
approved scheme. Given the separation distances achieved and that the height 
and massing is not significantly greater than the approved scheme, this 
relationship to offsite properties to the east is considered to be acceptable. There 
will be an impact on amenity, including outlook, privacy and light, but these are 
not considered to be significant impacts sufficient to warrant refusal.  

 
 
18.8 To the northern boundary of the site lie properties on Beaufort Avenue and 

Harringdale Road. Land levels generally fall to the north and so the housing on 
the application site will be positioned at a higher level.  

 
18.9 In relation to 1, 3, 5, 7, 9, 11 and 24 Beaufort Avenue, main back to back 

distances will be approx. 32m and main to side distances will be at least 20m. 
Existing boundary hedging and trees would be retained at this point. Two storey 
units are proposed along this section of the northern boundary, with no third floor 
in the roof (following amendment). As such, the separation distances proposed 
are considered to be sufficient to ensure these neighbouring properties are not 
significantly adversely affected by way of overlooking, overshadowing or 
overdominance, the additional separation distance is considered sufficient to 
address the higher level of the proposed housing, illustrated by Section E.   

 
18.10 In relation to 23, 25, 27, 29, 31, 33, 35, 37, 39 and 100 Harringdale Road, there 

will continue to be a level difference, up to approx.. 2.0m higher on the 
application site. Main back to back separation distances will be a minimum of 
25.5m, which is a reduction on the approved scheme, which achieved 27m main 
to main separation. Main to side distances will be at least 19m. However, it is 
noted that the proposal has reduced finished floor levels over and above the 
approved scheme by between 0.5 and 0.9m in this area. A mature hedge and 
some trees will be retained to this boundary, with the exception of no.33 
Harringdale Road which has an open boundary with only a mesh fence.  

 

Page 68



18.11 Having assessed the section drawings and level changes, the separation 
distances to off site properties, and the separation distances between the 
proposed dwellings within the development in terms of density/massing, along 
with the existing boundary treatment, trees and hedgerow, the layout as 
proposed in relation to these existing northern boundary properties is considered 
to be generally acceptable. Similarly to properties on Seadown Drive, there will 
be a marked change in outlook for these residents, and in this case, the scale 
and massing of the proposed two storey houses will be emphasised by the rising 
land levels. However, as separation distances range between 25 – 29m, and 
noting the boundary treatment to the site, the impact is not considered to be 
significantly harmful to amenity.  

 
18.12 The exception is the relationship of plot 15 and 33 Harringdale Road. Whilst a 

back to back separation distance of 25.8m is achieved, the plans indicate a level 
patio to the rear of this plot which is only 6-7m from the shared boundary. 
Without any meaningful established planting to this shared boundary, the 
proposal has the potential to result in overlooking towards the rear elevation of 
33 Harringdale Road and its private garden.    

 
18.13 A 1.8m fence is proposed to this boundary, but there are concerns that views 

would be possible over this fence, given the level change. Similarly to the 
previously approved scheme, it is considered appropriate to secure by condition 
that, notwithstanding the submitted plans, details of the contouring of this garden 
and details of any patio/terrace be submitted to ensure it is reduced in a manner 
that would not result in significant overlooking to no.33, and that additional 
planting be provided to this boundary to improve the effectiveness of screening.   

 
18.14 To the western boundary, the site adjoins properties on Crooklands and Main 

Road. There are marked level changes towards the southern section of the site 
towards this boundary (with the application site at a higher level, but these level 
changes gradually tail off and are less noticeable towards the northern 
section/boundary of the site). Due to the juxtaposition of existing properties on 
Crooklands with the proposed plots on the site, the less notable level change and 
the separation distances proposed, the proposed development is not considered 
to have a significant adverse impact on the residential amenity of these 
properties.  

 
18.15 The rear of 143a main Road lies very close to the boundary with the site. The re-

positioning of open space to the area at the rear of 143a along with a bungalow 
on the closest plot, is considered sufficient to ensure that this proposal is not 
adversely affected.   

 
18.16 Further to the amended plans provided and subject to the condition suggested 

relating to plot 15, it is considered that the impacts on the residential amenity of 
neighbouring properties will not be significant and will not be significantly different 
from the previously approved scheme and therefore in this respect, the proposal 
is acceptable in relation to policy S32 of the ALPP1.  

 
19.0 Biodiversity 
 

Page 69



19.1 Policy S35 of the ALPP1 seeks to maintain and improve conditions for 
biodiversity and the protection of sites and species according to their level of 
importance.  

 
19.2 The application has been supported by an Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey and 

additional surveys for bats and red squirrels.  Paragraph 174 of the NPPF 
requires that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by, amongst other things, minimising impacts on and 
providing net gains for biodiversity.  

 
19.3 The site mainly consists of grazing land intersected by hedgerow. The submitted 

ecological appraisal indicates the primary interest in the habitat on site relates to 
bats, red squirrels and birds, with some potential for use by badgers also. It 
states that whilst bats are foraging across the site, no bat roosting potential within 
the site was recorded, other than in one tree, T14, which is to be retained. 
Similarly for red squirrels, whilst there are a number of records of red squirrels 
within the locality, no dreys were detected on site. The report therefore concludes 
with a number of mitigation measures, including pre-construction commencement 
checks on site for badgers, hedgehogs and red squirrels, removal of hedgerow 
and grassland outside of the bird breeding season (or checking onsite by a 
qualified ecologist no more than 48 hours before commencing), bat sensitive 
lighting. 

 
19.4 Subject to a suitably worded condition to secure these proposed mitigation 

measures, it is considered that the proposal would not have any significant 
adverse effects on ecological interests.  

 
19.5 Policy DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan seeks to protect trees and hedgerows 

where they are important to a community, have a positive impact on the 
character of the area or have nature conservation value. Proposals that involve 
felling/removal, will be resisted unless acceptable mitigation or compensation 
measures can be secured. The revised NPPF requires planning decisions that 
minimise impacts and provide net gains for biodiversity.  

 
19.6 The application has been supported by an Arboricultural Report and Impact 

Assessment, and an Arboricultural Method Statement and an Ecological 
Appraisal Report and addendum, which contains a Hedgerow Assessment.   

 
19.7 The information provided indicates no hedgerow removal to the boundaries of the 

site with the exception of the site frontage where the new access is proposed and 
visibility splays are required, triggering the removal of the existing hedge. Tree 
removal is largely required where trees fall within the hedgerows to be removed, 
which transect the site. 

 
19.8 The Arboricultural Impact Assessment confirms the removal of four individual 

trees, three groups of trees (totalling nine trees), three whole hedgerows and 
sections of three further hedgerows. Of the trees/hedgerows for removal, Tree 
T2, Tree group G30 and hedgerow H1 are deemed to be Category B, Moderate 
Quality, the remainder are Class C or U. No Category A trees would be 
impacted.   

Page 70



 
19.9 The Ecology Appraisal confirms that the proposed development will result in the 

loss of approximately 450 metres of hedgerow. The report confirms that the four 
affected hedgerows are not classified as ‘Important Hedges’ under the Hedgerow 
Regulations 1997 with respect to wildlife and the landscape (it is noted that an 
assessment of historic or archaeological evidence has not been made). To 
provide compensation for the loss of trees/hedgerow identified, the report goes 
on to confirm that the proposed soft landscaping plan will provide 585m of 
replacement native hedgerow, mainly to the southern boundary of the site, and 
will include the planting of 91 trees throughout the new estate. The introduction of 
the SUDS pond will provide a further element of biodiversity enhancement.  

 
 
19.10 Whilst the proposal has not been assessed using the biodiversity metric, the 

proposal delivers a greater level of compensatory hedgerow and tree planting 
than the previously approved scheme and is considered to be acceptable.  

 
19.11 Having regard to the level of compensation proposed in terms of landscaping, the 

proposal is considered to be acceptable in relation to policies DM14 and DM17 of 
the ALPP1.  

 

20.0 Housing Mix/Affordable Housing 
 
20.1 The proposal is considered to provide an acceptable range of house sizes in 

accordance with policy S7 of the ALPP1. 
 
20.2 Policy SA3 of the ALPP2 requires that, in Workington, developments of this scale 

will be required to provide 20% affordable housing provision, with a tenure mix of 
50% social rented and 50% intermediate housing. The policy includes that, ‘in 
some cases viability of housing sites can be marginal and therefore a flexible 
approach is required. Where the viability of schemes fall short of the policy 
requirements, the onus will be on the developer/ landowner to clearly 
demonstrate the circumstances justifying a lower affordable housing contribution 
or a different tenure mix’.   

 
20.3 The proposal was originally submitted with a 5% offer of affordable housing units 

(equating to 6 units) for discounted sale. The Council has sought a peer review of 
the Viability Statement provided by Story Homes to support this offer. The peer 
review has been undertaken on behalf of the Council by Keppie Massey 
chartered surveyors. This process has involved a detailed assessment of the 
costs (including land value) and revenues likely to be generated by the 
development, including an appropriate developer profit, to establish the quantum 
of affordable provision that can be delivered whilst retaining a viable scheme.  

 
20.4 Following discussions and the provision of further information in this respect, the 

affordable housing offer has increased to 10%. The proposal now provides an 
amended affordable housing scheme of 8 units for discounted rent (4 x 3 bed 
houses and 4 x 2 bed houses), and 4 units for discounted sale (2 x 2 bed 
bungalows and 3 x 3 bed houses). Whilst this falls below the policy requirement 
of Policy SA3, the peer review from Keppie Massey does advise that the updated 

Page 71



information provided justifies this shortfall in provision on scheme viability 
grounds.  

 
20.5 However, Keppie Massey have recommended that the legal agreement include a 

re-appraisal mechanism. Such a mechanism would seek a review of scheme 
viability in the event that there is an uplift in sales revenues, beyond those 
anticipated within the viability information provided thus far. Any agreement 
would seek to additional affordable provision, if this re-appraisal demonstrates 
viability with a higher percentage of affordable housing provision.  This would 
most likely be in the form of a commuted sum for use off-site. The full details of 
such a mechanism would have to be agreed with the applicant as part of the 
s106 negotiations.  

 
20.6 The recommendation for this mechanism has been relayed to the applicants and 

representations from Shoosmith’s LLP have been made on the applicant’s 
behalf. This correspondence raised concerns that any re-appraisal could not look 
at sales revenues alone, and would need to re-look at viability overall. It 
questioned whether a scheme of this size warranted such a mechanism given a 
build period of less than five years, and it argued that if the findings of the 
Viability Appraisal are accepted at this point, then in order to give certainty, this 
position needs to be fixed. Officers have subsequently replied to this 
correspondence and the applicant has confirmed that albeit they continue to 
have some concerns in terms of detail and how this mechanism will would work 
in practice, they accept that the detailed negotiations of the s106 should clarify 
matters.  As, such, their response concludes that if CIL 122 compliant, they 
would be willing to engage in discussions regarding a re-appraisal mechanism as 
part of the drafting of the s106 agreement.   

 

20.7 Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 requires 
that planning obligations (secured through a s106 agreement) should be: 

 

 necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

 directly related to the development; and 

 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

  

20.8 It is considered that the re-appraisal mechanism is necessary in this case, on the 
basis that the scheme is not policy compliant in terms of the delivery of affordable 
housing. Whilst the viability evidence available at this time, justifies a lower 
provision of 10%, a re-appraisal mechanism would secure the capture a greater 
affordable housing provision, should there be an uplift overall.  
 

20.9 The obligation would be directly related to the development. 
 

20.10 The detailed discussions to follow would need to ensure that the terms of the 
legal agreement were fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development.  

 
20.11 On the basis of this advice from Keppie Massey, the 10% affordable housing 

provision is considered to be acceptable with regards to policy SA3, providing 

Page 72



this is secured by a legal agreement which includes the recommended re-
appraisal mechanism.  
 

21.0 Play Provision/Amenity Green Space 
 
21.1 Policy S25 of the ALPP1 requires that new residential development makes 

provision for well-designed public open space, either through on site provision of 
new open space or by financial contribution to enhance or create off site 
provision of public open space. DM14 specifies that new development should 
include high quality landscaping. The Council has an adopted Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) that sets out requirements for open space provision, 
differentiating between amenity greenspace and provision for children and young 
people. For residential developments of over 80 units, the SPD indicates that 
provision for both should be on site.  

 
21.2 For amenity greenspace, the SPD specifies 15m2 per dwelling, equating to a 

requirement here of 1845m2. For children/young people, the requirement is 1.34 
m2 per dwelling, equating to 165 m2.  

 
21.3 The proposal provides for approx. 1,747 m2 of public open space, consisting of 

two areas, one centrally and one to the western section of the site near to the 
entrance. Additional open space is provided via the proposed pond, which is an 
additional 2415sqm, totalling 4162sqm. The proposed SUDS pond, would be 
fenced and therefore not publicly accessible. However, the pond would still 
provide a biodiversity role, which the SPD accepts to be a function of open 
space, not simply for public amenity. With the inclusion of the pond, the SPD 
requirements for amenity greenspace would be exceeded.  

 
 
21.4 The centrally located POS would contain an equipped play space, measuring 

approx. 123m2. This provision falls short of the required standard of 165sqm, 
however the equipped play space, which would be fenced and equipped, sits 
within a wider area of open space and the designated equipped play space for 
children and young people could be accommodated. A minimum area can be 
controlled by condition, along with the timing of delivery. Delivery after the 
construction of the 80th Plot is considered to be appropriate as this equipped play 
space sits adjacent to phase 9a of the build, which totals 80 units. In terms of the 
equipment provided, given the size of the estate, it is considered appropriate that 
the area should provide at least four pieces of equipment  and should meet the 
needs of a broader age range of children that just toddlers. As detailed 
information has not been provided, officers have recommended a condition be 
attached to any permission granted that would secure a minimum of four 
individual pieces of play equipment (excluding seating and bin) that provide for 
an age range of both 0-5 year olds and 5-9 year olds. The play area is located 
centrally within the site and fenced, and would be well overlooked in terms of 
security. As the play area lies adjacent to plot frontages which are public areas, 
the layout arrangements are considered to be acceptable and are similar to 
arrangements at the Whins Close development.  

 

Page 73



21.5 Officers have requested a more defined function to the proposed open space to 
the western portion of the site. The amended details now indicate a meandering 
path, with seat adjacent and small toddler climbing equipment (wooden logs and 
boulders), similar to those incorporated successfully at Strawberry How. Full 
details of these arrangements would also be secured by condition.   

 
21.6 Subject to these conditions, the proposals for amenity greenspace and equipped 

play are considered to be acceptable in relation to policy S25 of the ALPP1 and 
the adopted SPD.  

  
22.0 Education Provision 
 
22.1 Similarly to the existing planning permission for the site, Cumbria County Council 

(CCC) has concluded that the likely pupil yield from the development can be 
accommodated by local schools at the primary and secondary level and therefore 
no financial contributions are required.  

 
22.2 On the basis of the Education Authority’s advice, it is considered that places exist 

within the statutory walking distance and therefore no commuted sums are 
required relating to the upgrade of local schools or for school transport.  

 
22.3 It is noted that there are a number of representations raising concerns with the 

direction of children to Distington School, particularly relating to the safety of the 
walking route. This was raised as part of the previous application also. Further 
consultation was undertaken with the County Council as a result of this as part of 
the previous application and the Traffic Management Team has confirmed that 
the pedestrian route from the application site to Distington village for school 
children is considered to be a ‘safe’ route. A pedestrian footpath extends the full 
length of the A597 to its eastern side, where traffic lights cross the A595. A 
guardrail footpath then extends around the roundabout to where the unclassified 
and B road routes off the roundabout can be crossed.  

 
22.4 To conclude on this matter, based on the advice of CCC, there are considered to 

be adequate places available within nearby schools and that particularly in 
relation to Distington school, the walking route is advised to be ‘safe’.  

 
22.5 A response to the application has also been raised by the MP for Allerdale, which 

challenges the modelling approach to education provision taken by Cumbria 
County Council. This response has been forwarded to Cumbria County Council 
for comment. No response has been received to date. However, it is not 
considered appropriate to challenge the Education Authority’s approach to 
determining availability of places through an individual planning application. This 
should be addressed at a strategic level.  

 
23.0 Ground Conditions 
 
23.1 The application has been supported by a Phase 1 Desk Top Study and Phase 2 

Site Appraisal, the latter concluding that the site does not require remediation in 
terms of potential contamination or ground gas migration.  The Council’s 
Environmental Health Officer has not sought the inclusion of any further 

Page 74



conditions in relation to ground conditions and therefore the proposal is 
considered to be acceptable with regard to relevant policies of the ALPP1 and 
the advice contained within the NPPF in this context.   

 
23.2 Heritage/Archaeology 
 
23.3 Policy S27 of the ALPP1 seeks to protect heritage assets to a level appropriate 

to their significance. The application is supported by an archaeological desk-
based assessment and geophysical survey of the site. The results indicate that 
there is a low potential for archaeological assets to be disturbed by the 
construction of the proposed development. The County Archaeologist has 
concluded that the information provided is sufficient and no further conditions are 
recommended.   

 
23.4 There are no other heritage assets within the locality of such proximity that they 

would be impacted by the proposal. 
 
23.5 The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable in relation to policy S27 of 

the ALPP1.  
 
 

Local Financial Considerations 
 
24.0 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal has 

possible financial implications in terms of the New Homes Bonus and Council 
Tax Revenue.  

 

 

 Conclusions 

25.0 High Harrington lies within the Principal Service Centre for the Borough within the  
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (ALPP1), to which the major new development is 
directed, including the largest proportion of new housing. The provision of an 
additional 123 dwellings would contribute to and not exceed the requirement to be 
provided by the Principle Centre. As an allocation for housing within Part 2 of the 
Plan and an extant permission, the principle of housing at this location has been 
deemed to be acceptable. This scale of development is considered to be 
appropriate to the size of the settlement and the role it has been allocated as the 
Principle Centre within the adopted ALPP1. 

 
25.1    Whilst representations have been received raising a number of concerns, 

particularly relating to the adjacent highway and drainage/flood risk, the advice 
from both the Highways Authority/Lead Local Flood Authority and Highways 
England is that the adjacent highway network is capable of accommodating the 
development without raising any significant concerns and that the drainage details 
are acceptable in principle, with full details to be conditioned.     

 
25.2    The proposal is not considered to have significant landscape and visual impacts 

from within the wider area, and the design of the scheme is considered to be 
compatible with the locality. Further to the amendments provided, and subject to a 

Page 75



number of conditions, the impact of the proposal is on the existing residents 
adjoining the site is considered to be acceptable.  

 
25.3    Adverse impacts of the proposal principally relate to the loss of greenfield land 

and the resulting encroachment into the open countryside, loss of established 
hedgerows and some detriment to existing field patterns. The proposal will have 
other impacts that will be ‘adverse’, such as increased traffic movements to local 
roads, an adverse change in the outlook for nearby residents, as set out above. 
Whilst these impacts are adverse impacts of the development, none are 
considered to be significant, and the allocation of the site for housing has accepted 
the loss of this greenfield site.   

 
25.4    The proposal will provide for 123 additional homes, contributing to one of the key 

objectives of the NPPF to provide sufficient housing to meet existing and future 
needs. The proposal would contribute to strategic objective SO2c of the ALPP1, 
which seeks to ensure a deliverable supply of housing land that meets the needs 
of the community and local economy.  The proposal would provide for additional 
affordable housing, increasing access to affordable housing, in accordance with 
strategic objective SO2d of the ALPP1.  The provision of additional housing would 
have economic benefits arising from further investment in the construction industry 
and the associated retention of jobs directly and indirectly within the supply chain.   

 

25.5    The proposal is considered to accord with the Allerdale Local Plan Parts 1 and 2 
when taken as a whole. The recommendation is for approval subject to the 
recommended conditions and the signing of a s106 agreement to secure delivery 
of the affordable housing provision and re-appraisal mechanism, and the Travel 
Plan monitoring fee.  

 

Page 76



Annex 1 

CONDITIONS 
 
Time Limit: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 
 Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
 
In Accordance: 
  
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following plans: 
Location Plan Rev A 20011-LOC 

Revised application form, Section 3 – Change to description of development 
Highways and Drainage layout drawing number 30094/1 rev C, received 6th 
May 2021 
Existing & Proposed levels layout drawing number 30094/103 rev D, received 
6th May 2021 
Construction Management Plan 20011-CMP rev B, received 6th May 2021 
Management Company Plan Drawing number 20011-MAN01 rev B, received 
6th May 2021 
Proposed parking layout drawing number 20011-PL01 rev E, received 6th May 
2021 
Proposed site layout drawing number 20011-PL01 rev E, received 6th May 
2021 
Site Sections drawing number 20011-SS01 rev B, received 6th May 2021 
Boundary Treatments drawing number 20011-BT01 rev D, received 6th May 
2021 
Elevation Treatments drawing number 20011-ET01 rev C, received 6th May 
2021 
Existing property stand-off plan drawing number 20011-SP01 rev B received 
6th May 2021 
Hard Surfaces Layout drawing number 20011-HS01 rev C, received 6th May 
2021 
Milford House Type Booklet, received 6th May 2021 
Wexford House Type Booklet received 6th May 2021.  
Robinson House Type Booklet, received 6th May 2021.  
Branford House Type Booklet received 6th May 2021 
Hartford House Type Booklet received 6th May 2021.  
Pearson House Type booklet 
Sanderson House Type Booklet 
Emmerson House Type Booklet 
Baxter House Type Booklet 
Spencer House Type Booklet 
Harper House Type Booklet 
Carney House Type Booklet  
Scottish Garage Booklet, received 6th May 2021 

Page 77



Materials Samples, received 6th May 2021.  
External Plot Finishes Booklet (Boundary Treatments) received 6th May 2021 
General Arrangement drawing number UG_699_LAN_GA-DRW_01 rev P05, 
received 6th May 2021 
Soft Landscape plan sheet 1 of 4 drawing number 
UG_699_LAN_SL_DRW_03 rev P05 received 6th May 2021 
Soft Landscape plan sheet 2 of 4 drawing number 
UG_699_LAN_SL_DRW_04 rev P05 received 6th May 2021 
Soft Landscape plan sheet 3 of 4 drawing number 
UG_699_LAN_SL_DRW_05 rev P05 received 6th May 2021 
Soft Landscape Plan sheet 4 of 4 drawing number 
UG_699_LAN_SL_DRW_06 rev P05 received 6th May 2021 
Drawing BD100 Proprietary Field Gate 
Arboricultural Method Statement drawing number UG_699_ARB_AMS_01 rev 
00 Arboricultural Method Statement drawing number UG_699_ARB-AMS_02 
rev 00 Arboricultural Method Statement drawing number UG_699_ARB-
AMS_03 rev 02  Arboricultural Method Statement drawing number 
UG_699_ARB_AMS_03 rev 00 
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy – dated October 2020 
Noise Assessment report v10, RS Acoustics Ltd, dated 26.04.2021 
Travel plan, TPS dated April 2021 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment, Urban Green, dated November 2020 
Landscape and Visual Appraisal, Urban Green, September 2020   
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, Urban Green, September 2020 
Archaeological Assessment, CFA Archaeology Ltd Report no. 3215 
Phase 1 Desk Study, GRM, Sept 2014. 
Phase 2 Site Appraisal, GRM, Sept 2016 
I-Transport letter dated 27 August 2020 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered. 
 

 
Pre-commencement conditions: 
 
3. Construction Management Plan: 

No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The statement shall include the following: 
 

a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic, off site parking, turning 
and compound areas; 
 

b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of 
damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from 
vehicles, deliveries. All measurements should make reference to 
BS7445. 
 

Page 78



c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, 
noise, and light pollution. 
 

d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition; 
 

e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction 
and demolition (including any wheel washing facilities); 

f) Programme of work for Construction phase; 
 

g) Hours of working and deliveries; 
 

h) Details of lighting to be used on site; 
 

i) Highway signage/ Haulage routes.  
 

j) Construction Surface Water Management Plan 
 

The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
development. 
Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the development hereby 
approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy 
S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of 
highway safety. 

 
4. The carriageway, footways, footpaths, ramps etc shall be designed, 

constructed, drained and lit to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority 
and in this respect further details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall 
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval before work 
commences on site. The highway design details shall be informed by Road 
Safety Audit Stages 1 & 2 and ramps shall be provided on each side of every 
road junction to enable wheelchairs, prams and invalid carriages to be safely 
manoeuvred at kerb lines. No work shall be commenced until a full 
specification has been approved and any works so approved shall be 
constructed before the development is complete. 
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway 
safety. 

 
5.    Prior to the commencement of any development, a detailed surface water 

drainage scheme, based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National 
Planning Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site 
conditions (inclusive of how the scheme shall be managed and maintained 
after completion) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, no surface water shall discharge to the public sewerage system 
either directly or indirectly The drainage scheme submitted for approval shall 
also be in accordance with the principles set out in the Flood Risk Assessment 
& Drainage Statement dated October 2020 proposing surface water 

Page 79



discharging to the ordinary watercourse at the north west of the site. The 
development shall be completed, maintained and managed in accordance with 
the approved details.  

       Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution. This condition is imposed in light of policies 
within the NPPF and NPPG. 
 

 
 
6.   Prior to the commencement of any development, a condition and capacity 

survey of the culverted watercourse (or piped drainage system) downstream 
of the surface water discharge point shall be provided to the Local Planning 
Authority. The information provided should include mitigation measures 
where it is deemed that improvements are required and a timetable for the 
implementation of those mitigation measures. The development shall proceed 
only in accordance with the approved details.   

      Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with policy S29 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1.  

 
 

Post commencement: 
 
8.     Notwithstanding the approval plans, no development shall commence on the 

construction of Plot 15 until full details of the treatment of level 
changes/terraces/patio areas to the rear garden of the plot and additional 
soft landscaping measures to the rear boundary of the plot have been 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing.  The 
development shall be completed only in accordance with the approved 
details.   
Reason: To ensure that the development is undertaken in a manner that would not 
give rise to significant overlooking to no.33 Harringdale Drive, in accordance with 
policy S32 of the Allerldale Local Plan Part 1.   

 
9. Notwithstanding the approved plans, where any re-contouring of ground 

levels within the development would result in retaining walls or structures 
exceeding 1.0m in height, full details of the retaining walls or structures 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning authority for approval in writing 
before their implementation. Any such structures shall be implemented only 
in accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external 
appearance of the approved scheme and to ensure a good standard of housing 
environment for future occupiers, in accordance with policies S4 and DM14 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

10. Notwithstanding the approved plans, the boundary treatment to the the 
central area of public open space/equipped play area and SUDS pond shall 
be constructed of black vertical railings with plain top as indicated on 
drawing SD100-C-002 of the External Plot Finishes Booklet. The 

Page 80



development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details 
and thereafter retained for the lifetime of the development.  

 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance and maintenance to boundary 
treatment within public areas, in accordance with policies S4 and DM14 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.  

 
11.  Notwithstanding the submitted plans, the equipped play space to the central 

public open space, as defined by fencing, shall be a minimum of 165sqm 
and shall incorporate as a minimum four individual pieces of play equipment 
(excluding seating and bin) that provide for an age range of both 0-5 year 
olds and 5+ year olds. Full details of the play equipment and its layout, 
maintenance and management for the central public open space and the 
toddler climbing equipment and seating indicated to the public open space 
within the western portion of the site, shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval in writing prior to any works commencing 
on the equipped play area. The equipped play area to the central public open 
space and the toddler play equipment to the western public open space shall 
be constructed and made available for use as approved, before the 80th 
dwellinghouse hereby approved is occupied.  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory provision of play equipment that meets the 
needs for future residents of the development, in accordance with policy S25 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

12. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the part of the 
site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where 
unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
shall be implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. All works shall be undertaken in 
accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11. 
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014. 
 

13. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with recommendations 
and mitigation measures submitted within the Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment dated November 2020 & Arboricultural Method Statement dated 
October 2020, prepared by Open Green.   

        Reason: To ensure that existing trees and hedgerows to be retained as part of the 
development are adequately protected during the construction of the development, 
in accordance with policy DM17 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014. 
 

14. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
recommendations and mitigation measures contained within the submitted 
Ecological Appraisal by Urban Green dated September 2020.  

Page 81



Reason: To minimise the impacts of the development on the ecological interests of 
the site in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework, and Policy 
S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.  

 
15. Prior to works commencing on the construction of the Emergency Vehicle 

Access hereby approved, details of the design/construction of the 
Emergency Vehicle Access shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval in writing. The Emergency Vehicle Access shall be 
constructed in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure that the Emergency Vehicle Access is constructed in a manner 
that would minimise its impact on the rural character of the locality.  

 
16. Foul drainage from the development shall be connected to the public sewer.  

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of foul drainage and to minimise the risk 
of water pollution to the local water environment, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014. 
 

Before Occupation conditions: 
 
19. The sound attenuation measures detailed in the submitted noise assessment 

(RS Acoustic engineering Ltd noise impact assessment reference 170/2016 
dated 26 April 2021) shall be fully implemented within those plots specified 
as requiring mitigation measures, prior to their occupation and the 
mitigation measures shall be permanently retained thereafter.  
Reason: To ensure an appropriate standard of housing environment in accordance 
with policies S4 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
20. A landscaping management plan including long term design objectives, 

management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape 
areas including public open space, landscaped buffers and play area shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
prior to the occupation of any dwellinghouse hereby approved. The 
development shall thereafter be maintained at all times in accordance with 
the approved management plan.  
Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of public open 
space and landscaped buffers within the residential estate. 

 
21. No dwelling shall be occupied until the estate road, including footways and 

cycleways and private road where necessary to serve that dwelling, has 
been constructed in all respects to base course level and street lighting 
where it is to form part of the estate road has been provided and brought 
into full operational use. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety of the occupiers of residential units 
hereby approved. 
 

22. The development shall not be brought into use until visibility splays 
providing clear visibility of 58 x 54 metres measured 2.4 metres down the 
centre of the access road and the nearside channel line of the major road 
have been provided at the junction of the access road with the county 

Page 82



highway. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, or 
object of any kind shall be erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other 
plants which exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be permitted to grow 
within the visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays. 
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014. 

 
23. The Emergency Vehicle Access hereby approved shall be constructed and be 

capable of use before the occupation of the 101st dwellinghouse hereby 
approved. The Emergency Vehicle Access shall be retained thereafter for the 
lifetime of the development.  
Reason: A second emergency access route is considered necessary for this scale 
of development, in the interests of public safety. 
 

 
24. The proposed footpath link up to Beaufort Avenue (adjacent Plots 26-28) 

shall be laid up to the boundary of the site and any existing fencing within 
the site boundary shall be removed for the width of the footpath link, prior 
to the occupation of Plot 26.  The link shall thereafter be retained. 
Reason: To facilitate pedestrian permeability through the site to adjoining land, in 
accordance with Policy S4 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 and advice 
contained within the NPPF (2018). 

 
Post construction conditions:  
 
25.   All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the scheme and shown on 

the approved landscaping plans shall be carried out in the first planting 
season following completion of the development and any trees or plants 
which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, 
are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with other similar size and species, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise the 
impact of the development in the locality, in compliance with Policy DM14 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.  

 
26. Following completion of the development hereby approved, an annual report 

reviewing the effectiveness of the Travel Plan for a period of  5 years, 
including any necessary amendments or further measures, as well as timing 
for their implementation, shall be submitted to and approved in writing  by 
the Local Planning Authority. Any amendments hereby approved shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved timescales. 
Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives from the 
operational use of the site in accordance with Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) 2014. 

 

Page 83



 
 
 

NOTES TO APPLICANT  
 

A condition has been placed which requires approval of any retaining features 
exceeding 1.0m in height. This is to ensure that any significant level changes (in-
combination with any boundary treatment) would not be visually oppressive for 
future residents. As such, where level changes between plots are significant, design 
measures such as terracing or sloping of land should be incorporated to ensure that 
future residents are not adversely impacted by inappropriately designed retaining 
walls and boundary treatments.  
 
For the avoidance of doubt, this planning permission does not give consent for the 
removal of the hedgerow to the frontage of the field directly to the south of the 
proposal site in its entirety. Any removal is limited to the width of the Emergency 
Vehicle Access proposed.   

Page 84



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 86



Allerdale Borough Council  
 

Planning Application FUL/2021/0161 
 

Proposed  
Development: 

Wetland enhancements, existing brackish pond and improvement 
of path surface and installation of a length of boundary fence 

Location: Siddick Ponds Nature Reserve, Workington 

Applicant: Mr Julian Smith on behalf of Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Recommendation: 
 

Grant 
 
 

The press advert for this application has not yet expired and will expire on the 
30th September 2021, after Development Panel. Members are therefore asked to 
delegate the final consideration of any representations received after the 
Development Panel meeting to the Head of Governance and regulatory Services.   

1.0 Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Biodiversity The scheme is intended as an enhancement of the existing nature 
reserve and is acceptable in relation to Policy S35. Natural 
England supports the proposal.  

Flood Risk No objections to the proposal have been raised by the 
Environment Agency or the Local Lead Flood Authority. The works 
will be subject to a separate Flood Risk Activity Permit from the 
Environment Agency.  

 

 
2.0 Proposal 
 
2.1 The proposal seeks planning permission for wetland enhancement to the existing 

nature reserve. This includes mainly: 
 

 Engineering operations consisting of cut and fill to an area within and 
adjacent to the existing brackish pond (a combined pond of fresh and salt 
water) to extend and re-align the pond, including measures to reform and 
extend the shoreline of the pond, create additional scrapes/shore/mudflat and 
create additional shingle islands.  

 Creation of a permanent water channel surrounding the mudflat area to 
isolate breeding and foraging areas as much as possible from land-based 
disturbance and predation. 

 Excavation and restoration of channels that connect the brackish pond to the 
freshwater pond to the eastern side of the cycleway (the southern channel is 
presently blocked completely) and installation of two 2no. sluices within the 
underpass of the two existing bridges spanning these channels (forming the 

Page 87

Agenda Item 7



cycleway that passes through the site), to control water levels in the 
freshwater and brackish ponds 

 New post and wire fencing to the extended brackish pond to ensure 
disturbance by people and dogs is kept to a minimum and a partially 
resurfaced path to aid circulation round the site. 
 

2.2 The purpose of the works are to re-establish the southern underpass between 
the brackish to regulate water flow through both underpasses connecting the 
freshwater and brackish ponds, with water level management to optimise 
conditions for birds, and to improve the physical conditions of the reserve for 
wading birds and terns in particular, and to encourage nesting at the site. The 
low level net fencing is to prevent human/dog disturbance to the ponds. The 
works, and their benefits, are detailed fully within the submitted Design Statement 
by Wardell Armstrong.  

 
2.3  Allerdale Borough Council (ABC) has secured funding from the Water 

Environment Grant to carry out the works.  
 
3.0 Site 
 
3.1 Siddick Ponds is located on the northern outskirts of Workington, to the north 

west of the residential area of Northside. The submission indicates that it is one 
of Cumbria's most important bird sites, consisting of large reedbeds and 
extensive open water habitat, including a brackish pond, which is unique in 
Cumbria and attracts a distinctive community of resident and migratory birds 
throughout the year, including bittern, for which it is the northernmost regular 
wintering site in the UK. The combination of two ponds - one freshwater to the 
east of the former railway line, the other (brackish to the west) - contributes to the 
diversity of species using the site. The site is designated as a Local Nature 
Reserve (LNR) and a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). Ling Beck feeds 
into the freshwater pond and the brackish pond discharges to Ling Beck and the 
River Derwent (both designated Main Rivers), approximately 500m to the south 
west and during exceptionally high tides water can flow back up the beck from 
the estuary into the brackish pond.  

 
3.2 The nature reserve is located in a mixed use area, with heavy industry, retail, 

housing and allotments surrounding the site. The A596 runs to the west and the 
former railway, now cycleway passes though the site in a north/south direction.  

 
 
4.0 Relevant Planning History 
 
4.1 None relevant. There are currently works being undertaken on the adjacent 

allotment site, also by the Council, to rationalise and improve the allotment facility 
and change part of the site to supplementary nature reserve.  

 
5.0 Representations 
 
 

Cumbria County Council Highways Authority/Local Lead Flood Authority 

Page 88



 
5.1 Raise no objection in principle. Initially requested a Flood Risk Assessment for 

the proposal but following confirmation that the works would require a Flood Risk 
Activity Permit from the Environment Agency and that the Environment Agency 
had confirmed that the proposal did not require flood modelling or risk 
assessment, the LLFA has confirmed that they no longer require a Flood Risk 
Assessment.   

 
 Natural England 
 
5.2 Natural England welcome the enhancement works being carried out within this 

SSSI. The mitigation methods set out within the Construction Environment 
Management Plan or Landscape & Flow Control Works should be secured and 
available to people on site during construction work. Natural England specify a 
number of elements that the Construction Environment Management Plan will 
need to address. 

 
 Environment Agency 
 
5.3 The Environment Agency advise that they are currently in the process of 

determining a Flood Risk Activity Permit (received 17 June 2021, ref 
EPR/YB3458LW ) for these works, that an effective eel pass will need to be 
provided at the sluice and it should be ensured that flow is provided through the 
eel pass at most times. Flow to the eel pass must be slightly below crest level of 
the sluice, and that the applicant should ensure that all materials being 
excavated from the site are either re-used on site or sent off site to an 
appropriate permitted waste site. If the shingle which is being brought on to site is 
‘waste’, an exemption or permit may be required. 

 
 Health and Safety Executive 
 
5.4 Do not advise against the development.  
 
5.5 Following consultation, no responses have been received from Workington Town 

Council, Cumbria Wildlife Trust, Cumbria Butterfly Trust, the RSPB, and 
Environmental Health.  

  
5.6 The application has advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour letter, 

albeit this consultation is ongoing.  
 
5.7 No representations have been received to date. Members of the Development 

Panel will be updated of any representations received via the late list.   
   

 
6.0 Environmental Impact Assessment 

6.1 With regards to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017 the development does not fall within Schedule 1, 
but as it falls within a sensitive area, it requires screening under schedule 2. 

 

Page 89



6.2 A screening opinion has been undertaken and it is determined that although the 
works are to a sensitive area, the impacts of the proposal are intended to 
enhance the nature reserve and any impacts of the development are considered 
unlikely to be significant.   

 
 
7.0 Duties 
 
7.1 Regulation 9 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

requires all public bodies to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats 
Directive in the exercise of their functions. This site is a Site of Special Scientific 
Interest and not a designated European Site (SAC or SPA), however, the ponds 
do connect into the Derwent, which upstream is a European Site, as is part of the 
Solway Firth.  

 
 
8.0 Development Plan Policies 
 
 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
 
8.1 The following policies are considered to apply:- 
 

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
Policy S2 – Sustainable Development Principles 
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
Policy S35 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Policy S36 – Air, Water and Soil Quality 
 
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-
plan-part-1/ 

 
 Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 
 
8.2 The following policies are considered to apply:- 
 

Policy SA52 - Green Infrastructure 
 
 https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/ 
 
 
9.0 Other material considerations 
 
 National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021)  
 
9.1 The details of this document can be viewed here: 
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--
2 

 

Page 90

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


9.2 Allerdale Council Strategy 2020 – 2030 
 
 The details of this document can be viewed here: 
 

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-council/council-strategy-2020-2030/ 
 
10.0 Policy weighting 
 
10.1 Notwithstanding any duties identified above, Section 38(6) of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to the 
development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the 
planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale 
Local Plan Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and Part 2 (2020) have 
primacy. 

 
11.0 Assessment  
 
11.1 Biodiversity 
 
11.2 Policy S35 of the ALPP1 seeks to maintain and improve conditions for 

biodiversity and the protection of sites and species according to their level of 
importance.  

 
11.3 The proposal has been brought forward by Allerdale Borough Council Parks and 

Open Spaces Section as managers of the reserve, as an enhancement scheme 
for the existing Nature Reserve at Siddick Ponds and has secured grant funding 
from the Water Environment Grant (WEG). The purpose of the works are set out 
briefly at section 2.2 above and are intended to improve the existing habitat for 
birds and to allow greater control over water levels, again, to improve conditions 
for birds. 

 
11.4 An Ecological Appraisal and Habitat Management Plan has been provided with 

the application along with a Design Statement. The former provides the 
requirements to maintain and improve the biodiversity value of the Local Nature 
Reserve (LNR) overall up to 2021, and is not specific to the proposed works 
under consideration. However, the proposed works would appear to contribute in 
part to the tasks and aims outlined within this plan. The latter is specific to this 
scheme and sets out in detail the purpose for each element of the works, in order 
to improve conditions for biodiversity and protect the site from human 
interference. 

 
11.5 Natural England has confirmed its support for the scheme subject to a detailed 

Construction Management Plan that would minimise any disturbance to this 
habitat during the construction works. The temporary construction works raise 
the potential for limited and short term adverse effects through disturbance to 
and possible pollution of the habitat and species using the site. However, through 
an appropriately detailed Construction Management Plan, it is considered that 
these adverse effects could be mitigated and any disturbance to the reserve in 
the short term, would be outweighed by the wider and longer term benefits of the 

Page 91

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-council/council-strategy-2020-2030/


work. As such, the proposal is considered to be acceptable, having regard to 
policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2.  

 
11.6 The Environment Agency has noted the need for an eel pass to be installed 

within the proposed sluices. This can be secured by condition. 
 
11.7 The proposal would not impact on the status of the site as forming part of the 

Green Infrastructure Network.  
 
11.8 Flooding and Drainage 
 
11.9 Policy S29 of the ALPP1 directs development away from areas at risk from 

flooding, and seeks to ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere, requiring full 
consideration of the surface water drainage hierarchy.  

 
11.10 The nature reserve itself is designated Flood Zone 3 – land at the highest risk of 

flooding. It is a wetland habitat, with ingress and egress of water from Ling Beck 
and the estuary. It is necessary to ensure that the proposed works to the 
ponds/wetland, which include cut and fill operations to the landform, do not 
increase flood risk to others by displacing water. 

 
11.11 The Environment Agency (EA) have been consulted on the application along with 

the County Council as Local Lead Flood Authority (LLFA). Ling Beck is 
designated a Main River, which falls under the remit of the Environment Agency. 
The consultation response from the Environment Agency raises no objection to 
the application and advises that the works themselves will be subject to a 
separate Consent process from them for a Flood Risk Activity Permit. The 
applicant has provided further correspondence with the Environment Agency 
confirming that as part of the Permit application, flood modelling and a Flood Risk 
Assessment was not required and no such request forms part of the Environment 
Agency’s response to the planning application. Having been advised of this 
position, the County Council LLFA has withdrawn their request for a Flood Risk 
Assessment and raises no objection to the proposal.  

 
11.12 As the works will be subject to a separate permitting regime for flood risk activity 

and as neither consultee has raised objection to the proposal in terms of flood 
risk, it is considered that the proposal is acceptable in relation to policy S29.  

 
11.13 Other matters 
 
 The advice from the Environment Agency regarding waste management can be 

added as an advisory note, but waste management is subject to a separate 
permitting regime, which it is not necessary to duplicate.  

 
 

Local Financial Considerations 
 
12.0 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal has 

possible financial implications in terms of funding secured under the Water 
Environment Grant.  

Page 92



 
 
13.0 Conclusions 

13.1 Having regard to relevant policies of the Local Plan Parts 1 and 2, the 
development is considered to be acceptable subject to conditions.  

  

 

 

Page 93



Annex 1 

CONDITIONS 
 
Time Limit: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 
 Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
 
In Accordance: 
  
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following plans: 
GM11500-003 Rev A - Proposed Stop Gate Arrangements to Existing Bridges 

GM11500-004 – Rev A - Wetland Enhancement Section A-AA 
GM11500-002 – Rev A - Wetland Enhancement General Arrangement 
GM11500-006 Site Location Plan 
GM11500-005 - Wetland Enhancement Section B-BB 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered. 
 

 
Pre-commencement conditions: 
 
3. Construction Environment Management Plan: 

No development shall take place until a Construction Environment 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The statement shall include the following: 
 

a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic, off site parking, turning 
and compound areas; 
 

b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and to monitor any properties at risk of damage from 
vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. 
All measurements should make reference to BS7445. 
 

c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, 
noise, and light pollution. 
 

d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction; 
 

e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction 
(including any wheel washing facilities); 

Page 94



f) Programme of work for Construction phase; 
 

g) Hours of working and deliveries; 
 

h) Details of lighting to be used on site; 
 

i) Highway signage/ Haulage routes.  
 

j) Construction Surface Water Management Plan 
 

k) Pollution prevention measures to include materials and machinery 
storage, biosecurity, and the control and management of noise, fugitive 
dust, surface water runoff and waste to protect any surface water drains 
and the Special Area of Conservation from sediment, and pollutants 
such as fuel and cement. 

 
l) Measures to establish a 10m buffer strip to the river, and a bund across 

the track that leads down to the river to prevent any sediment and 
pollution in surface water run-off from reaching the Special Area of 
Conservation. All materials and equipment must be stored outside the 
buffer strip, and there should be a designated concrete mixing / 
refuelling site outside the buffer strip, with spill kits on site and drip 
trays used for refuelling. 

 
m) Measures to include the check-clean-dry procedure to reduce the risk of 

introducing and/or spreading invasive non-native species (e.g 
Himalayan balsam, Japanese knotweed, Crassula helmsii, 
Dikerogammarus villosus) or infecting the river with the fungal spores 
of crayfish plague. Any machinery or equipment to be used in the river 
must be high pressure washed or steam cleaned with clean tap water 
(not river water) then dried. Once dry, the machinery/equipment must be 
kept completely dry for 48hours prior to use in the river. 

 
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
development. 
Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties and to minimise pollution and disturbance to the Local 
Nature Reserve during the construction works of the development hereby approved, 
in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies S32 and 
S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of 
highway safety. 
 
 

4.     No development shall take place on the sluices hereby approved  until a 
detailed design for an eel pass to the sluices has been submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval in writing. The approved eel passes shall be 
fitted to the sluices before the development is substantially complete.  

        Reason: In the interests of biodiversity, in accordance with policy S35 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and advice contained within the 
National Planning Policy Framework.   

Page 95



 
 

NOTES TO APPLICANT  
 
Environment Agency 
 
Materials - The applicant should ensure that all materials being excavated from the 
site are either re-used on site or sent off site to an appropriate permitted waste site. If 
the shingle which is being brought on to site is waste an exemption or permit may be 
required. 
 
Further advice can be found at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/waste-environmental-
permits 
 
Cumbria County Council – Local Lead Flood Authority 
 
Informative: The applicant should contact CCC for any of the works which may affect 
the ordinary watercourse for information and guidance. Contact: LFRM Consent 
LFRM.consent@cumbria.gov.uk. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

  

Page 96

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/waste-environmental-permits
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/waste-environmental-permits
mailto:LFRM.consent@cumbria.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 98



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application FUL/2021/0181 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: FUL/2021/0181 

Valid Date: 21/06/2021 

Location: Part Land to Rear of 51 High Street, Workington, 
CA14 4ET 

Applicant: W Younghusband & Son 

Proposal: Change of use of part domestic garden to additional 
storage area for existing roofing company including 
the retrospective engineering works to lower the site 
by up to 600mm 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 Approve subject to conditions  

1. Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of Development The development as amended is 
considered to be compliant with Policies 
within the Allerdale Local Plan. 

Amenity Any detrimental effects arising from the 
development can be controlled by way of 
conditions. 

 

2. Introduction 
 

2.1. The application has been called in by Councillor Mike Johnson. 
 

2.2. The application seeks permission for the change of use of land from domestic 
garden to a storage area to be used in connection with an adjacent roofing 
business.  The application is considered to be limited to B8 storage use. 
 

3. Proposal 
 

3.1. The Plans for consideration are:- 
 
Location plan and block plan 
Noise Assessment Report – RSA318/2020 dated 13 July 2020 
Application Form 

Page 99

Agenda Item 8



Details of reduction in levels 
Design and Access Statement 
Proposed Fence plan amended plan received 13 July 2021 
Bollard details – amended plan received 15 September 2021 

 
4. Site 

 
4.1. 51 High Street has been recently purchased along with the garden area by 

Younghusband and Son, the property subject to this application is formally a 
garden area used in association with the residential property 51 High Street, 
Workington. 
 

4.2. The yard area adjoins Younghusbands workshop and small yard area which 
operates as a roofing contractors and has operated from the Old Blacksmiths 
Shop building for a significant number of years. 

 
4.3. A small area of ground adjacent to the northern boundary will be retained as 

residential use.  The area is to be maintained as an area for chopping and 
storage of wood and pallets for domestic use which was previously undertaken 
on the wider site. 

5. Relevant Site History 
 

5.1. An application for a change of use of the residential property which adjoins the 
existing building occupied by Younghusbands has been recently approved under 
planning application FUL/2020/0087, the application allowed the change of use 
of the dwelling to office accommodation in connection with the existing business 
use of the site. The change of use application excluded the area of land to which 
this application relates. 

 
5.2. The Council indicated that it considered that an application for a certificate of 

lawful use should be submitted on the basis that the applicant contested that the 
operations had been undertaken continuously on this area for a period of 10 
years. If granted this would regularise the activities that were being undertaken 
on site.  Given an application was not submitted an enforcement notice was 
served on the 28th July 2020 on the grounds that the authority considered that 
the development had been undertaken without planning permission and a 
material change of use of the land had occurred.   
 

5.3. The enforcement notice was appealed on the grounds that the development had 
been in a continuous 10 year use as a builder’s yard and not on the planning 
merits of the proposal.  The Planning Inspector dismissed the appeal on the 
grounds that there was insufficient evidence submitted to demonstrate a 
continuous 10 year use as a builder’s yard. 
 

5.4. Further to the appeal decision the storage use of the former garden area has 
since ceased, with the applicants business use being confined to the area at the 
frontage of the site 

 
 

Page 100



6. Representations 
 

6.1. Town/Parish Council - Workington Town Council Planning Committee would 
like to raise concerns with regards to the loss of privacy that could potentially be 
experienced by surrounding neighbours 

 
6.2. ABC Environmental Health - Having considered the application submitted I 

raised concerns with the applicant/agent on the proposed activities. My main 
concerns were concentrated on  noise generated  from loading/unloading of 
materials, vehicle movements, engine noise  radios being played loud within the 
vehicles, employees voices, movement of scaffolding poles and general site 
noise within the development area.   Prior and during the submission we have 
received noise complaints which we have investigated, we have been able to 
witness disturbances on occasions due to the impact noise particularly when it 
involved scaffolding poles being moved when being loaded on a vehicles which 
is located at the front part of the site which does not form part of this application. 
This area I refer to has a long legacy as an existing unrestricted use in 
connection with the existing roofing business and does not form part of the 
application site.  I have had a long debate and discussion with the agent and 
applicant stating my concerns as mentioned above, in response to this the agent 
has now suggested a number of mitigation measures to be adopted to minimise 
impact and disturbance to the neighbouring amenity. I now accept the mitigation 
measures which have been provided by the agent subject to these being 
endorsed by planning conditions . In view of this, I would strongly recommend the 
following conditions are applied if approval is granted: 

 

 The site shall solely be used for storage purposes and there shall be no 
material dressing or treatment operations undertaken within the 
application site. 
 

 This permission shall relate solely to the use of the land for the storage of 
slates, tiles, ridge tiles and chimney pots and for no other storage 
purpose.( this will exclude metal materials and scaffolding poles). 

 

 The storage use hereby permitted shall be restricted to the hours of 
operation between 08:00 and 17:30 on Mondays to Fridays, and not at all 
on Saturdays, Sundays or Bank Holidays. 

 

 The existing timber fence to the eastern boundary of the site shall be 
retained prior to the commencement of the storage use herby approved 
and shall thereafter be retained in situ and shall not be reduced in height 
or remain unaltered at all times for the lifetime of the development. 

 

 There shall be no vehicular access to or egress from the development site 
 

 Prior to the commencement of the use of the site for storage a physical 
barrier must be retained and maintained at all times for the lifetime of the 
development.( this will prevent any vehicle access to the development  
hereby approved) 

 

Page 101



 No power tools or machinery can operate at any time within the 
development area. 

 
 
6.3. Cumbria County Highways – No objections.   

 
The LLFA surface water maps show that the site is very close to an area of 
flooding and indicates that a 1 in 100 chance of flooding occurring close to the 
site each year. 
 

6.4. Natural England – No comments 
 
6.5. The application has been advertised on site notice and by neighbour letter.  

 
6.6. There has been 26 letters of support, 6 letters stating no objection and 10 letters 

of objection.  
 

6.7. The letters of support/no objections indicate: 
 

a. Existing family business having operated from High Street for a significant 
number of years 

b. No disturbance arises from the proposed in terms of amenity/noise/dust 
c. The company supports a local workforce 
d. Local businesses should be supported 
e. The applicant needs to have stock on site as there are shortages at 

present 
f. A section is being retained for residential use 
g. There is limited hours of use 
h. The area has been improved visually 
i. Provides secure storage 
j. Potential to park vehicles off high street which would help alleviate parking 

problems 
 

6.8. The letters of objection state: 
 

a. An enforcement notice was upheld by planning inspectorate relating to the 
proposal 

b. The inspector required the land to be returned to its former use as a 
garden 

c. Privacy issues 
d. CCTV has been installed 
e. The site can look directly into first floor windows 
f. The storage of commercial materials in a domestic garden is unacceptable 
g. Other industrial sites are available within Allerdale  
h. Use not compatible with a residential area 
i. Dust is causing a nuisance 
j. Noise disturbance 
k. Excessive noise arising from the development 7.30am to 8am and 3.30pm 

– 4pm 

Page 102



l. Noise from loading/unloading, radios, employees, scaffolding and general 
building site noise 

m. There is no quiet way to load/unload materials from the work vehicles 
n. Disturbance within garden areas and reduces the enjoyment of outside 

space 
o. Previous works on site carried out without gaining planning permission 
p. The area has always been a residential garden 
q. Alterations to the existing access onto the highway has allowed vehicular 

access of commercial vehicles to be gained to the application site 
r. No drainage details 
s. No details on any ground contamination 
t. No ecological surveys carried out before the site was cleared 
u. Some of the information within the application documents is factually 

incorrect 
v. The suggested conditions could not be independently managed, controlled 

or assessed 
w. Younghusbands previously occupied a site on Havelock Road until 

January 2020 
 
 
7. Environmental Impact Assessment 

7.1. The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 

7.2. The development does not within Schedule 1 nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA 
development. 

8. Duties 
 

8.1. The site doesn’t contain, nor is it in close proximity to any listed buildings, nor is it 
within or affecting a conservation area or a Natura 2000 site. 

 
 

9. Development Plan Policies 
 
9.1. Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 

 
Policy S1 - Presumption in Favour of Development 
Policy S2 - Sustainable Development 
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth 
Policy S4 - Design Principles 
Policy S5 - Development Principles 
Policy S6a - Area Based Workington 
Policy S12 - Land and Premises 
Policy S22 - Transport Principles 
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
Policy S32 - Safeguarding Amenity 
Policy S33 - Landscape 
Policy S35 - Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

Page 103



Policy DM4 - Expansion and Intensification of Employment Sites 
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design 
 

These policies can be found here:- 
 
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-
plan-part-1/  
 

9.2. Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) 
 
Policy SA34 – Employment Sites 
 
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/  
 

 
10. Other material considerations 
 
10.1. National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 

 
10.2. Allerdale Borough Council Plan 2019-2023: 

 
Strengthening our economy - Supporting the development of new homes where 
they are needed.  
 
Tackling inequality 

 
• Giving people skills, education and employment opportunities to help them 
improve their future, in particular through targeted community development 
projects in Workington and Maryport. 

 
Enhancing our towns 

 
• Assisting and supporting businesses by developing a new business welcoming 
and aftercare service. 

 
11. Policy weighting 

 
11.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, 

if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the 
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy. 

 

12. Assessment: 
 

Principle of development 
 
12.1. Policy DM4 highlights the need to support existing businesses but specifies that 

proposals to expand or intensify existing employment sites will only permitted 

Page 104

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/


where the development will not have significant adverse effects on the site or 
surrounding uses.  DM4 supports Policy S12 in the delivery of employment sites; 
however, states that “Where sites are located in primarily residential areas and 
proposals would cause overriding problems, the Council will seek to assist in 
identifying alternative sustainable locations with a preference for allocated 
employment sites and previously developed land that would be more appropriate 
for the resulting activity. 
 

12.2. Policy S12 of the Local Plan also advises that proposals outside of allocated 
employment land or that are currently used for employment uses will be 
discouraged and developments directed in sequence to existing allocations and 
then previously developed land within the settlement.  Where proposals are able 
to demonstrate why they cannot be appropriately located, they will be considered 
on their merit taking into account local impacts and other Plan polices. 
 
Residential Amenity 
 

12.3. This subject represents the primary key planning consideration. Policy S32 of the 
Local Plan is relevant in this regard and has consistency with Paragraph 185 of 
NPPF, the latter requiring that;- 
 

“Planning policies and decisions should also ensure that new development is 
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely affects (including 
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural 
environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to 
impacts that could arise from the development. In doing so they should: 
 
a) mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from 

noise from new development – and avoid noise giving rise to significant 
adverse impacts on health and the quality of life; 

 
b) identify and protect tranquil areas which have remained relatively undisturbed 

by noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for this 
reason” 

 
12.4. Policy S32 specifically highlights that development will not be supported if the 

resultant pollutants cannot be overcome by appropriate mitigation measures.  
The policy also outlines the importance of the impacts on privacy in terms of 
overlooking. 
 

12.5. The nature and operations of the proposed use has the potential to cause 
nuisance to nearby residential properties in terms of noise and dust to cause 
harm to the residential amenity of nearby properties that are directly surrounding 
the site.  (This is reflected in that the council considered the unrestricted unlawful 
storage use was harmful to its surrounding prompting the former issuing of the 
enforcement notice.)  
 

12.6. The site is located in a predominantly residential area and is bound on 3 sides by 
residential properties with the western boundary being adjacent to the existing 
yard area and buildings associated with the business. 

Page 105



 
12.7. The existing use of the adjacent yard directly behind the existing workshop 

building has not been considered in connection with the amenity of nearby 
properties.  This area has a long legacy as an existing unrestricted use in 
connection with the existing roofing business and does not form part of the 
application site; therefore, any storage or disturbance arising from this area 
cannot be considered under the current application. (Officers acknowledge that 
the introduction of such an industrial use in its entirety in this sensitive residential 
area would not normally likely be supported, but acknowledge it represents a 
long established landuse inherited from the past evolution of the town). Some 
weight has to be attributed to the existing operational use as its represents the 
locational reasoning behind the applicant’s pursuit of extending the existing 
premises. 
 

12.8. However as highlighted in the policy context, it is for members to judge whether 
any such expansion at this location is acceptable and whether it would cause 
overriding problems, especially given the proximity of other residential properties 
to the site. If so the criteria of policy DM4 the council should seek evidence of 
alternative preferential allocated / brownfield sites which would be more 
appropriate for the activity. Officers highlight they would not support the 
unrestricted use of the site which would be unacceptable to the amenity of the 
neighbouring properties. Therefore fundamental to this issue, is whether 
members consider it does have an unsatisfactory impact on the residential 
amenity of its surroundings.   
 

12.9. This sensitivity was acknowledged by the applicant who submitted a supporting 
noise survey to the application which evaluated the extent of this impact. 
 

12.10. The noise report has been conducted over a short period of time and includes an 
assessment of very limited activities loading and unloading and may not reflect 
the different materials being loaded onto the vehicle.  The report concludes that 
there would not be a significant increase in noise levels above background sound 
levels and the loading and unloading of materials is for a very short period of time 
with noise also arising from the A596 therefore they believe the use as a storage 
yard would be appropriate.  The report could not be considered to provide an 
accurate reflection of the activities that would take place under everyday 
circumstances and the report does not sufficiently demonstrate that the activities 
taking place would not cause undue harm in terms of noise emanating from 
within the site. The Environmental Health department have also verbally 
concurred with officers opinions on this matter. 

 
12.11. Officers in assessing the key planning amenity representations and policy 

considerations associated with the former unlawful use sought to identify the 
pathways that would result in material environmental harm and indeed if 
unrestricted would represent grounds for refusal of the application. These details 
were discussed in depth with the council’s environmental health officer who 
undertook site inspections of the site, to evaluate and assess the likely impact of 
the development. As a consequence a range of the main likely sources of 
disturbance were identified. These were subsequently discussed with the 
applicant to explore whether there was any means of mitigation under planning 

Page 106



conditions which could satisfactorily address and mitigate these concerns to 
ensure a satisfactory standard of amenity to surrounding properties. (Any such 
measures would solely apply to the application site and not the applicants 
existing unrestricted building and yard premises as this was perceived as being 
unreasonable and onerous.) 
 

12.12. The potential pathways of environmental disturbance can be summarised as 
followed: 
 

12.13. (i) Levels ; In implementing the unauthorised use of the application site, it has 
been reduced in level by approximately 600mm, and its surface finished in a 
compact gravel finish. Officers consider that no harm has arisen from the 
reduction in site levels.   

 
12.14. (ii) Noise levels: The applicant initially suggested a number of conditions and in 

particular to reduce the impacts on residential amenity by turning off vehicles 
when loading and unloading no radios/music/horn being used from the vehicles 
when within the yard area.  Officers consider that this would be difficult to enforce 
under a generic noise level threshold condition and therefore not considered as 
an adequate measure in controlling noise arising from operations on site. Given 
this would be unenforceable it does not past the six test criteria applicable to 
planning conditions. 
 

12.15. (iii) Vehicle movements: The original submission also proposed to allow the 
vehicles to load and unload within the proposed yard.  Concerns were raised by 
the council’s environmental health department in relation to vehicle movements 
giving rise to unacceptable levels of disturbance to the residential amenity of 
adjoining dwellings; however, the applicant has indicated that they are willing to 
accept conditions to prevent vehicular movement within the area.  This would be 
further enforced through the construction of two bollards on the dividing boundary 
between the original yard and the application site. Officers are satisfied that the 
proposed bollards are sufficient to permanently excluded vehicles from the area 
but still allowing pedestrian access to store the materials on site.  In preventing 
vehicular access to the area there is likely to be a reduction in noise, dust and 
overlooking arising from the use of the site for storage.  

 
12.16. (iv)  Materials: The applicant has suggested that the storage of materials would 

be restricted to slate, tiles, ridge tiles and chimney pots.  A condition can ensure 
that the area is used for the storage of these materials only which would also 
prevent any items such as metal ladders, scaffolding and other scaffolding fixings 
being stored in the area which have the potential for significant noise 
disturbance.  Officers consider given the restricted use is acceptable solely in 
connection with a specific limited storage of items solely in connection with the 
adjacent business premises, it is necessary to impose a restriction to the 
proposed use only and for no other use within the B8 storage use class as this 
would allow the council to examine any alternative future commercial storage use 
of the site.  
 

12.17. (v) Storage only: Officers also similarly consider it appropriate to recommend a 
condition to prevent the dressing operations of any stored materials on the 

Page 107



application site, given this activity could give rise to noise to detriment to the 
amenity of the area. 

 
12.18. (vi) Visual impact/privacy : Policy S32 requires development to ensure that there 

is not an unacceptable effect on residential amenity in terms of loss of privacy as 
a result of overlooking, or increased sense of enclosure as a result of 
overbearing development.  The original submission had the potential for loss of 
privacy; although the site level is lower than the surrounding residential 
properties and screened by vegetation and the newly erected fencing; unloading 
from flatbed vehicles could take place within the site which give the opportunity to 
work from an elevated position and has the potential to have an unacceptable 
effect in terms of overlooking and loss of privacy given the rear of the dwelling on 
Stanbeck Meadows facing onto the site is approximately 7m from the boundary.  
If vehicles are restricted from this area given the screening to the boundaries and 
lowering of the site levels the degree of overlooking is reduced to a sufficient 
degree to minimise issues of overlooking and privacy.   
 

12.19. Given the total screening height from within the application site with Stanbeck 
Meadows would be approximately 2.3-2.6m the loss of privacy would not be 
considered to be excessive when stood at ground level within the site itself. 
However, this fence detail’s retention needs to be secured by condition. 

 
12.20. (vii) Hours of operation: The applications initial 7:30 am start time was considered 

unacceptable, exceeding that imposed on building sites.  The applicant has 
agreed that they are willing to accept a time restriction on activities within the 
yard area subject to this application.  In discussions with environmental health it 
is proposed that the hours of use of the site are 08:00 – 17:30 Monday – Friday 
with no use of the application area on a Saturday, Sunday or on Bank Holidays.  
These hours of operations are similar to that found set out within construction 
management statements on larger scale developments such as housing 
development sites and are therefore considered to be acceptable; particularly, as 
the applicant proposes that there would be no use of the area over the weekend. 

 
12.21. Officers consider that appropriately worded conditions can mitigate any harmful 

effects on nearby residential properties and consider that the use could be 
undertaken in compliance with Policies S12, S32 and DM4 of the Allerdale local 
plan. 

 
Design and appearance 
 

12.22. In terms of the external appearance would be limited changes the gravel area 
was put down on the area subject to this application and given the use of gravel 
is common within residential settings there was no requirement to reinstate the 
area to grass under the enforcement notice.   
 

12.23. A fence was installed 2m in height to the boundary with Stanbeck Meadows on 
the height of the former garden area, it was considered that this did not require 
planning permission given the small strip of garden remains at its original height. 
There is also a small section of hedging planted adjacent to the boundary which 
also did not require permission. 

Page 108



 
12.24. The applicant would not propose any further alterations to the area; but, has 

suggested a condition to retain and maintain the fence to the rear boundary. 
 
Highways and Parking 

 
12.25. Inevitably with the use of the area there is implications that the vehicular 

movements are likely to increase given there was previously no vehicular access 
to this area.   
 

12.26. The increase in traffic has the potential to increase the use of the access onto the 
highway by way of the existing vehicular access which has been widened to 
allow larger vehicles to access the rear of the property. 
 

12.27. At present the vehicles connected with the existing business park on the public 
highway to the front of the site.  If the condition to restrict vehicular access to this 
area is imposed it would prevent vehicles being parked in the area on a 
permanent basis. 

 
Other considerations 

 
12.28. As the development is considered to be acceptable subject the imposition of 

conditions no examination of alternative sites is required by the applicant. 
 

12.29. The existing foul and surface water would remain unchanged from the existing 
arrangement and given the permeable nature of the surfacing there would not be 
an increase in surface water drainage arising from the site. 
 

12.30. No protected species or habitats have been highlighted with the area that would 
have required an ecological survey to be undertaken. 
 

12.31. The applicant indicates that they would accept a condition that storage would not 
be higher than 2m in height and a restriction on the operating hours. 
 

12.32. The CCTV that has been installed is considered to be permitted development 
and would not require planning permission. 
 

12.33. As there are no planning restrictions on the existing business premises and yard 
to the front and directly to the rear of the building, any disturbance from the 
existing areas would have to be pursued through environmental health in terms 
of whether it fell within the parameters of a statutory nuisance. 
 

12.34. The removal of the wall between the rear yard and garden area prior to the 
levelling of the ground would not have required planning approval from the local 
planning authority. 

 
Local Financial Considerations 
 

12.35. Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act, Local Financial 
Considerations relate to Business Rates Revenue 

Page 109



 
13. Conclusions 

13.1. The merits of the proposal remain finely balanced as albeit it relates to an 
existing business it is acknowledged the site does occupy a sensitive location in 
a predominantly residential area. The primary concern therefore remains whether 
the proposal as amended includes sufficient mitigation measures as to avert any 
substantial loss of amenity to neighbouring properties.  This would not 
necessarily mean there would be zero noise from the development, but whether 
the combined mitigation amendments to the scheme are considered to reduce 
the impacts on residential amenity to a degree that is acceptable and any harm 
has been satisfactorily been removed from the proposal to ensure disturbance 
and loss of amenity are not considered to be significant. 

13.2. The use of the site solely for storage purposes only is considered acceptable 
subject to the inclusion extensive list of mitigation conditions recommended (each 
of which are essential) and would comply with local and national planning 
policies and the benefits of the expansion of an existing business would not have 
a significant harm to the residential amenity of nearby properties and therefore 
approval is recommended.   

14. RECOMMENDATION 

Grant permission 

Page 110



Annex 1 

Conditions 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans: 
Location Plan 
Proposed Fence plan amended plan received 13 July 2021 
Bollard details – amended plan received 15 September 2021 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 
 

3. Storage of any goods or materials at the site shall at no time exceed two 
metres in height. 
Reason:  In the interests of preserving the amenity of neighbouring residents, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

4. The site shall solely be used for storage purposes and there shall be no 
material dressing or treatment operations undertaken within the application 
site. 
Reason:  In the interests of preserving the amenity of neighbouring residents, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

5. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Uses 
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), (or any Order revoking or re-enacting 
that Order with or without modifications), this permission shall relate solely 
to the use of the land for the storage of slates, tiles, ridge tiles and chimney 
pots and for no other storage purpose, including any other activity within 
the same class of the schedule to that Order. 
Reason: The Local Planning Authority wishes to re-assess any change of use 
and to maintain control over any development. 
 

6. The storage use hereby permitted shall be restricted to the hours of 
operation between 08:00 and 17:30 on Mondays to Fridays, and not at all on 
Saturdays, Sundays or Bank Holidays. 
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of neighbouring residents, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

7. There shall be no use of powered tools or machinery within the application 
site. 

Page 111



Reason:  In the interests of preserving the amenity of neighbouring residents, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 
 

8. The existing timber fence to the eastern boundary of the site shall be 
retained prior to the commencement of the storage use herby approved 
and shall thereafter be retained in situ and shall not be reduced in height 
and shall remain unaltered at all times for the lifetime of the development  
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 
dwellinghouses, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

9. There shall be no vehicular access to or egress from the site, unless 
otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason:  In the interests of preserving the amenity of neighbouring residents, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

10. The approved plan Bollard details – amended plan received 15 September 
2021 outlining the technical details, fixed positions and height shall be 
implemented prior to the commencement of the use of the site. The 
bollards as approved shall thereafter be retained and maintained at all 
times for the lifetime of the development hereby approved. 
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 
dwellinghouses, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

 
 
Other:  
 
 
 
Advisory Note  

Page 112



 
 
 
 

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 114



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application VAR/2021/0001 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: VAR/2021/0001 

Valid Date: 13/01/2021 

Location: Plot 1, Land Adjacent to Northscape, Eaglesfield 

Applicant: Mr J Burlinson 

Proposal: Variation of condition 2 for a new design and 
condition 3 relating to surface water discharge into 
the sewer on application 2/2018/0164 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve subject to conditions  

1. Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of Development Principle of residential development has 
been accepted. The application varies the 
approved permission. 

Design/Scale Scale, design and massing considered 
acceptable in relation to its setting. 

Drainage Foul to main sewer and surface water to 
rainwater harvesting system is acceptable 
in compliance with policy S29 of ALP1. 

Residential Amenity No significant harm to nearby properties  

Access and parking Access and parking are considered to be 
satisfactory 

 

2. Introduction 
 

2.1. Members will recollect that the application was deferred at the development 
panel on 31 August 2021 to allow further information to be gathered in relation to 
surface water drainage issues. 
 

2.2. The application was called in to be considered before development panel by 
Councillor Marion Fitzgerald.   
 
 

Page 115

Agenda Item 9



2.3. The site has permission (2/2018/0164) for the construction of a single dwelling; 
however, the development has not been built in accordance with the approved 
plans; however, the exterior shell of the dwelling has been completed.  This 
application seeks to regularise the changes to the approved scheme. 
 

2.4. A temporary stop notice has been served for a period of 28 days which required 
the cessation of all activities on site for the period up to 6 August 2021 which has 
being complied with. The notice was served to ensure that the construction of the 
approved development does not result in an unacceptable level of harm and 
achieve a satisfactory level of development with accurate plans which makes 
adequate provision for satisfactory levels and gradients on site and the 
acceptable discharge of surface water drainage. 

 
3. Proposal 

 
3.1. The Plans for consideration are:- 

 
223-04020 Rev 01 Proposed Ground Floor Plan 
223-04021 Rev 01 Proposed First Floor Plan 
Dwg No 18.18 - Location Plan – Amended plan received 7 April 2021 
GRAF Rainwater Harvesting Solutions – The Platin Flat Tank System– Amended 
plan received 20 April 2021 
Email from Richard Lindsay dated 20 April 2021 – Amended plan received 20 
April 2021 
DWG No 21.24.ELE - Elevations – Amended Plan received 30 July 2021 
EAG-001-005 – Site Levels – Amended Plan received 30 July 2021 
Dwg No 21.24.Site – Site Plan – Amended plan received 30 July 2021 
Dwg No. 18.18.RW – Section through Retaining Wall – approved under 
CON1/2020/0027 
21-406r001 - Drainage Report – Amended plan received 7 September 2020 
 

 
4. Site 

 
4.1. The site is located within a prominent position, centrally located within the village 

of Eaglesfield on an elevated site.  The site historically has been used as a small 
paddock area in connection with the existing single storey dwelling, Northscape. 
There are public highways and residential properties on both sides of the site.  
 

4.2. The Grade II listed Croft Foot Farmhouse and adjoining barn are to the southeast 
of the site on the opposite side of the highway.  
 

5. Relevant Planning History 
 

5.1. 2/2018/0164 – Full planning permission was granted for a single dwelling on 21 
June 2018. The permitted dwelling externally had the appearance of a bungalow 
albeit with first floor accommodation served by rooflights within the roof planes. 
There were no dormers or windows set within projecting gables at first floor level. 
 

5.2. CON1/2020/0027 – Discharge of conditions - Approved 

Page 116



 
6. Representations 

 
Dean Parish Council   
 

6.1. Dean PC accepts that the building as it is at present will have less visual impact 
than what was approved in 2018 however comment that the site levels have 
been reduced and retaining walls are required on 3 sides and they seek 
assurances regarding the stability of the walls adjacent to the 'main' road and that 
next to the original bungalow North Scape.  
 

6.2. The change to include extensive stone work is not in keeping with surrounding 
properties and listed buildings.  No objections are made to the change to enclose 
the veranda however new windows have been added to the gable, 
 

6.3. There is no mention of the Rainwater Harvesting system on the Variation 
application nor the correspondence/emails from the agent. Dean PC trust this 
system will be incorporated as per the original application and subsequent 
approval. 
 

6.4. A further objection has been raised by Dean Parish Council recommending that 
the application is refused as the application does not have the necessary 
drainage details and United Utilities have stated that the application is 
unacceptable. 
 

6.5. They indicate that the revised application is no better than previous application 
and also the resubmitted drawings do not reflect what has already been built. 
The builders have clearly flouted permission given at the start. The building has 
been dug into the site too low. They do not have permission for a full wall of 
stone cladding. They do not have permission for two gable end windows. They 
do not have permission for an additional roof light on the south side. 
 

6.6. A topographical survey was to be commissioned regarding the retaining walls. 
We have concerns about the stability of these after one between the site and the 
existing dwelling fell over. One retaining wall is close to the main road through 
Eaglesfield. We understood an earlier variation was going to be referred to the 
Planning Panel and we trust this is still the case. We urge you to make a site 
inspection. 

 
ABC Environmental Health 

 
Cumbria County Highways/Lead Local Flood Authority 
 

6.7. Providing that the access to the proposed dwelling is as previously approved 
under application 2/2018/0164, the Highway Authority have no comments to 
make in regards to this condition. The retaining wall to the rear boundary of the 
property will support the highway verge, this will require the wall to be designed 
and built to Cumbria CC’s Technical Approval Procedure for Developers 
Structures and works should not commence, or allow any person to perform 

Page 117



works, on any part of the highway until receipt of an appropriate permit allowing 
such works. 
 

6.8. The applicant has stated in their application form that the ground on the site is 
not suitable for soakaway drainage that was previously agreed. To provide 
further comment on this condition we would need to see evidence of BRE tests 
carried out on the site as well as their alternative drainage proposal. 
 

6.9. Further to the information submitted by the agent that states that infiltration will 
not a suitable means of surface water drainage for this site, they now need to 
fully consider the hierarchy. There is an ordinary watercourse opposite to the site 
that they could connect to should they receive the correct permissions. If this is 
not achievable, they will then need to investigate whether or not they can connect 
to the highway drainage network. These steps need to be considered fully before 
it would be acceptable to join the combined sewer network. The LLFA are not yet 
in a position where we would recommend that this condition can be discharged. 
 

6.10. The NPPG clearly outlines the hierarchy to be investigated by the developer 
when considering a surface water drainage strategy. We would ask the developer 
to consider the following drainage options in the following order of priority: 
1. into the ground (infiltration); 
2. to a surface water body; 
3. to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; 
4. to a combined sewer 
 
Fire Service 
 

6.11. No objections 
 
United Utilities 
 

6.12. In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a 
separate system with foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water 
draining in the most sustainable way.  
 

6.13. Further to our review of the submitted drainage documents; Drainage Strategy, 
the plans are not acceptable to United Utilities because our record shows that 
there is a ditch opposite to the site.  
 

6.14. Therefore, we have not seen robust site evidence (including a ground condition 
report with soil infiltration testing under BRE365) that the drainage hierarchy has 
been thoroughly investigated and the proposals are not in line with the Non-
Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems.  
 

6.15. United Utilities recommend a condition, “investigation of the hierarchy of drainage 
options in the National Planning Practice Guidance (or any subsequent 
amendment thereof). This investigation shall include evidence of an assessment 
of ground conditions and the potential for infiltration of surface water;  

Page 118



(ii) A restricted rate of discharge of surface water agreed with the local planning 
authority (if it is agreed that infiltration is discounted by the investigations); and  
(iii) A timetable for its implementation.” 
 
United Utilities have confirmed no objection to the recent amended drainage 
report as they consider sufficient evidence has been submitted under the 
sequential test. 
 

The application has been advertised by site notice and neighbour letter.  
 

6.16. There has been 7 letters of objection which relate to the following points:- 
 

 There is no reference to the rainwater harvesting system 

 The ground is not suitably for a soakaway  

 There is water runoff from the site onto the highway 

 There are sewage issues in the village 

 No details of materials of the driveway 

 Where is the driveway going to drain to 

 Connecting to the public sewers is a cost saving measure 

 Water and proximity to the main road has the potential to undermine the 
main road 

 The surface water should drain into the Beck 

 Reference is made to previous sewage pollution incidents in 2001, 2005, 
2013 and 2014 arising following heavy continuous rain. The addition of an 
additional property to the system which is inadequate is unacceptable. 
(United utilities were reported to on all the former incidents). They therefore 
oppose the proposed amendments. 

 
7. Environmental Impact Assessment 

7.1. The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 

7.2. The development does not within Schedule 1 nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA 
development. 

8. Duties 
 

8.1. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires that the Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the listed building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  
 

9. Development Plan Policies 
 
9.1. Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 

 
S1 Presumption in Favour of Development 
S2 Sustainable Development 
S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth 

Page 119



S4 Design Principles 
S5 – Development Principles 
S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market  
S27 Heritage assets 
S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage  
S32 - Safeguarding amenity  
S33 - Landscape  
S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity  
DM14 - Standards of Good Design  

 
9.2. Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) 

 
The site is located within the defined settlment limits as defined by Policy SA2 
The proposal falls below the modified thresholds for enhanced Buildings 
Regulations’ Part M accessibility (policy SA5) and broadband (policy SA33).  

 
10. Other material considerations 
 
10.1. National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 

 
10.2. Allerdale Borough Council Plan 2019-2023: 

 
Strengthening our economy - Supporting the development of new homes where 
they are needed.  

 
11. Policy weighting 

 
11.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, 

if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the 
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy. 

 

12. Assessment: 
 

Principle of development 
 
12.1. The principle of the development has been considered under application 

2/20018/0164 with the permission being extant given development has 
commenced within the appropriate timescales.  As the development is not being 
built in accordance with the approved plan an application to vary the existing 
scheme is considered acceptable to regularise the development as built.  
 
Heritage 
 

12.2. The listing for Croft Foot Farmhouse and adjoining barn are described in the 
listing as follows:- 
 
“Farmhouse and barn. Dated 1705 over entrance, with C19 alterations. Painted 

Page 120



roughcast walls, under graduated greenslate roof with cement rendered chimney 
stacks. 2 storeys, 3 bays with long right barn under common roof. Top-glazed 6-
panel door in painted stone surround. Sash windows with glazing bars, those on 
ground floor in enlarged C19 painted stone surrounds; upper ones in original 
chamfered surrounds. Barn has projecting large double plank doors and right 
casement window in plain reveals. Left extension now Sycamore House, is not of 
interest. 
 
Listing NGR: NY0962828115.” 
 

12.3. When considering the amendments to the current design which has lowered the 
site levels from that approved, the scheme in this context is considered to have a 
lesser impact on the setting of the listed building than the approved scheme 
when considered against Policy S27 and the duty under section 66 of the Listed 
Buildings Act 1990. 
 
Massing, Design and Landscape 
 

12.4. The site is elevated from the dwelling known as Beckside with the finished floor 
level being 2m higher; this is a reduction in levels of approximately 1m from the 
approved scheme. The use of the roof space rather than a full two storey 
dwelling is still retained as this was deemed necessary given this juxtaposition 
and responds to this constraint. The proposal is set marginally further forward 
into the site than the adjacent dwelling and would be higher. The dwelling would 
now have a ridgeline similar to the adjacent dwelling Northscape. 
 

12.5. The footprint of the dwelling would remain similar to that approved without any 
detriment to the surrounding area.  
 

12.6. The site is prominent within the centre of the village and currently open in 
character. This prominence is accentuated by the location flanked by roads and 
the openness is characterised by the lack of landscaping or buildings. The roads 
are sensitive visual receptors.  Officers consider that the amended scheme to be 
an improvement and that the amended design and scale of the development 
would comply with policies S4 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan in terms of 
design, massing and fenestration arrangements and reduces the impact visually 
when approaching the site from the east.   
 

12.7. The introduction of additional stone elevations is not considered to detract from 
the appearance of the property or surrounding area the remaining materials are 
the same as previously approved.  Solar panels have been introduce to the 
scheme without any negative effect visual effect on the dwelling or its 
surroundings. 
 
Drainage 
 

12.8. The foul water would be drained to the main sewer with the applicant initially 
indicating that all surface water would be to the main sewer under this 
application. The original application indicated that any overflow from the system 

Page 121



from the rainwater harvesting tank would enter into a crated system within the 
garden area. 
 

12.9. Further clarification has been sought during the course of the current application 
to demonstrate that the drainage hierarchy has been examined; the applicant has 
now reverted back to the surface water draining to a rainwater harvesting system 
which was considered acceptable under the original submission.  The size of the 
system has been recalculated to a larger tank to ensure there is sufficient 
capacity from any drainage from the hard landscaped areas in addition to the 
dwelling.  
 

12.10. United Utilities had initially indicated that there was still insufficient information 
that the appropriate examination of the hierarchy has been undertaken.  Although 
the percolation tests provided were not considered to be to the appropriate 
BRE365 standards, there is evidence of standing water within trenches on the 
site, officers consider if the appropriate percolation test were undertaken it would 
demonstrate that the ground isn’t suitable.  The watercourse within close 
proximity to the site is located within private gardens and there does not appear 
to be any close connection points accessible on public or highway land within a 
reasonable distance from the development. 

 
12.11. Although this issue is outstanding officers are confident that the amended 

drainage scheme can be achieved and this could be controlled by condition (as 
per the original consent) with the submission of the details given this is for the 
overflow from the rainwater harvest tank and would be likely a low discharge.  
United Utilities also had been satisfied with the development and had previously 
suggested a condition in relation to the examination of the drainage hierarchy.  
Officers had therefore formerly suggested that the full details of the drainage 
hierarchy were conditionally submitted within two months of the approval date. 
However members at the former panel meeting alternatively sought these details 
to be verified prior to determining any decision. 
 

12.12. Drainage update –Further to the former panel meeting the applicant has provided 
a further detailed assessment of the drainage on site and United Utilities and the 
Lead Local Flood Authority have been consulted.  United Utilities have been 
asked to provide any details in relation to know drainage issues in the area and 
in particular at Beckside. 
 

12.13. The submitted report updates the drainage arrangement, contesting that ground 
conditions and percolation tests undertaken indicate poor natural percolation 
which will prevent natural discharge to ground on the site. A SuDs system was 
proposed comprising of a harvesting tank (from the rooves to be suitable for toilet 
flushing), permeable paving and sub-surface storage. Drainage and storage 
modelling was calculated for the site to include a crated system to account for 
storm events and a hydrobrake to limit the flow to no more than current greenfield 
runoff rates, with the proposal indicating that the runoff would be no more than 
2ls.  
 

12.14. United Utilities raise no objections to the amended drainage report i.e. the 
sequential drainage test has been addressed. The views of the LLFA are still 

Page 122



awaited. Clarification is also awaited from United Utilities on the foul drainage 
problems referred to at the last panel meeting.  
 

12.15. Comments have been received that the rainwater harvesting tank has been 
installed incorrectly and water is pooling within the excavated hole.  The tank at 
present has been delivered to the site is a different specification; the applicant 
has been advised that although the tank has approval under the original 
application the previous agent changed the specifications and these have been 
incorporated into the documents considered by United Utilities.  The present 
agent has advised the applicant of this and has indicated that the tank would not 
be installed.  Any installation of the rainwater harvesting tank would need to be 
covered by building regulation approvals.  
 

 
Highway Issues 
 

12.16. The site access point would remain unchanged from the original onto the 
unclassified road which serves a number of residential properties.  The visibility 
splays were previously approved crossing the garden area of the adjacent 
dwelling Northscape; however the application site has been purchased and is no 
longer in the same ownership as Northscape.  Officers consider that there is 
sufficient visibility from the access given the low speeds and number of vehicles 
using this point of the highway.  It is considered that sufficient visibility can be 
achieved to the extremity of the site frontage within the highway verge and can 
be conditioned accordingly.  
 

12.17. The access and parking would allow for turning so cars can enter and leave the 
site in a forward gear and the amended plans show that an acceptable gradient 
can be achieved for the parking and turning area which is in accordance with the 
Cumbria design guide.  As previously approved an Aco drain is to be installed to 
the access point to prevent water discharging onto the highway. 
 

12.18. The highways authority have indicated that they have no highways objections 
subject to there being no alterations to the access point. 
 

12.19. The only amendment to the scheme in terms of the highway arrangement is the 
introduction of a low wall to the site frontage.  This is below 1m and is not 
considered to compromise highway safety significantly or severely as advised by 
the NPPF where maximum speeds achievable are proportionally low. The 
highways authority has not raised any objections to the amended plans. 
 
Ecology 
 

12.20. The development is not considered to raise any new ecological impacts. 
 
Residential Amenity 

 
12.21. The scheme as amended would not have any detrimental impacts on nearby 

residential properties. 
 

Page 123



Other issues 
 

12.22. The parish council indicate that a topographical survey was to be submitted 
relating to the retaining walls.  The topographical survey was limited to the site 
levels as the applicant was asked to demonstrate the gradient of the drive was 
acceptable and the correct levels of the dwelling in relation to the original site 
levels and surrounding land.  The topographical survey did not include the details 
of the retaining walls.  The details of the retaining wall adjacent to Northscape 
were approved as part of the earlier discharge of condition application and the 
applicant has been advised to liaise with the highways authority regarding any 
alterations that could affect the highway.   

 
12.23. Local Financial Considerations 

 
Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will 
have financial implications arising from New Homes Bonus and Council Tax 
Revenue. 

 
13. Conclusions 

13.1. Officers consider that subject to confirmation of all the drainage authorities that 
the drainage amendments are acceptable (enforced by condition) the merits of 
the revised house type is acceptable. 

 

14. RECOMMENDATION 

Grant subject to conditions. 

Page 124



Annex 1 

CONDITIONS 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 

with the following plans: 
223-04020 Rev 01 Proposed Ground Floor Plan 
223-04021 Rev 01 Proposed First Floor Plan 
Dwg No 18.18 - Location Plan – Amended plan received 7 April 2021 
GRAF Rainwater Harvesting Solutions – The Platin Flat Tank System– 
Amended plan received 20 April 2021 
Email from Richard Lindsay dated 20 April 2021 – Amended plan received 20 
April 2021 
DWG No 21.24.ELE - Elevations – Amended Plan received 30 July 2021 
EAG-001-005 – Site Levels – Amended Plan received 30 July 2021 
Dwg No 21.24.Site – Site Plan – Amended plan received 30 July 2021 
Dwg No. 18.18.RW – Section through Retaining Wall – approved under 
CON1/2020/0027 
21-406r001 - Drainage Report – Amended plan received 7 September 2020 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations to 
the scheme are properly considered. 

 
Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions: 

 
2. The development shall not be brought into use until visibility splays providing 

clear visibility to the extremity of the frontage x 2.4 metres measured down the 
centre of the access road and the nearside channel line of the major road have 
been provided at the junction of the access road with the county highway. Any 
existing planting within the visibility splay shall be reduced to a height not 
exceeding 1.0m above the carriageway level of the adjacent highway. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, or object of any 
kind shall be erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants which 
exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be permitted to grow within the 
visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays.  
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 and S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 
1), Adopted July 2014. 

 
3. Prior to the occupation of the dwelling the works to the proposed crossing of 

the highway verge and surfacing and/or footway; surfacing in porous 
bituminous or cement bound materials; access drive gradient and measures 
to prevent surface water discharging onto or off the highway; shall be carried 
out in accordance with approved plans and shall be maintained operational at 
all times thereafter. 
Reason: To ensure a suitable standard of verge crossing and that the verge is 
properly reinstated before the development is brought into use, to ensure that 

Page 125



pedestrians can negotiate road junctions in relative safety, minimise the risk of 
flooding and in the interests of highway safety. 
 

4. The approved scheme shall must be in accordance with the approved 
amended drainage report dated 7th September and with the Non-Statutory 
technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any 
subsequent replacement national standards and unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be completed 
prior to occupation of the dwellinghouse hereby approved and thereafter 
maintained and managed in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution in compliance with policy S29 of the 
Allerdale local plan (Part 1). 

 
Other 

 
5. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems (unless agreed 

under condition 4 of this consent). 
Reason: To ensure a sustainable means of drainage from the site and minimise the 
risk of water pollution to the local water environment, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014. 

 
6. There shall be no vehicular access to or egress from the site other than via the 

approved access, unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental management 

 
7. Access gates, if provided, shall be hung to open inwards only away from the 

highway.  
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

 
8. The dwelling/land use hereby approved shall not be occupied until the 

vehicular access, parking and turning requirements have been constructed in 
accordance with the approved plan and have been brought into use. The 
vehicular access, parking and turning provisions shall be retained and 
capable of use at all times thereafter and shall not be removed or altered 
without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access, parking and turning provision 
when the development is brought into use. 

 
9. All means of enclosure shown on Dwg No 21.24.Site – Site Plan – Amended 

plan received 30 July 2021 shall be constructed and retained and no part 
thereof shall be removed without the prior consent of the Local Planning 
Authority.  
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible with 
the character of the area. 

 
 
 
 

Page 126



Advisory Note  
 
 
The applicant should contact the Cumbria County Council in relation to the retaining 
wall to the rear boundary of the property as, this will require the wall to be designed and 
built to Cumbria CC’s Technical Approval Procedure for Developers Structures. 
Enquiries should be made to Cumbria Highways, Highways Depot, Joseph Noble Road, 
Lillyhall Industrial Estate, Workington, CA14 4JH, Tel: 01946 506550 

Page 127



 
 

Page 128


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Development Panel - FUL/2020/0241 - Beech House, Hayton - Creation of Slurry Lagoon
	6 Development Panel - FUL/2020/0250 - Land East of Main Road, High Harrington - Construction of 123 residential dwellings with associated parking, access and landscaping
	7 Development Panel - FUL/2021/0161 - Siddick Ponds Nature Reserve, Workington - Wetland enhancements, existing brackish pond and improvement of path surface and installation of a length of boundary fence
	8 Development Panel - FUL/2021/0181 - Part Land to Rear of 51 High Street, Workington - Change of use of part domestic garden to additional storage area for existing roofing company including the retrospective engineering works to lower the site by up to 600mm
	9 Development Panel - VAR/2021/0001 - Plot 1, Land Adjacent to Northscape, Eaglesfield - Variation of condition 2 for a new design and condition 3 relating to surface water discharge into the sewer on application 2/2018/0164

